# Indiana University of Pennsylvania Knowledge Repository @ IUP

Theses and Dissertations (All)

12-21-2009

# The Effects of Data-Driven Instruction and Literacy Coaching on Kindergartners' Literacy Development

Karen K. Tyler Indiana University of Pennsylvania

Follow this and additional works at: http://knowledge.library.iup.edu/etd

## **Recommended** Citation

Tyler, Karen K., "The Effects of Data-Driven Instruction and Literacy Coaching on Kindergartners' Literacy Development" (2009). *Theses and Dissertations (All)*. 354. http://knowledge.library.iup.edu/etd/354

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Knowledge Repository @ IUP. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations (All) by an authorized administrator of Knowledge Repository @ IUP. For more information, please contact cclouser@iup.edu, sara.parme@iup.edu.

# THE EFFECTS OF DATA-DRIVEN INSTRUCTION AND LITERACY COACHING ON KINDERGARTNERS' LITERACY DEVELOPMENT

A Dissertation

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies and Research

In Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Education

Karen K. Tyler

Indiana University of Pennsylvania

December 2009

© 2009 by Karen Kay Tyler All Rights Reserved Indiana University of Pennsylvania The School of Graduate Studies and Research Department of Professional Studies in Education

We hereby approve the dissertation of

Karen K. Tyler

Candidate for the degree of Doctor of Education

Dr. F. Corbett, Jr., Chair Professor of Professional Studies in Education

Dr. J. Hooks Librarian

Dr. D. Laverick Assistant Professor of Professional Studies in Education

Dr. J. Criswell Professor of Elementary Education Edinboro University of Pennsylvania

# ACCEPTED

Dr. Michele S. Schwietz Assistant Dean for Research The School of Graduate Studies and Research Title: The Effects of Data-Driven Instruction and Literacy Coaching on Kindergartners' Literacy Development

Author: Karen K. Tyler

Dissertation Chair: Dr. F. Corbett, Jr.

Dissertation Committee Members: Dr. J. Criswell Dr. J. Hooks Dr. D. Laverick

Since the passage of the No Child Left Behind Act (2001), districts, schools, and educators are pressured to collect, analyze and report data annually regarding student performance. If high-stakes assessments are to be useful tools for educators in their classrooms, the data need to be applicable in conveying meaningful instructional information that supports not only school-wide but also individual student improvement. The identification of student difficulty depends on valid assessment measures and effective educators who are competent of recognizing the value of using data to drive instructional decisions. In-class professional development opportunities made available through literacy coaches can provide teachers with assistance in understanding the significance of using assessments to support literacy instruction.

This study emphasizes the role of schools in utilizing data and ongoing classroom-based professional development to drive instruction that enables kindergartners to make progress in literacy. The objective of this study is to determine the measurable effects in literacy as a result of systematic and explicit data-driven instruction derived from classroom-based assessments and collaborative teaching among kindergarten learners. To assess the levels of student achievement, the study utilizes a mixed-method design to clarify and illustrate both quantitative and qualitative information. Quantitative evidence of student achievement is demonstrated through

iv

phonemic awareness assessment data presented through ANOVA and SPSS comparisons. Additionally, qualitative research investigates classroom teachers' perceptions regarding coaching and collaboration. Interview results are presented to identify specific outcomes of the year-long study. The development of the teachers' professional experience and collaboration, as well as their understanding of assessment and data-based instructional decisions are described.

Findings for this study indicate that student achievement scores were improved as a result of data-driven instructional decisions derived from a combination of formative and summative assessments. Additional effects in early literacy progress were demonstrated through classroom teachers working collaboratively with a literacy coach to assist in the process of professional learning, according to the results of this study. Recommendations focus on the importance of promoting professional development opportunities for classroom teachers. Assessments to support instructional decisions and effective early literacy instruction necessitate continuous learning experiences on behalf of both educators and students alike.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Martin Luther King, Jr. once said, "The ultimate measure of a man is not where he stands in moments of comfort, but where he stands at times of challenge and controversy." This dissertation, much like the work of educators and students in the classroom every day, was ultimately quite a challenge. I am grateful for the support of my committee members including: Dr. J. Criswell, Dr. J. Hooks, and Dr. D. Laverick. My committee chair, Dr. F. Corbett, has been a valuable voice and leader in this journey. My committee demonstrated ongoing patience and expertise in assisting me through this process and I appreciate their wisdom. Additional gratitude needs extended to the numbers of outside readers that provided input throughout these months of work. My friends, especially Paul, Tracie, Lisa, and Robin, along with my colleagues at MTSD have been sources of guidance and understanding. I am thankful for their friendship.

This dissertation was completed with the support of my committee and friends, but could have never come to fruition without the inspiration of my family. My children, Nicholas and Lydia, have served as constant reminders of hope and faith. I am truly inspired by their love, energy, and trust in moving confidently in the direction of dreams. My parents have devoted their lives promoting education and commitment, regardless of personal sacrifice. This work recognizes their efforts. Pursuing this degree with enthusiasm was assisted through their love and encouragement. My brothers and sister are successful as a result of their dedication. I am grateful for my family's love and confidence in me throughout this endeavor. "Yes Lydia, my story is done!"

vi

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter One THE PROBLEM	1
Significance of the Study	5
Statement of the Problem	6
Research Questions	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations to the Study	8
Summary	9
Chapter Two REVIEW OF THE RELATED LITERATURE	11
Introduction	11
Forms of Assessment	12
Summative Assessments	12
Formative Assessments	16
Classroom Assessments of and for Learning	20
Literacy in Kindergarten	23
Phonemic Awareness	24
Phonemic Awareness in the Classroom	
Differentiated Instruction	32
Professional Development for Educators	34
Literacy Coaching	
Collaborative Teaching	42
Summary	44
Charter Three DDOCEDUDES	16
Chapter Infee PROCEDURES	40
Setting of the Study	
Study Sample	
Data Collection	
Instruments Used	
Methods	
Summary	
Chapter Four DATA ANALYSIS	55
Results	
Data Analysis	58
$\Omega$ uantitative Analysis of the Findings	
A chievement as a Result of Data-Driven Instructional Decisions	
in Literacy	61
Student Learning as a Result of Daily Collaboration Connecting	01
a Literacy Coach and Classroom Teachers	77
Overall Qualitative Conclusions	
Qualitative Analysis of the Interview	
L iteracy Coaches and Kindergarten Teachers Working with	
Assessment Data to Inform Instructional Decisions	87
Professional Experience and Education	83

Professional Growth	83
Collaboration with a Literacy Coach	86
Data-Driven Instructional Decisions	87
Professional Growth with a Literacy Coach	89
Teacher Involvement with Data-Driven Instructional Decisions	90
Collaborative Efforts	91
Professional Development as a Result of a Literacy Coach	92
Data-Driven Instruction as a Result of a Literacy Coach	93
Professional Growth with the Removal of Collaboration	95
Overall Oualitative Conclusions	96
Summary	97
Chapter Five CONCLUSIONS, IMPLICATIONS, RECOMMENDATIONS	AND
SUMMARY	99
Overview of Study	99
Conclusions Based on Key Findings	100
Literacy Achievement as a Result of Data-Driven Instructional Decis	ions in
Literacy	100
Measurable Effects on Student Learning as a Result of Collaboration	
with a Literacy Coach	104
Methods Used to Inform Instructional Decisions	107
Professional Learning Experiences	108
Collaboration	111
Assessments and Data-Driven Instructional Decisions	112
Internal and External Threats	114
Implications and Recommendations	114
Implications of the Study	115
Recommendations for Future Study	117
Summary	
REFERENCES	122
APPENDICES	132
Appendix A- Dynamic Indicators of Basic Early Literacy Skills	132
Appendix B- Description of Initial Sound Fluency	133
Appendix C- Description of Phoneme Segmentation Fluency	135
Appendix D- Description of Nonsense Word Fluency	140
Appendix E- Description of Letter Naming Fluency.	146
Appendix F- Interview Ouestions	149
Appendix G- Informed Consent Form	150
Appendix H- Permission	151
Appendix I- Interview with Teacher 1	152
Appendix J- Interview with Teacher 2	156
Appendix K- Interview with Teacher 3	161
Appendix L- Interview with Teacher 4	166
**	

	Table	Page
1	Student Population Data	47
2	Teacher Demographic Data	48
3	Reliability and Validity of DIBELS Assessment	50
4	Quantitative Assessment Timeline	57
5	Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Fall)	61
6	Summary of ANOVA Results on Initial Sound Fluency (Fall)	62
7	Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Fall)	63
8	Summary of the ANOVA Results on Letter Naming Fluency (Fall)	63
9	Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Winter)	66
10	Summary of ANOVA Results on Initial Sound Fluency (Winter)	66
11	Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Winter)	67
12	Summary of ANOVA Results on Letter Naming Fluency (Winter)	68
13	Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Winter)	69
14	Summary of ANOVA Results on Phoneme Segmentation Fluency (Winter)	69

# LIST OF TABLES

15	Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Winter)	70
16	Summary of ANOVA Results on Nonsense Word Fluency (Winter)	70
17	Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Spring)	74
18	Summary of ANOVA Results on Letter Naming Fluency (Spring)	74
19	Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Spring)	75
20	Summary of ANOVA Results on Phoneme Segmentation Fluency (Spring)	75
21	Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Spring)	76
22	Summary of ANOVA Results on Nonsense Word Fluency (Spring)	76
23	First Grade DIBELS Benchmark Assessments	79

### CHAPTER ONE

# THE PROBLEM

Since the passage of the No Child Left Behind Act (2001), states, districts, schools and educators are pressured to collect, analyze and report data annually regarding student performance. A result of this federal legislation has been a surge in student testing (Chappius & Chappius, 2008). Although assessment data can be valuable in demonstrating student achievement, "there is a basic flaw in our current sanctions-based accountability system: its reliance on an end-of-the-year test" (Barton, 2008, p. 70). If high-stakes, summative assessments are to be useful tools for educators in their classrooms, the measurements should go beyond evaluating standards-based requirements and rendering statistical comparisons. The data need to be applicable in conveying meaningful instructional information that supports not only school-wide but also individual student improvement.

High stakes, standardized assessments have been utilized to demonstrate students' levels of proficiency towards achievement of a variety of state standards, serving the purpose of summative evaluation or accountability (Guskey, 2005). The assessments of learning can motivate school reform initiatives toward improving student performance. Results can also be used for important information such as grading, evaluating program effectiveness, or determining if a school or district has made Adequate Yearly Progress (Chappius & Chappius, 2008).

Despite the value that summative assessments may offer in determining student achievement for school accountability purposes, they are not designed to provide data to improve educators' instructional approaches and data-based decisions (Guskey, 2003).

Summative assessments of learning are utilized to measure the results of instruction after a unit or concept has been delivered. Leahy, Lyon, Thompson, and Wiliam (2005) relate that such information attained from assessments of learning is difficult to use, especially in efforts to improve student achievement. Teachers with the desire to utilize the information for instructional purposes often receive the assessment data or recommendations too late to alter their instruction modes (Leahy et al., 2005).

Assessments for learning can improve instruction by demonstrating to teachers each student's developing abilities relative to standards and essential skills, as well as fundamental concepts (Earl, 2003). According to McNamee & Chen (2005), formative assessments are ongoing and have the "ability to track a child's continuing development" (p. 73). Effective and efficient informal assessment techniques are also necessary to inform instruction and assist teachers in monitoring the growth of each student (Dole, 2004). Overall, assessments for learning, if chosen or created with applicable connections to the design of individualized classroom instruction, can enable educators to "address standards accurately, identify instructional weaknesses, and diagnose individual student learning problems" (Guskey, 2005, p. 32). Consequently, formative assessments are able to bring value to educators' data-based instructional decisions.

With the understanding that teachers and schools alike are confronted with federal mandates toward gathering evidence of student achievement, effectively implementing both summative and formative assessments and designing instruction to match individual student data are a challenge for elementary school educators today. "The standards and accountability movement has placed extraordinary demands on schools ... to improve educational outcomes" (Johnson & Donaldson, 2007, p. 8). Teachers of reading, in

particular, are challenged to address the marginal gains and poor rates of reading performance that have been noted on high-stakes assessments of literacy (National Center for Education Statistics [NCES], 2003).

Assessments of literacy have revealed the educational challenge for our nation in the fact that over 62% of fourth graders are reading below proficient levels and 38% of the challenged students are reading below basic levels of performance (National Assessment of Educational Progress, 2005). According to the NCES (2003), more than two-thirds of U.S. adolescents are struggling to read proficiently. These statistics are necessary for examination before making instructional and assessment decisions to improve student achievement in literacy.

Empirical evidence suggests that third grade, and possibly second, is too late for classroom instruction to have a significant impact on reading acquisition (Chard & Kame'enui, 2000). Both early detection and effective instruction with those children struggling to read are critical factors in reading acquisition. A study by Felton and Wood (1992) indicated that children who failed to demonstrate strong reading skills in first grade had a 90% chance of remaining poor readers. These findings imply that children's reading trajectories are established early and remain stable across grade levels and time.

When educators discuss the effective strategies needed to teach children to read successfully, phonemic awareness receives much attention. In 2000, the National Research Council (NRC) recognized that numbers of correlation studies have identified a strong association between a child's ability to read and phonemic awareness. The NRC supported the performance of kindergartners on tests of phonemic awareness as a strong predictor of their future reading achievement stating that if the teaching of phonemic

awareness is effectively accomplished in the primary grades, reading performance scores have the possibility to reflect progress.

In addition to early development of phonemic awareness, educators seeking to improve student outcomes in reading need to consider the relevant information that can be retrieved from both summative and formative assessments. Used effectively, measurements of and for learning can assist teachers with the instructional decisions that may lead to an improvement in reading. "Informative assessment is not an end in itself, but the beginning of better instruction" (Tomlinson, 2008, p. 13).

Literacy coaches can play a pivotal role in assisting classroom teachers in becoming literate with assessments. The International Reading Association defines a literacy coach as a "reading specialist who focuses on providing professional development for teachers by providing them with the additional support needed to implement various instructional programs and practices" (IRA, 2007, Category III, bullet 2). Coaches working with teachers to select and integrate effective, meaningful assessments can provide assistance with data management and instructional techniques. Equipped with an understanding of phonemic awareness and assessments of and for learning, literacy coaches and teachers working together toward instructional goal setting are able to demonstrate the potential in a collaborative professional learning environment (Joyce & Showers, 1980; Joyce & Showers, 1982). "When teachers design assessments, give each other feedback through peer reviews, evaluate student work, and plan together for improvement, they are engaged in highly effective professional development" (McTighe & Emberger, 2006, p. 38). Educators committed to collaborative initiatives,

best reading practices, as well as data-based instructional decisions are better prepared to meet the individual needs of their students.

# Significance of the Study

In an era of educational accountability with national efforts focused toward improving reading proficiency levels, this study emphasizes the role of schools in utilizing data and ongoing classroom-based professional development to drive instruction that enables kindergartners to make progress in literacy. Determining how teachers can best gather, examine, and utilize data in guiding their instruction is a problem worthy of exploration and support in an effort to individualize and differentiate learning. It is a relevant undertaking to examine the effects of data-based decisions in curriculum, assessment and instruction in the area of early literacy. Additionally, it is important to evaluate the direct impact of in-class professional development on students' reading achievement.

Given that "the gap between theory and practice remains wide in terms of how reading methodologies are taught and applied in the field," further studies in determining the benefits of ongoing, in-class professional development could positively impact student learning (Doubek & Cooper, 2007, p. 413). Dole (2004) points out, "It is apparent that theory or demonstrations do not provide teachers with sufficient support and guidance to apply new instructional strategies and programs in their own classrooms" (p. 465). Research by Smylie (1995) supports Dole's statement, relaying the need for consistent practice in teachers' work settings in order to transfer professional learning into practice. In-class literacy coaching offers opportunities for learning directly within the teachers' classrooms. Learning experiences that support assessment and phonemic

awareness instruction in the kindergarten classroom could benefit both teachers and students.

# Statement of the Problem

The problem of this study is to examine the effects of data-driven instruction and literacy coaching among kindergartners' literacy development. A study to explore the correlation between coaching and student achievement could assist in establishing the validity and benefits of the collaborative learning experience. According to Dole (2004), "Little research exists on the use of reading coaches in schools. This will change more as educators and researchers begin to understand their potentially critical role in the professional development of teachers" (p. 468). Furthermore, examining the use of data to drive instruction with the development of phonemic awareness among early readers could demonstrate achievement data supportive of student progress.

While summative assessments of learning demonstrate the value in the potential to impact school reform initiatives, formative assessments for learning, as described by Stiggins (2002), can illustrate the improvements that can be made toward the advancement of individual student achievement. Teachers and coaches working together with effective, meaningful classroom assessments that can be directly related to instructional goals could benefit student learning. Educators and coaches, working together to understand that ongoing classroom measurements and results inform instructional practices, are empowered to recognize the relevance of data-driven decisions for reading instruction.

McTighe and Emberger (2006) stated, "teacher collaboration is a powerful form of professional learning" (p. 38). Classroom teachers receiving assistance from literacy

coaches are provided with learning experiences, support, and guidance in using student data to drive reading instruction. Many teachers crave the professional conversations and collaborations made available by literacy coaches (Allen, 2006). Based on this premise, the study intends to determine the extent to which collaborative teaching efforts and formative assessment measures affect the literacy development of kindergartners.

# **Research Questions**

The objective of this study is to examine how data-driven instruction and literacy coaching influence the literacy development of kindergartners. The research questions are as follows:

(1) To what extent do kindergartners achieve success as a result of data-driven instructional decisions in literacy?

(2) To what extent are the measurable effects on student learning a result of the daily collaboration of literacy coach and classroom teacher?

(3) How do literacy coaches and kindergarten teachers use assessment data to inform instructional decisions?

#### Assumptions

This study will assume that two groups of kindergarten students can improve their academic achievement over the course of a school year. Based on the understanding that a literacy gain is expected among both groups of kindergartners, the study will attempt to demonstrate higher achievement levels as a result of the benefits of data-driven instruction within the experimental group. If the experimental group receives instruction catered to their individual needs within a collaborative teaching environment as identified through the ongoing assessments, then higher academic progress in the area of early

literacy may result when compared with the control group. This assumption is derived from the premise that designing differentiated instruction as a result of information retrieved through frequent and varied data collection may demonstrate greater academic gains throughout a school year.

Coupled with the daily support from a literacy coach to assist with differentiated instruction, the data-driven effects and comparisons may be noteworthy. This study will attempt to recognize the impact of a literacy coach in accelerating not only student achievement, but also the professional growth that may ensue among the group of teachers participating in the study.

Additionally, it is assumed that during the second year of study, with the removal of the two variables which contributed to the experimental groups' previous progress, a decline in student achievement differences may occur. Removing the specialized treatment consisting of data-driven, differentiated, and collaborative instruction, the scores of the experimental group may no longer demonstrate the effects identified the previous year. A possible decline in student achievement during the second year of the study could validate the effects of data-driven instruction and literacy coaching as reliable factors in acceleration of student achievement.

#### Limitations to the Study

Both the experimental and control group of kindergarten learners will incur a nine-month period of growth and development during each year of the study. In light of individual developmental variations, limitations to the study's statistical significance may be somewhat attributable to the developmental, social, emotional, and intellectual growth of the learners throughout each academic year. As a direct result, a number of the

students may reflect progress related in their assessment scores, not attributable to the curriculum, instruction, and assessment interventions over the two years of study.

The study is limited to one school district in a suburban area of Pennsylvania. The student population will consist of similar demographic, socio-economic, and cultural comparisons. The group of teachers participating in the experimental group will number a small set of five.

#### Summary

Research suggests that reading failure can be prevented if identified and treated early (National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, 2000; National Research Council, 2001). Identification of student difficulty depends on valid and reliable assessment measures and effective educators who are competent of recognizing the value of using data to drive instructional decisions. Summative assessments may provide worthwhile information for schools and districts with regard to program, teacher, and course effectiveness. However, the additional information provided by formative assessments may offer ongoing data and inform instructional decisions that lead to the improvement of individual student achievement. Teachers, working in tandem with coaches, are provided with assistance in understanding the value of using assessments to support literacy instruction.

Chapter Two will examine the role of assessments in the classroom, collaborative learning environments, and the development of literacy among kindergarten students. The Literature Review will highlight the use of assessments, data, differentiated instruction and literacy coaching. With contemporary national reform initiatives focused on reading

instruction, Chapter Two will serve to support educators intending to improve literacy development among kindergarten students.

### CHAPTER TWO

## **REVIEW OF THE RELATED LITERATURE**

The Review of the Literature focuses on five areas related to the development of this research study to examine the effects of data-driven instruction and literacy coaching among kindergartners' literacy development. The first section investigates the role of assessments in the classroom. The second section examines the development of emergent literacy among kindergarten students with a subsection relating the relevance of phonemic awareness instruction. The third section identifies the purpose for utilizing assessment data in determining instructional decisions in phonemic awareness, including a subsection illustrating the benefits of differentiated instruction. The fourth section explores the benefits of professional development with a subsection that defines the literacy coaching model. The fifth section explains the practice of collaborative teaching. The Review of the Literature concludes with a summary referencing the contributing factors that can be exercised to elevate literacy achievement among kindergartners.

# Introduction

Since the arrival of No Child Left Behind (NCLB, 2001) legislation, educators and administrators have increasingly agreed that data-driven decision-making has become a focal point of educational practice and policy. Statewide standardized tests supply data derived from systems, districts, schools, or groups to be examined and reported for trends or patterns. The student achievement outcomes acquired from highstakes summative assessment results determine a school or district's Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP). According to NCLB (2001), AYP is the amount of progress a school system gains toward the goal of 100% of students reaching state academic standards in

reading. Under the provisions of NCLB, favorable statewide summative assessment results may support federal funding and recognition. The measures do little to promote the classroom-level instructional decisions of educators. While summative assessments may offer school-wide or system information relevant toward funding or sanctions, they reveal limited information to benefit individual students. If used in conjunction with formative assessments, however, the summative measurements can support the learning process (Stiggins, Arter, Chappius, & Chappius, 2006).

# Forms of Assessment

# Summative Assessments

Large-scale or summative assessments of learning can be effective tools in school-wide decisions. Summative assessments are conducted periodically to determine what a student understands or does not yet comprehend. Summative assessments are typically utilized in the classroom for grading purposes but can also assist in determining student learning relative to the content standards. Measuring the results of instruction after a unit or concept has been delivered can demonstrate the level of student proficiency toward varying state standards, serving the purpose of summative evaluation or accountability (Guskey, 2005). Schools and districts have utilized large-scale or highstakes summative assessments in their efforts toward reform.

Educators generally agree that state tests can be powerful motivators resulting in communicating objectives and aligning curriculum and instruction (Herman & Baker, 2005). In 2001, The Commission on Instructionally Supportive Assessment agreed that effective statewide achievement tests could be beneficial. The Commission recommended that educators be afforded with information useful in improving the quality of instruction.

Multiple assessments and reports that demonstrate learning can "provide states with information to hold educators, schools, and school districts accountable for student performance" (p. 2). The Commission, consisting of renowned members Eva Baker, David Berliner, W. James Popham, Rachel F. Quenemoen, Flora V. Rodriguez-Brown, Paul D. Sandifer, Stephen G. Sireci, and Martha L. Thurlow compiled a list of recommendations entitled, "Building Tests To Support Instruction and Accountability: A Guide for Policymakers" (2001). The Commission's report suggested nine requirements for responsible statewide achievement tests able to link academic achievements with data-driven instruction. The requirements included the following:

1. A state's content standards must be prioritized to support effective instruction and assessment.

2. A state's high-priority content standards must be clearly and thoroughly described so that the knowledge and skills students need to demonstrate competence are evident.

3. The results of a state's assessment of high-priority content standards should be reported standard-by-standard for each student, school, and district.

4. The state must provide educators with optional classroom assessment procedures that can measure students' progress in attaining content standards not assessed by state tests.

5. A state must monitor the breadth of the curriculum to ensure that instructional attention is given to all content standards and subject areas, including those that are not assessed by state tests. 6. A state must ensure that all students have the opportunity to demonstrate their achievement of state standards; consequently, it must provide well-designed assessments appropriate for a broad range of students, with accommodations and alternate methods of assessment available for students who need them.

7. A state must generally allow test developers a minimum of three years to produce statewide tests that satisfy Standards for Educational and Psychological Testing and similar test-quality guidelines.

8. A state must ensure that educators receive professional development focused on how to optimize children's learning based on the results of instructionally supportive assessments.

9. A state should secure evidence that supports the ongoing improvement of its state assessments to ensure those assessments are (a) [*sic*] appropriate for the accountability purposes for which they are used, (b) appropriate for determining whether students have attained state standards, (c) appropriate for enhancing instruction, and (d) not the cause of negative consequences. (p. 2-3)

The Commission believed the provisions would assure all students the opportunities and accommodations to demonstrate achievement. Overall, the set of nine requirements can be acknowledged as relevant in recognizing the purposes needed to satisfy the public demands for accountability while servicing the needs of learners through data-based instruction.

Herman and Baker (2005) relate the value of summative assessments in suggesting that, "state tests can be powerful motivators, communicating expectations and focusing curriculum and instruction" (p. 48). Supporting learning with summative

assessments can be relevant in defining the conclusion to the course of study or grade. Assessments of learning can also contribute to the rank of a student based on the outcome of their success in the desired goal.

Lashway (2003) believes that to constructively use data from statewide assessments is, "to challenge institutions to not only satisfy legal requirements but also to focus action to improve student learning" (p. 3). The Education Commission of the States (2002) study of schools utilizing effective data-based practices made effective connections between statewide assessments and student learning. According to the study, the use of multiple assessments benefitted different groups of learners and became central to the success of each school. The Education Commission of the States study emphasized that flourishing schools used data not only for instructional decisions in everyday practices but also for tracking school and individual progress and guiding professional development offerings.

Using summative data to measure learning that has already occurred is a challenge for educators today. Schools and educators are confronted with public demands for accountability in quantitative evidence of a school's effectiveness (Holcomb, 1999). Holcomb defines public education as a "service industry that must be user friendly or lose its market share to vouchers, private schools, and for-profit enterprises" (p. 11). These factors necessitate that schools and districts become accountable for the acquisition of learning with measurements capable of demonstrating the ongoing performance and progress of all students.

The process and implications of testing and data collection can be time consuming and complicated, but educators are aware of the significance of quality assessments and

data to strengthen public education's efforts in meeting the individual needs of students (Gandal & McGiffert, 2003). Peterson and Monty (1999) acknowledge the following:

The challenge is to match assessment that is integrated into classroom instruction and is focused primarily on helping individual children with assessment that provides school-and district-wide information being demanded by local and state officials or various community forces. (p. 2)

If high-stakes assessments are to be useful tools for educators within their classrooms, they need to go beyond measuring standards-based requirements and statistical comparisons. The data need to be applicable in conveying meaningful instructional information that supports not only school-wide but individual improvements.

Stiggins (2004) suggests reevaluating the reliance on high-pressure assessment "as our primary tactic for attaining excellence in education" (p. 199). Concentrating school improvement efforts and instructional practices for individual students on standards-based and high-stakes assessments simply cannot provide enough evidence of individual progress and development. Collecting and analyzing multiple sources of data during the instructional process, once the goals have been developed, allow educators to make decisions based on valuable information. Stiggins proposes instructional adjustments and appropriate accommodations for students through data derived from multiple assessment methods over time.

#### Formative Assessments

Educators aware of the relevance in summative assessments should also recognize the motivation and focus that can be encouraged through formative assessment measures

and feedback (Tomlinson & McTighe, 2006). Formative assessment is an instructional practice which provides information needed to make adjustments in teaching and learning. Hill (2001) relates, "The heart of assessment should be the information you collect on an ongoing basis in your classroom" (p. 2). Teachers utilizing formative assessment can determine any additional practice necessary with a skill or concept and can also provide the feedback needed to encourage student achievement.

Formative assessments can be utilized to provide the data classroom teachers need to guide their instructional decisions. Assessments for learning improve instruction by demonstrating to teachers the development of each student's skills and strategies. The assessments are ongoing and can provide information regarding a child's progress and educational needs. Formative assessments, if chosen or created with applicable connections to the design of individualized classroom instruction, can be valuable tools that enable educators to, "address standards accurately and identify instructional weaknesses and diagnose individual student learning problems" (Guskey, 2005, p. 32).

Stiggins (2003) believes educators utilizing ongoing assessments for learning encourage students to become involved in their own learning possibly contributing to a boost in their confidence. With student-involved assessment, learners become motivated to learn in a culture of successful experiences rather than disappointment. Stiggins states, "through the use of student-involved classroom assessment, student-involved record keeping, and student-involved communication, we can let students feel in control of their own academic destiny" (p. 205). Assessments for learning that occur at the time of teaching, during, and immediately following instruction, provide rapid feedback for both the teacher and student.

Chappius and Stiggins (2002) suggest educators use assessment formatively when they pretest, analyze, revise, reflect, and conference. These instructional strategies encourage teachers and students to manage and be responsible for their own understandings. When students become empowered with meaningful data and feedback, they often begin to set goals for themselves and discover how they learn best (Chappius & Stiggins, 2002). Receiving explicit targets for learning through assessment results enables students to take personal responsibility in educational accomplishments.

Stagor (2000) defines Action Research as a partnership between students and teachers in working together toward the growth of student progress through assessment data. In a successful Action Research process, educators and students are participants in examining educational practices and data in an effort to inform instructional decisions. It is designed to be a reflective process in search of solutions to improve instruction and student achievement. Stagor recommends extending Action Research to include and engage students in the decision-making process. Students aware of their own educational plan and progress can assist in selecting an instructional focus, clarifying theories, identifying research questions, collecting and analyzing data, reporting results, and taking informed actions. Action Research has the possibility to build both reflective students and educators, capable of making decisions for necessary instruction and assessment.

Effective classroom assessment strategies, including Action Research, pretests, ongoing performance tasks, and portfolios, offer students the opportunity to recognize their progress through teacher feedback. Teaching students to focus on quality and revisions, to set goals and self-assess, and to reflect with clear targets for proficiency, authorizes students to make a contribution in their personal educational decision-making

(Chappius, 2005). When educators and students begin to reason with and take an active responsibility in learning choices and strategies, as a result of their assessment results, education can begin to improve and reform. McTighe and O'Connor (2005) identified seven specific assessment and grading practices to enhance teaching and learning. They include the following:

Practice 1: Use summative assessments to frame

meaningful performance goals.

Practice 2: Show criteria and models in advance.

Practice 3: Assess before teaching.

Practice 4: Offer appropriate choices.

Practice 5: Provide feedback early and often.

Practice 6: Encourage self-assessment and goal setting.

Practice 7: Allow new evidence of achievement to replace old

evidence. (p. 12–17)

Developing a meaningful assessment process that reflects the cumulative objectives of individual, classroom, school, and district-wide improvements in learning and responsibility can be accomplished through the effective use of assessments. McTighe and Ronald (2003) characterize schools and districts today with two distinguishing kinds of improvement initiatives. "One centers on the classroom emphasizing effective instructional practices in teaching to the state standards. The other focus is systemic - creating results-oriented schools that use analysis of achievement data to develop improvement plans" (p. 52). Schools able to demonstrate success with the integration of the two initiatives first identify the desired results and then develop meaningful assessments and learning plans accordingly (McTighe & Ronald, 2003).

Popham (2003) explains, instructionally advantageous data can only come from instructionally useful assessments. Popham describes the "five attributes of instructionally useful tests applicable to formative as well as large-scale assessments: significance, teachability, describability, reportability, and nonintrusiveness" (pp. 49-50). If assessments meet all of the points provided, teachers are provided useful and quality data that will guide proper instructional decisions for the students within their classrooms.

## Classroom Assessments of and for Learning

Test-based accountability has become a national issue for states, districts, schools, educators, and students in recent years. The goals established under NCLB may not be realistic for all schools but with significant changes made in our classrooms, based on both formative and summative assessments, effective reform initiatives will yield results (Linn, 2005). Reform research compiled by Bernhardt (2004) advocates that the use of data can help schools gather, analyze and use information to make better decisions for their schools, community and student body. Educators able to understand the primary needs of students are more successful in planning and implementing positive change. A study by Black and Wiliam (1998) confirmed teachers who conducted assessments for learning, achieved in six or seven months, what would have taken a year in a traditional classroom setting.

While many teachers recognize the power in utilizing assessments for learning, they are challenged in finding the time and developing their understandings in order to

effectively implement them in their daily practice. Districts are recognizing the need to assist educators in building content knowledge in the area of assessment and instruction. Many stakeholders and administrators have become committed to providing embedded professional learning opportunities for their educators (Moran, 2006). Assessment literate teachers of reading, interested in learning about individual students, are gathering data through a combination of assessments and matching their instruction accordingly.

According to the International Reading Association (2004), teacher competence standards expect teachers of reading to be knowledgeable in assessment. To be successful in the area of literacy, educators need specialized training, ongoing support and an awareness of reading development. They also need an understanding of the link between assessment and reading instruction (Lyons & Pinnell, 2001). Being assessment-literate requires teachers to be capable of examining student performance information and developing change in an effort to increase student performance (Hargreaves & Fullan, 1998). In the subject area of reading, teachers need to create opportunities to measure the progress of students toward meeting standards and learning targets to support their instructional reading levels. Teachers literate in assessment can examine what students are able to demonstrate as readers and scaffold the learning to provide assistance as they move forward in the reading process. If assessment is the key to building knowledge about students as readers, collecting a variety of evidence can develop insights about each child's reading development and understandings.

Examining multiple sources of data and synthesizing a combination of results derived from both formative and summative assessments can be an effective practice in reporting achievement as well as making improvements in schools, classrooms, and

among individual students. Teachers using classroom-based performance tasks and projects in conjunction with summative measurements, increase their confidence in making instructional decisions in literacy, according to Hill (2001). "Used with skill, assessments can motivate the unmotivated, restore the desire to learn, and encourage students to keep learning and it can actually create - not simply measure - increased achievement" (Stiggins, Arter, Chappius, & Chappius, 2006, p. 3).

Kindergartners afforded with learning experiences that have been established through data derived from both formative and summative assessments are given an opportunity to make improvements in literacy. "The best practices in literacy assessment ... are those that use a variety of appropriate indices to address the needs of different audiences" (Morrow, Gambrell, & Pressley, 2003, p. 208). Educators skilled in implementing appropriate ongoing assessments can offer kindergarten students informed, individualized, and differentiated instructional decisions.

The literacy development of kindergartners can be advanced with a combination of both summative and formative assessments. Data derived from a number of assessments provide educators and students with information regarding individual, school, or district achievement. Assessment data can also be beneficial in determining gaps in student achievement.

Summative assessments in reading offer school and district-wide accountability through ongoing data comparable with national and state norms. Analyzing national or statewide student achievement measurements in phonics, phonemic awareness, vocabulary, fluency, or comprehension can provide schools and teachers with valuable information regarding student learning in relationship to content standards. Learning

what students know at a particular point in time can be useful for grading, culminating units of study, or evaluating a program or school. Summative assessments may guide student placement or measure school or statewide goals.

Formative assessments provide ongoing information for instructional, programming, and curricular decisions. Adjustments can occur throughout the learning process as assessment data is gathered through a variety of methods. Incorporated into daily classroom practices, kindergarten teachers can utilize formative assessments to measure early reading development, differentiate learning experiences, and assist in the progression of literacy skills.

#### Literacy in Kindergarten

Kindergarten students respond to the sounds of language in a very natural way (Pinnell & Fountas, 2007). In the classroom, kindergartners are encouraged to participate in language opportunities that include peer and teacher interactions, songs, rhymes, chants, familiar poems, and literature. These shared and interactive occurrences guide emergent literacy development (Fountas & Pinnell, 2006). Kindergarten children immersed in rich language experiences can benefit from a diverse vocabulary and an awareness of sounds which will assist them in reading and writing.

Akhavan (2008) notes, "Effective instruction for kindergartners involves thoughtful interactions between teachers and children" (p. 107). Every student needs the support of peers, "but the teacher plays a central role in assuring that instruction leads each child forward" (Fountas & Pinnell, 2006, p. xxxii). Lev Vygostky (1978) explained the role of the expert in the life of a student. Instead of waiting for the learner to develop and grow, the expert "supports the learner in successful performance tasks that are just a

little bit harder than he could accomplish independently" (p. xxxii). Understanding how language works and how individual sounds and letters represent words requires a scaffolding of support.

Educators need to be able to recognize and scaffold the support each kindergartner needs in developing reading skills. Many children come to school with background knowledge and understandings which assist them in their reading development. Family time spent with literature, lyrics, poems, or in conversations, expose numbers of school-age children to a strong vocabulary and a readiness to listen and learn new information. Conversely, there are also students entering kindergarten without the vocabulary exposure and reading readiness experiences that others may have been afforded. Optimal development transpires through interactions that are physically, emotionally, socially, and cognitively appropriate with regard to the changing needs of the child (Snow, Burns, & Griffin, 1998). Children entering kindergarten without welldeveloped language abilities and a variety of experiences are often challenged in acquiring emergent literacy skills. Recognizing the diversity in emergent literacy among kindergartners requires educators to immediately assess students in order to develop appropriate and differentiated instructional plans.

#### Phonemic Awareness

Snow et al. (1998) suggest, "The achievement of real reading requires knowledge of the phonological structures of language and how the written units connect with the spoken units" (p. 79). The ability to hear sounds in words is an essential skill in becoming literate. Children able to form phonological connections to letters are equipped to decode and recognize words. Adams, Foorman, Lundberg, & Beeler (1998) have defined

phonemic awareness as the consciousness that language is comprised of phonemes, or small units of speech that correspond with letters of an alphabetic writing system.

Phonemic awareness is one kind of phonological awareness, "which is a broad term that refers to both explicit and implicit knowledge of the sounds in language" (Pinnell & Fountas, 2007, p. 360). It is the ability to segment oral speech into its component speech sounds, or phonemes (Walpole & McKenna, 2004). Phonemic awareness is auditory, does not involve words in print, and is the prerequisite for effective phonetic applications in reading. Emergent readers, ages four through six, are encouraged to develop phonemic awareness to become confident in hearing individual sounds. This awareness of phonemes will assist kindergartners in identifying the letters that match the sounds in words, which can then be applied to the visible information provided by the written word.

In helping children understand how letters represent speech, it is necessary to help them understand that spoken words can be segmented into phonemic units (Blachman, Ball, Black, & Tangel, 2000). Phoneme isolation encourages children to recognize individual sounds in a word. Phoneme blending is a process of listening to a given word, identifying the individual phonemes and combining them together to form a word. Phoneme segmentation is the act of breaking a word apart by its individual sounds. Phoneme deletion is the practice of omitting a sound from a given word. For example, asking children to repeat the word slip without the /s/ requires the practice of phoneme deletion. Phoneme substitution is the addition to or replacement of a sound within words. Changing the /s/ in slip to /f/ would result in flip after the practice of phoneme substitution.
Students who possess phonemic awareness have the ability to distinguish different sounds that enable them to connect sounds with letters; thus leading to reading acquisition. According to the Center for the Improvement of Early Reading Achievement (CIERA, 2001), "children who have phonemic awareness skills are likely to have an easier time learning to read and spell than children who have few or none of these skills" (p. 2). In the 2001 publication, *Put Reading First*, CIERA emphasizes the important role of phoneme manipulation. Children able to work with phonemes in words through blending, segmenting, deleting, adding or substituting sounds become skillful in using the letters of the alphabet to form words.

Adams et al. (1998) suggest, "Poorly developed phonemic awareness is the core difficulty for a large proportion of children who have difficulty learning to read" (p. 5). The research by Adams et al. supports the correlation between schoolchildren's ability to attend to and manipulate phonemes with their reading success through twelfth grade. Based on this premise, cognitive preparation in phonemic awareness is necessary for most kindergarten learners denied of enriching early language experiences in the home. Reflective awareness of language and its individual parts makes sense of our written language. Developing children's phonemic awareness prepares them for learning to read and write. Fountas and Pinnell (2006) relate, "All literacy learning, including the development of fluent reading, is grounded in oral language" (p. 75).

Many children may come to school having already developed their phonemic awareness skills. Teachers need to use a variety of assessments in determining the scaffold of support each learner needs in their individual continuum of reading. Phonemic awareness is a vital component among a variety of others in developing a reader (Morrow

et al., 2003). Supporting readers in their acquisition of reading readiness skills requires a number of differentiated instructional strategies and assessments. The National Reading Panel (NRP, 2000) also supports the development of skills in literacy to include phonemic awareness among young children. Yopp and Yopp (2000) reveal that phonemic awareness instruction can support reading development when included in a broader program consisting of vocabulary, syntax, comprehension, strategic reading abilities, decoding strategies, and writing across the curriculum. Based on a variety of research, it is evident that emergent readers need a comprehensive instructional approach that caters to individual and group needs.

Effective literacy educators are capable of equipping emergent readers with the assistance, differentiated instruction, and the environment needed to nurture their reading skills. Fostering phonemic awareness among children can provide them with an advantage in learning to read and write fluently and effectively. Utilizing assessment methods designed to define both success and challenge among kindergarten students can assist in making appropriate decisions for instruction in phonemic awareness.

In the year 2000, the NRP examined whether phonemic awareness instruction assisted children in reading and spelling. The NRP utilized a number of research articles to define effective procedures for instruction in phonemic awareness. One group of children received the specific phonemic awareness instruction most often recommended through the literature. Another group received various other types of generic classroom instruction in reading readiness. The NRP compared the effect size to determine whether phonemic awareness instruction improved children's phonemic awareness, reading, and spelling and found the results to be positive. Although the initial overall effect size on

reading and spelling outcomes were moderate (0.86 with phonemic awareness, 0.53 with reading, and 0.59 with spelling), the follow-up assessments, given several months after the training ended, were significant. Effects on standardized tests as well as experimenter-devised tests were significant, demonstrating that teaching children to manipulate phonemes in words is a highly effective instructional practice.

# Phonemic Awareness in the Classroom

"Correlational studies have identified phonemic awareness and letter knowledge as the two best school-entry predictors of how well children will learn to read during their first 2 years in school" (NRP, 2000, p. 2). Based on this evidence along with additional research in support of early literacy instruction by the International Reading Association (1998) and the National Association for the Education of Young Children (1998), the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (including the NCLB bill) was passed. The legislation suggests specific areas of early literacy in which to focus instruction. Phonemic awareness, phonics, comprehension, vocabulary, and fluency are the five core elements recommended in a comprehensive approach to early literacy by the NRP.

In order to read and write effectively, children need to develop multiple skills. Distinguishing individual sounds to blend and segment words is a skill that is important in the development of a reader. According to the National Research Council (2001), children who become successful readers apply phonemic connections to letters and context, which facilitates productive reading. A study compiled by Griffith et al. (1992) found that children with high phonemic awareness outperformed those with low phonemic awareness on all literacy measures.

Educators offering a variety of experiences in emergent literacy instruction as a result of the information derived from ongoing assessments can orchestrate a successful kindergarten experience, meeting the demands of the NCLB legislation. Ongoing classroom assessments have the, "potential to not only measure and report learning, but also to promote it" (McTighe & O'Connor, 2005, p. 11). Additionally, kindergarten teachers maximizing the use of data can guide instructional decisions to prevent reading difficulties (Reilly, 2007). According to Routman (2003), most children increase their phonemic awareness and demonstrate their understandings through activities that involve observable behaviors. Educators utilizing observable performance tasks, pretests, checklists, progress monitoring devices, and portfolios, can determine the course for instruction in order to address the varying needs of even our youngest students.

Prior to entering school, kindergartners have gained basic understandings of how our language and print operate and bring with them a wide variety of background experiences (Pinnell & Scharer, 2003). In an effort to measure kindergarten students' prior knowledge, pretests can be utilized for instructional planning purposes. The assessments can range from interest inventories, skill checks, knowledge lists, to the initial stages of K-W-L charts (What we Know, what we Want to know, what we Learned) administered at the beginning of a field of study. Stiggins et al. (2006) explain that if teachers, "want to use assessment as a tool for learning, students need to know where they are going, know where they are now and know how to close the gap" (p. 34).

Taking the time to assess students' prior knowledge can be valuable in determining an instructional focus or starting point. With the use of pretests such as K-W-L charts, kindergarten students can collaborate in sharing what they already know and

examine their interests with regard to the topic or subject to be developed. Pretests are typically not graded and set a purpose or target for learners. They present data for teachers that relay previous knowledge and skills. The data supplied through pre-assessments enable educators to design and plan for differentiated instruction (McTighe & O'Connor, 2005). Kindergarten educators teaching phonemic awareness skills can pretest many concepts. For example, phoneme deletion can be measured with a performance task in a small group or individually. Children can be asked, "Say bat without the /b/. Say sit without the /s/." Students having difficulty are identified to be in need of development in this skill and following the pretest, can be grouped for accommodating instruction. Without effective intervention provisions, a reading performance gap has the potential to develop early and widen as children progress across school years (Reilly, 2007).

The promotion of phonemic awareness can occur through several performance tasks based on the observable individual skills or decisions students demonstrate during an activity. Using paper and pencil applications, verbal information exchanges, teacher observations, conferences, interviews, running records, or learning logs, educators can document not only the support needed for each child, but also ongoing individual progress toward proficiency. In the area of phonemic awareness, identifying skills attained can become a regular practice of linking assessment with instruction (Hill, 2001). Assessment checklists can note valuable performance indicators that a student may be able to demonstrate with regard to phonemic awareness. Skills that can be documented include phoneme identification, blending, segmentation, substitution, and deletion. Additionally, the ability to follow one, two, and three-step verbal directions, recognize

and produce rhymes, identify onset rime, segment sentences and perform syllabication, can all be documented on a checklist.

Teacher observations can document the accuracy or proficiency level of each literacy task accomplished (Lyons & Pinnell, 2001). Teachers circulating within a classroom, listening to peer conversations or observing constructive learning situations, can utilize opportunities to assess the learning taking place among individuals or groups. Maintaining documentation of observed efforts or errors through the use of management systems can provide educators with an arsenal of information on students' literacy development (Annandale et al., 2004). For example, the ability to produce a rhyme for a given word can be noted in a literacy log. A literacy log might even demonstrate the progression of skills such as listening or the production of rhymes with echo speaking experiences (Tyner, 2006).

Portfolios can also be connected with phonemic awareness assessments for learning. Portfolios are collections of observations, checklists, work, projects, ideas, writing, artwork, and assessments that are meaningful in demonstrating student growth over a period of time (Stiggins, 2004). Included in the portfolio may be evidence of an understanding such as onset rime. Children may listen to a prompt such as, "I'm thinking of a word. It rhymes with 'dig'. It starts with the sound /p/. Draw a picture of my word." Illustrations may verify a continuum of literacy learning and proficiency (Blevins, 1997).

Every task students take action in performing can be assessed for learning through a variety of observable tasks. Ongoing and multiple means of assessment measures take any high-stake levels or feelings from the evaluations (Stiggins, 2004). For instance, in the area of phonemic awareness, an assessment in measuring the ability to segment a

sentence can be represented suitably with a cumulative performance assessment. Following the instruction, students can demonstrate their understanding of segmentation by listening to a sentence read aloud and sliding a set of buttons forward to represent each word heard within the sentence as they repeat it aloud.

The ongoing assessment of literacy knowledge offers opportunities to determine appropriate instructional decisions to advance each child's literacy learning. With students entering a typical kindergarten class with very different levels of language and knowledge, instruction must be adapted for these differences (Tyner, 2006). The formation of differentiated instructional decisions, derived from assessment data, can provide students with data-and standards-based curriculum decisions, critical strategies for reading success and the time needed to develop early literacy foundations.

# Differentiated Instruction

As kindergarten teachers strive toward meeting the needs of an ever-increasing range of learners within the classroom, it becomes more important to develop instruction responsive to the diversity of the students. A one-size-fits-all approach has failed to reach many students. Differentiating literacy instruction for kindergarten learners addresses the concern in providing for academic diversity in the classroom. According to Tyner (2006), "without differentiated reading instruction, some children will fall further behind whereas others will be left unchallenged" (p. 6).

In many kindergarten classrooms, some students may perform at grade-level expectancy, others may fare well above anticipated levels, while the remainder of learners may struggle with early reading skills. In order to effectively guide the reading process in a classroom, the needs of all learners must be considered and accommodated

to ensure successful learning experiences. Through informed decisions derived from meaningful, ongoing authentic assessment data, differentiated instructional plans and techniques can attend to the varying levels of learners.

According to The American Heritage College Dictionary (2002), the definition of the word differentiate is "to make different by alteration or modification" (p. 395). Differentiating literacy instruction for kindergarten learners is critical to the reading process. The understanding of the wide range of abilities and interests in literacy among kindergarten students can motivate teachers to assist students with continued growth. Additionally, teachers informed with assessment data and knowledge in the best practices of reading instruction can determine appropriate plans, groupings and strategies to differentiate learning.

The practice of making adjustments in teaching and learning plans, based on the specific ability levels of students, can address the curricular goals in the area of reading for kindergartners. Tomlinson and McTighe (2006) explain that opportunities, "always exist for students with varied backgrounds, strengths, deficits, and developmental stages to work with the essential ideas" (p. 42). All kindergarten students, including those challenged in the area of phonemic awareness as well as those already reading fluently, need instruction that is proactive in creating successful understandings.

The primary purpose of differentiated instruction is to maximize student capacity (Forsten, Goodman, Grant, Hollas, & Whyte, 2006). Assessments can provide important information critical for instructional decisions catered to individuals and small groups. Differentiating literacy instruction designed to meet the diverse needs of kindergarten learners can lead to academic growth toward the curricular outcomes. Kindergarten

teachers cognizant of and practicing ongoing assessment and differentiated teaching methods can maximize the success for each child. Developing teachers' understanding towards the relevance in assessments and differentiated instruction requires a commitment. Mindful administrators, dedicated to the development of student achievement through ongoing assessments and differentiated instructional techniques, are increasingly aware of the importance in providing teachers with ongoing professional development supportive of desired results.

# Professional Development for Educators

In order to become effective in utilizing both formative and summative assessments, educators need adequate professional development. Teachers literate in assessment recognize the accountability that can be demonstrated by using achievement data wisely in a time of high-stakes testing (Fullan, 2001). Rock (2002) recognizes that teachers of reading need to use both formative and summative assessment data in determining an instructional focus in phonemic awareness to benefit student learning. Kindergartners measured with a variety of assessments and phonemic awareness experiences based on information derived from assessment data could make substantial progress. However, a number of teachers need professional development to assist them in attaining the skills needed in aligning assessments with their instructional decisions.

The Improving America's Schools Act of 1994 highlights the significance of professional development in Part C, Section 2301. The Act recognizes professional development as a desirable component in improving our nations' schools and supports purposeful ongoing learning opportunities. The document, a reauthorization of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965, cites the following:

A need for professional development with a primary focus on teachers, to provide both prospective teachers and current teachers' opportunities to learn both the content and the pedagogy needed to teach to high standards ... that demonstrate new organizational arrangements and deep investments in teachers necessary to better prepare teachers for new standards and assessments (The Improving America's Schools Act, Pub. L. 103-382, 1994, Professional Development section 1119).

A response to this call to produce highly trained and qualified teachers, capable of improving student performance, has led to an increase in the number of on-site, embedded professional learning programs. With job-embedded professional development, differentiated instructional techniques can cater to the needs of the individual teacher. Individualizing learning experiences for teachers can lead to deeper understandings and an increase in learning and application.

With unparalleled federal, state, district, school and community expectations, teachers are searching to attain professional support in the twenty-first century. In an effort to increase student learning, classroom teachers are held accountable for not only implementing a combination of assessments and forming data-driven instructional decisions, but also to develop their own professional learning experiences. "One of the primary goals of professional development is change - change in teacher knowledge, change in instruction, change in student learning, and eventual change in school or district progress" (Fullerton & Quinn, 2002, p. 134). According to the National Commission on Teaching and America's Future (Darling-Hammond, 1996), the profession of teaching must be restructured toward increasing teachers' knowledge to

meet the demands necessary for redesigning schools to be supportive of quality teaching and learning.

# Literacy Coaching

Hirsh and Sparks (1997) specified the need for change in professional development from an off-site model to on-site, embedded instructional encounters. The traditional model of professional development, with a one-day, make-it and take-it outcome, fails to meet the contemporary demands on educators. Without the opportunity to practice new strategies over a sustained period of time under guidance, the likelihood of continuity and quality is jeopardized (Dozier, 2006).

In an effort to satisfy the provision of NCLB to develop highly qualified teachers, literacy coaches can be utilized to assist the process. Today, at national, state, and local levels, literacy coaching is being touted as a valuable tool for developing teachers professionally. According to Dozier (2006), the utilization of literacy coaches can help to increase student achievement and improve reading instruction. Literacy coaching can improve teachers' knowledge base, analytical skills, and expertise through an ongoing, local professional development embedded in classroom experiences.

This model of collaborative and interactive professional learning can increase the possibility of authentic learning experiences for educators. According to a study conducted by Joyce and Showers in 2002, 95% of teachers were able to reach an executive implementation level with a literacy coach, while none of these teachers accomplished this by studying the theory in isolation. By engaging in professional development opportunities made available through literacy coaches, educators are assisted in learning about reading processes, assessment, and instruction.

Knight (2004) defines a literacy coach as an assistant to teachers in understanding how research-validated practices offer useful solutions to the challenges teachers are presented with in the classroom. Burkins (2007) offers a more explicit definition: A literacy coach is an educator with specific expertise and extensive experience in literacy instruction who through individual coaching, team meetings, formal professional learning, demonstration lessons, classroom visitations, study groups, and various other contexts, works with and for teachers to lead, assist and honor them as they solidify and expand their skills in and understandings of literacy instruction. (pp. 28-29)

According to Hughes et al. (2002), the purpose of professional development should be to provide teachers with knowledge and instructional strategies that improve their teaching and reflective practices. A collaborative literacy coaching model can offer hands-on learning experiences persistent over time. A study by Rodgers, Fullerton, and DeFord (2002) found, "embedded professional development sessions have an impact on teaching experiences" (p. 59). With school reform initiatives that reflect the need for professional learning experiences, literacy coaches are in the position to provide ongoing, hands-on staff development catered to the specific needs of educators, students, schools, and districts.

Kemp (2005) described the role of a literacy coach as a provider of information, a facilitator or presenter able to develop, "innovative methods to actively engage teachers in strengthening their literacy strategies" (p. 24). Professional development need not be an isolated event. The ongoing assistance of literacy coaches can encourage classroom teachers to practice reflective, responsive, and strategic teaching to bring about lasting change. Staff development standards exist to provide direction in designing adequate

professional development experiences. In 2001, the National Council on Student Development (NCSD) recommended staff development experiences that are resultsdriven, standards-based, and job-embedded. In an effort to promote effective, lasting change, teachers require quality from staff developers.

With regard to phonemic awareness and reading instruction, effective teaching relies on the ability to understand several factors that relate to the reading process. Professional development is essential in fully developing the following understandings: recognizing the intricacies of the reading process, knowing how reading is learned, understanding how children ascertain and demonstrate knowledge in literacy, observing strengths and challenges in reading behaviors and identifying what children need to know in their continuum of learning (Pinnell, 2001).

The primary objective of the literacy coach is to engage the classroom teacher in a reflective learning experience. For instance, a literacy coach could target a group of kindergarten students needing additional practice with segmenting sounds. The literacy coach could then model a strategy in the classroom with the use of a rubber band to illustrate the stretching of the sounds heard within a given word. Sound stretching is an instructional strategy worthy of advising a kindergarten teacher to use in developing the phonemic awareness skill of segmentation or blending. Additionally, if a teacher is encouraged to understand the purpose in using the rubber band and the hierarchy of phonemic awareness skills that children need to attain, a teacher receives far more than a strategy to implement. The educator is empowered with learning and the ability to individualize choices to better meet the needs of students. "For coaching to make a

difference, teachers must transfer their understandings and pedagogical practices from the coaching environment to their classroom practices" (Dozier, 2006, p. 9).

Poglinco and Bach (2004) outlined two types of literacy coaching. The researchers found both small group and in-classroom literacy coaching to be a viable staff development option. Literacy coaches are in the position to foster growth among teachers and address specific needs and concerns directly in the classroom. Knight (2004) highlights several factors that make literacy coaching more effective:

- 1. Sufficient time to work with teachers
- 2. Proven research-based interventions
- 3. Professional development for literacy coaches
- 4. Protection of the coaching relationship
- 5. Ensuring principals and literacy coaches work together
- 6. Hiring the right literacy coaches

Professional learning experiences between colleagues can offer an opportunity to further educators' understandings and progress in the field of education. Honawar (2008) relates the correlation between professional development and teaching with the statement suggesting that, "high quality teacher professional development can lead to gains in student achievement" (p. 9). Small groups or individual educators equipped with the support of ongoing professional development and additional classroom collaboration with a literacy coach are enriched with the tools or approaches most effective in meeting the varying needs of learners.

Recognizing the need for professional development opportunities within the classroom and making the decision to incorporate literacy coaching into a school

district's reform initiatives requires a thoughtful commitment. According to Burkins (2007) a literacy coach may coordinate professional learning opportunities, work with educators regarding instructional decisions, and become the literacy specialist for the entire school. Additionally, literacy coaches can organize and manage literacy resources, manage data, be actively involved in the school community, and also proceed as a learner in literacy. In an effective coaching experience, literacy coaches are working to bolster student learning through the improvement of classroom instruction. However, too often, literacy coaches fall short of meeting the primary goal of improving student learning as a result of the other responsibilities they acquire within a school.

Literacy coaches are in position to support teachers directly with assistance in curriculum, assessment, and instruction within the classroom setting. The collaboration process can ignite possibilities, strategies, and pedagogy that reflect conceptual understandings and research-based approaches in teaching literacy. The opportunity to work side-by-side with a colleague is a professional benefit for teachers that can positively impact student learning. Professional classroom work, or sessions designed to present or examine theories that accompany actual implementation or guided classroom practice, affects the learning experiences of teachers and students alike (Walpole & McKenna, 2004).

Feldman and Tung (2002) analyzed teacher and administrator perceptions of the role of the coach in schools. The Center for Collaborative Education (CCE) funded the study and worked with urban districts to implement whole school reform and improve student achievement. CCE worked with the schools in the following four areas:

- 1. Building leadership capacity and a professional collaborative culture
- 2. Improving learning, teaching and assessment
- 3. Creating structures to support high achievement
- 4. Data-based inquiring and decision-making (pp. 2-3)

Five schools were selected for the study, including 75 teachers and nine administrators. The teachers and administrators were interviewed to determine their perceptions about the role of the coach in their schools. Analyzing the teachers and administrators' work with the coaches, perceptions regarding the coach as a change agent, the coaching activities related to the reform model overall, and any barriers that may have hindered the implementation of the reform model became the focus of the study. Throughout the study, most of the work of the coach occurred during meetings. Coaches recorded their daily activities in logs which were analyzed for the activities the coaches participated in, who they worked with, how long the work lasted, what content was covered, and what resources were used. Coaches worked to establish a collaborative culture within the school during these meetings. Teachers and coaches examined student work, used data to plan for instruction, and developed a school improvement plan.

The findings of Feldman and Tung's study in 2002 were positive. Teachers and administrators found the coach had an impact on school change. Teachers reported many changes in their classroom practices that could be sustained as a result of the coach. Administrators viewed the coaches as professionals able to "push their thinking about school-wide change" (p. 23).

In the classroom, teachers and literacy coaches working together can scaffold learning not only professionally, but also in support of growth among students. Numbers

of informed educators recognize that effective reading instruction, "meets the needs of readers where they are and takes them where they need to go in the development of a reading process" (Pinnell, 2001, p. 64). Literacy coaches working to influence teachers in the practice of differentiating literacy instruction can assist in promoting classroom and school-wide improvements.

# Collaborative Teaching

Too often, school improvement teams concentrate their collaborative efforts on raising scores, primarily on high-stakes assessments (McTighe & Thomas, 2003). This type of focus can result in the narrowing of the curriculum and reductions in student opportunities for learning. Collaboration requires open sharing among teachers receptive to differing opinions and strategies in order to address the challenges of educating students (Creighton, 2005). Through peer-related, one-on-one collaborative efforts, literacy coaches and teachers can take joint responsibility for assessment experiences and understandings that are beneficial to students' ongoing progress and overall achievement.

Traditionally, teachers have not been provided with the benefits of collaboration (Foley, 2007). Teachers have come to understand professional development as an experience in which they attend an off-site location, listen to ideas or a particular philosophy of a speaker within a whole group setting, receive a handout, and return to the classroom the following day. Collaboration with literacy coaches appeals to classroom teachers as an opportunity for meaningful, applicable professional development sessions (Rodgers et al., 2002). In an effort to make school-wide improvements through a collaborative approach, the initial focus could attend to individual student progress within the classroom.

In the practice of attending to individualized student and data-based decisions from multiple sources, the collaborative effort can identify the most valuable data within the overlap of both qualitative and quantitative information (Burkins, 2007). With the information derived, the teacher and literacy coach can examine the evidence to inform the design and delivery of instructional strategies that address specific learning needs. As a result of the collaboration process, educators can inform their teaching with the results of several data sets if given guidance, time, and assistance.

Stakeholders involved in education would concur that improved instructional practice may well result in improved student achievement (Popham, 2003). Creating an environment of collaboration and support improves pedagogy. Analyzing data, in addition to demonstrating and discussing the best practices in reading instruction, can influence instructional decisions. Lyons and Pinnell (2001) advocate the following:

The most effective way to improve instruction is to develop teachers' conceptual understandings about the reading and writing process ... the most efficient and effective way to improve teachers' knowledge base, analytical skills, and expertise is through one-to-one coaching that is informed and based on students' behaviors. (p. 93)

Literacy coaches can assist classroom teachers to recognize the differences among students' reading behaviors. The design of informed, differentiated instructional plans can develop meaningful literacy experiences. Children with diverse reading behaviors deserve to be supported with affirmation, affiliation, accomplishment and autonomy with responsive teaching (Tomlinson, 2003). Quality curriculum, assessment and instruction all play a pivotal part in developing successful emergent readers.

"Literacy coaches are the people who are directing continual school improvement work at the state, district and school levels" (Walpole & McKenna, 2004, p. 20). It is relevant to utilize literacy coaches for curriculum guidance, data-driven instructional efforts, and professional development sessions that present research-based theory and strategies. However, the true advantage for educators and students can be found in the classroom collaboration with the literacy coach (Moran, 2006). Instrumental literacy coaches learn how to work with various educators in different settings to facilitate student achievement as the primary focus. Working together in a professional relationship, teachers and literacy coaches can build literacy learning experiences that enable every child to become a more competent reader and writer (Lyons & Pinnell, 2001). "It is important that adequate modeling and guided practice occur if a lasting change in classroom instruction is going to take place" (Allen, 2006, p. 99).

# Summary

Assessment has the potential to be a powerful tool for teachers and school professionals. Within the classroom, the ongoing use of assessment data can provide information to inform instructional decisions. Schools and districts can utilize assessment information to present the statistical evidence needed to demonstrate the growth of students and the effectiveness of programs. Both formative and summative assessment data can assist educators and administrators in determining key relationships between student achievement and district goals or statewide standards.

The use of assessment data by teams and school professionals can be enhanced by the support of a literacy coach. Literacy coaches not only assist in the collection, analysis, and presentation of assessment data in support of student learning, but they can also offer

professional development sessions designed to promote data-based differentiated instruction. Literacy coaches are positioned to support educators in making instructional changes based on student differences and individual needs.

Differentiated instructional decisions appear to meet the literacy acquisition needs of kindergarten students. A variety of multisensory learning experiences can assist kindergarten students in developing phonemic awareness skills. Students developing phonemic awareness skills seem to progress if provided with opportunities to learn in small groups through a variety of instructional strategies based on their different levels of understanding.

The Review of the Literature regarding the subjects related to improving student achievement has included assessments, kindergarten literacy development, phonemic awareness, differentiated instruction, professional development, literacy coaching and collaborative teaching. Chapter Three is a description of the methodology utilized to determine the effects on kindergartners' development in literacy as a result of data-driven instruction.

### CHAPTER THREE

# PROCEDURES

The problem framing this study was to examine how data-driven instruction and literacy coaching influence the literacy development of kindergartners. In Chapter Three, the research methods of the study are described to include the setting, participants, process for data collection, research instruments, procedures, and methods of data analysis that were utilized. The study employed a mixed-method design to clarify and illustrate both qualitative and quantitative information in order to address the following research questions:

(1) To what extent do kindergartners achieve success as a result of data-driven instructional decisions in literacy?

(2) To what extent are the measurable effects on student learning a result of the daily collaboration between literacy coach and classroom teacher?(3) How do literacy coaches and kindergarten teachers use assessment data to

inform instructional decisions?

## Setting of the Study

The study's participants were all enrolled in the Harbor Creek School District located in Harborcreek, Pennsylvania, a suburban community. Kindergartners in the experimental group were based at Rolling Ridge Elementary School, while the control group was comprised of students in both Clark and Klein Elementary Schools. The teachers involved in the study were employed at Rolling Ridge Elementary School. The three schools are located in a township consisting of 43 square miles and comprised of

approximately 16,000 citizens. The study was conducted throughout an entire school year.

# Study Sample

Participants in this study consisted of two sets of kindergarten learners, four classroom teachers and a control/experimental group of students only. The student sample drawn from the three elementary schools is depicted in Table 1. The number of participants varied in each group throughout the school year.

Table 1

#### Student Population Data

Groups	Beginning of the year population	Middle of the year population	End of the year population	
Control group 1	37	39	39	
Control group 2	58	58	58	
Experimental group	75	76	73	

Table 2 represents a summary of the demographics for the teachers that participated in the study. The four kindergarten teachers, all female, held bachelor's degrees and averaged thirteen and a half years total teaching experience. Of those years, the combined average was equivalent to eight years in the kindergarten classroom. Three of the teachers represented were veterans, representing thirteen or more years in the classroom. Two of the teachers involved in the study were in their second year teaching kindergarten. The literacy coach involved in the study was also female, with thirteen years of teaching experience, nine of which were spent teaching kindergarten. Holding a master's degree in reading, the literacy coach had also been involved four years as a district reading specialist.

Table 2

Teacher Demographic Data

Class Assign- ment	Male	Female	Total years teaching	Years teaching kindergar	Bachelor Degree ten	Master's Degree	
Κ	0	1	25	20	1	0	
K	0	1	13	10	1	0	
K	0	1	13	2	1	0	
K	0	1	3	2	1	0	
Literacy Coach	0	1	13	9	1	1	

# Data Collection

The study utilized a mixed-method design to clarify and illustrate both quantitative and qualitative information. Quantitative evidence of student achievement is demonstrated through phonemic awareness assessment data. Additionally, qualitative research investigated classroom teachers' perceptions regarding coaching and collaboration through an interview. Specific trends, comparisons and outcomes, as a result of the year-long experience, are defined.

Quantitative data were collected, analyzed, and reported from 170 kindergarten students within this study. The students' pre-reading skills were assessed using subtests from the Dynamic Indicators of Basic Early Literacy Skills (DIBELS) benchmark assessments. Over a period of one year among the control groups and one and a half school years for the experimental group, the DIBELS assessments were administered to measure student progress. Data were collected throughout each assessment period by a district-wide team consisting of a literacy coach, two reading specialists, two speech and language pathologists, one learning support teacher, and three instructional support teachers. The data were then entered into the DIBELS national database.

The qualitative aspect of the research study is represented through the responses derived from an open-ended interview conducted with the four participating classroom teachers. The interview reveals the perspectives of the teachers working with the literacy coach towards improving student achievement in literacy. The interview has the potential to illustrate and define the effects of collaboration and instructional decisions determined by data. Themes, trends and insights that emerged from the interview session provide a basis for subsequent interpretive analysis. Through the interview, the researcher attempted to identify factors that may have affected student achievement and manually code and the effects, if any, of literacy coaching.

## Instruments Used

DIBELS is an assessment device designed to identify students who may qualify as at-risk in literacy development. DIBELS analyses were created by and are maintained through the University of Oregon (Appendix A). For the purposes of this study, the assessment tool was used to examine the fluency levels of kindergarten students in the application of phonemic awareness skills. Letter naming fluency (LNF), initial sound fluency (ISF), phonemic segmentation fluency (PSF), and nonsense word fluency (NWF) were the specific skills measured.

The DIBELS assessments are utilized in over 13,000 school districts nationwide (Kaminski, 2007). The measurements provide kindergarten educators with both formative and summative assessment results which may be applied to drive instructional decisions and strategies regarding the area of phonemic awareness. The tests have the capacity to measure student achievement in phonemic awareness through benchmark assessments administered three times a year, as well as progress monitoring assessments that may be conducted as frequently as once a week. There has been extensive research completed on the DIBELS assessments, specifically on how accurately these assessments can predict performance on important outcomes that depend on the ability to read and comprehend text (Kaminski, 2007)). The reliability and validity for these tests have been found to be acceptable as presented in Table 3 (Good & Kaminski, 2001).

Table 3

Test	Alternative-form reliability	Validity
Letter Naming Fluency	.88	.70 (a)
Initial Sound Fluency	.72	.48 (b)
Phoneme Segmentation Fluency	.88	.54 (d)
Nonsense Word Fluency	.83	.36 (e)

Reliability and Validity of DIBELS Assessment

(a) The median criterion-related validity of LNF with the Woodcock-Johnson Psycho-Educational Battery-Revised readiness cluster standard score is .70 in kindergarten. (b) Concurrent criterion-related validity of ORF with DIBELS PSF is .48 in January of kindergarten and .36 with the Woodcock-Johnson Psycho-Educational Battery Readiness Cluster score. (d) Concurrent criterion validity of PSF is .54 with the Woodcock-Johnson Psycho-Educational Battery Readiness Cluster score in the spring of kindergarten. (e) Concurrent criterion-validity of DIBELS NWF with the

Woodcock-Johnson Psycho-Educational Battery-Revised Readiness Cluster score is .36 in January and .59 in February of first grade (Good & Kaminski, 2002).

### Methods

Early literacy skills in phonemic awareness can be measured using the DIBELS standardized assessment. The DIBELS Initial Sound Fluency Assessment or ISF (Appendix B) is a standardized measure of phonemic awareness that tests a child's ability to identify and produce the initial sounds of a word presented aloud (Kaminski & Good, 1996). In conducting this assessment, the tester provided a set of four illustrations and named each object depicted on a given page. After listening to the objects named, the student responded to the oral directive, "Point to the picture that begins with the sound, /f/." After reviewing all four of the illustrations provided, the student had the opportunity to point to and possibly name a response.

In addition to the skill of demonstrating the ability to identify the initial sound of a given word, the rate of the correct identification was also measured. The scores were converted into the number of correct initial sounds identified during one minute. The accuracy of the response and the fluency score were combined to determine the student's level of proficiency for the ISF score.

The ISF measurement, utilized for the purposes of this study, was collected a total of three times, beginning in the fall of the kindergarten year, midyear, and concluding in the spring of the kindergarten year. The assessment which evaluates learners' ISF was collected for both the experimental and control groups.

The DIBELS Phonemic Segmentation Fluency Assessment, or PSF (Appendix C), is a standardized measurement of phonemic awareness that evaluates the production of the individual sounds heard contained in a given word by individual students. A

student's ability to segment the three or four phonemes heard in each provided word, within a one minute time frame, was added to form a total number of sounds. For example, in the assessment of phonemic segmentation, the tester may have read, "Tell me the sounds you hear in 'step'." A student may have correctly responded with "/s/, /t/, /e/, /p/". Again, the rate and accuracy of the response determined the proficiency level achieved. This instrument was administered to each set of kindergarten students, a frequency of three times, in the winter and spring of the kindergarten year along with the fall of the first grade year.

The DIBELS Nonsense Word Fluency Assessment, or NWF test (Appendix D), is a standardized measurement of the alphabetic principle as well as the skill of phoneme blending. Inside the time frame of one minute, learners were asked to recognize sets of three letters arranged in a consonant-vowel-consonant pattern, apply the sound each letter represents, and read the letter sets as if they were real words. The nonsense word scores were based on the accuracy of the sounds students provide during the minute of assessment.

Words included in the NWF assessment may have resembled, "biz", "taf" or "juk" and the final score was once again gauged on accuracy and rate. This assessment was administered during the winter and spring of kindergarten and again in the fall of the first grade year.

The DIBELS Letter Naming Fluency Assessment, LNF (Appendix E), is a standardized test that rates the number of randomly arranged letters, both upper and lower case, read accurately inside one minute. This assessment was conducted at the three seasonal intervals during one year of kindergarten with the two groups of learners.

Teams comprised of three instructional support teachers, one speech pathologist, one learning support teacher, one administrator, two reading specialists, and one literacy coach were instrumental in conducting the assessments. The teams assessed learners individually with standardized, individualized measurements of their ability to identify letters (LNF), segment words (PSF), name individual phonemes (NWF), and identify initial sounds (ISF) through the DIBELS benchmark assessment, within a specific time frame. Performances were analyzed according to accuracy and rate. The assessors utilized stopwatches, DIBELS benchmark assessment booklets, and manuals. Testing to gather data occurred over one week intervals, three times during the kindergarten school year and once during the first grade year with the experimental group. The frequency of each individual assessment altered according to the DIBELS measurement. The study utilized data based on letter naming and initial sound fluency that were assessed three times throughout the school year. Phoneme segmentation and nonsense word fluency were measured at three intervals for the purposes of this study.

The data collected for the study were analyzed and interpreted against the established DIBELS benchmark measurements for instructional decisions. Student achievement was related to the norm for each skill; classroom teachers, working collaboratively with the literacy coach, then determined appropriate classroom groupings and instructional decisions based on individual phonemic awareness performances.

The qualitative data took the form of open-ended interview responses and notes. The actual interview was tape recorded and transcribed for accuracy and control of investigator bias. Manual open coding (Creswell, 1998) was used to segment specific information and to identify themes regarding the collaborative teaching experiences and

professional development sessions with the literacy coach. The investigator-constructed interview questions allowed the four kindergarten teachers participating to share their thoughts concerning what they valued and the changes they made as a result of the study. The information gathered by the researcher created a full portrayal of the teachers' experiences. An interpretive analysis identified trends common throughout the interview responses. The mixed-model research approach assisted in presenting a link between both quantitative and qualitative results.

# Summary

Chapter Three described the methodological framework of this mixed-method study. The problem of this study was to examine the effects of data-driven instruction and literacy coaching on kindergartners' literacy development. Chapter Four will present the results of the study and will use data analysis to convey the results of data-based instructional decisions and literacy coaching for individual kindergarten learners' literacy success. Additionally, Chapter Four will also present findings, compare statistical evidence, and summarize both quantitative and qualitative information. Chapter Five presents a discussion of the results as related to previous research, limitations to the present study, as well as implications and suggestions for future research.

### CHAPTER FOUR

# DATA ANALYSIS

The problem of this study is to examine the effects of data-driven instruction and literacy coaching among kindergartners' literacy development. Chapter One outlined the productive use of assessment, data, and differentiated instruction in phonemic awareness. The educational practices of literacy coaching and collaborative teaching were also discussed within the first chapter. The reviewed literature in Chapter Two illustrated the use of data in determining instructional decisions and stressed the impact of teachers and literacy coaches working together toward improving student achievement. Chapter Three described the methodological framework of this study which included information on the research procedures, instrumentation, and data collection.

### Results

The purpose of Chapter Four is to present the findings based on three research questions:

(1) To what extent do kindergartners achieve success as a result of data-driven instructional decisions in literacy?

(2) To what extent are the measurable effects on student learning a result of the daily collaboration of literacy coach and classroom teacher?

(3) How do literacy coaches and kindergarten teachers use assessment data to inform instructional decisions?

To investigate these research questions, this chapter represents a mixed-method study which not only examines the student achievement data obtained from ongoing student assessments in phonemic awareness, but also offers insights derived from classroom teachers involved in the literacy coaching experience.

Initially, the chapter will focus on the data findings for this study. The results of the quantitative analysis will identify comparisons in student achievement as a result of data-driven instruction between and within the groups studied. Quantitative data were collected, analyzed, and reported from 170 kindergarten students within this study. The students' pre-reading skills were assessed using subtests from the Dynamic Indicators of Basic Early Literacy Skills (DIBELS) benchmark assessments. Over a period of one and a half years, DIBELS assessments were administered to measure student progress. Following the first year of study, the quantitative data derived from the two control groups and one experimental group were measured with a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) which compared the means of the mixed-effects models. The Statistical Package for the Social Science (SPSS), version 16.0.1, was used to conduct all statistical analyses. Repeated measures were analyzed and interpreted through SPSS to distinguish any statistical correlations between the control and experimental groups.

Additional quantitative data reported in this chapter will analyze the measurable effects on student learning as a result of collaborative teaching. The DIBELS assessments served as the basis for the data reports. An analysis of the scores provided the descriptive statistics needed to demonstrate findings.

Finally, the chapter will present an interpretive analysis of qualitative measures, including the results of interviews which provide data regarding collaborative practices between the literacy coach and classroom teachers. Collected during a one hour meeting with the four classroom teachers, the interview data were then manually transcribed and

coded. An interpretive analysis was conducted to categorize specific trends which are presented within Chapter Four.

The foundation for this research asserts there is a correlation between student achievement in literacy and data-driven instructional decisions. Further, the research is based on the premise that there may be a correlation between student achievement in literacy and the collaborative efforts between classroom teachers and literacy coaches.

The research questions will be examined through both quantitative and qualitative methods. The study presents an analysis of quantitative data derived from three DIBELS benchmark assessments (Table 4). The data retrieved from initial sound fluency (ISF), letter naming fluency (LNF), phoneme segmentation fluency (PSF) and nonsense word fluency (NWF) assessments answer the first and third research questions regarding the impact of data-driven instructional decisions on student achievement and the impact of collaborative teaching on student learning. Statistical comparisons are presented through frequencies, means (average scores), and percentages. The data were analyzed statistically through one-way ANOVA to identify raw scores; and SPSS to compare data within and among groups.

Table 4

October	January	April	November
LNF ISF	LNF ISF PSF NWE	LNF PSF NWE	PSF NWE

Quantitative Assessment Timeline

Qualitative efforts evaluate the correlation between the collaborative process and student achievement. The qualitative research investigates the second research question regarding the measurable effects on student learning as a result of daily collaboration between a literacy coach and classroom teachers. In-depth, structured interviews with the classroom teachers captured insights regarding how and why teachers made data-based instructional decisions. The interview also outlined the factors that influenced implementation. Distinct patterns and trends emerged from the interview.

### Data Analysis

For the purpose of this study, student data were accessed through the DIBELS database to provide a statistical presentation of student achievement. Reports were generated within the DIBELS database for the control and experimental groups. The quantitative data derived were measured with a one-way ANOVA, the analysis of variance which compared the means of the mixed-effects models.

Repeated measures were analyzed and interpreted through SPSS to distinguish any statistical correlations between the control and experimental groups. The criterion for significance tests for all null hypotheses was set at p = .05. Analyzing the quantitative data using the ANOVA and the SPSS compared the means among the two groups, thus allowing for extensive data query.

Quantitative research as described by Lyon and Chhabra (2004), "attempts to answer questions about 'what causes what'. To draw reliable inferences about cause and effect - for example, to determine whether a particular instructional approach produces significant gains in reading achievement..." (p. 13). For the purpose of this study, the quantitative research is presented through a causal comparative method. The quantitative

research was intended to demonstrate the implications of differentiated, data-driven instruction and collaborative teaching methods on student achievement. Specific assessment measurements offer data to form correlations among phonemic awareness skills between two groups of kindergarten students.

Interview data were also collected and analyzed following a one hour meeting with the four classroom teachers involved in the experimental group (Appendix F). Responses to open-ended questions were recorded on a cassette recorder and documented by hand for qualitative purposes in researching both data-driven instruction and the collaborative model experienced between literacy coach and classroom teachers. The teachers' statements were collected and examined for trends or emergent themes through interpretive analysis. Attempts were made to synthesize information gathered, highlighting any specific, common trends in their responses. Manually coding was used to represent the major trends, significant to the research. According to Patton (2002), the quality of insights generated through research is what matters, not the quantity of such insights. The anecdotal comments, taken verbatim, were cross-case analyzed and used to generate conclusions.

### Quantitative Analysis of the Findings

Nine kindergarten classrooms, residing in three elementary schools, were chosen and the associated faculty agreed to participate in this study. Among the schools participating, two schools constituted the control groups and one school participated in the role of the experimental group. The five classrooms that formed the two control groups participated in the yearly assessment measurements, but did not receive daily interaction with instructional assistance from a literacy coach. The experimental group,

consisting of four kindergarten classrooms, participated in the yearly assessment procedures and accepted the assistance of a literacy coach who encouraged data-driven instructional practices throughout a school year. All nine kindergarten classroom teachers practiced early literacy instruction in the area of phonemic awareness and participated in the three assessment procedures.

The Kindergarten DIBELS Benchmark Assessments were chosen to measure the phonemic awareness skills within all three groups of students. For the purpose of this study, the assessment data were utilized in response to the following two research questions: To what extent do kindergartners achieve success as a result of data-driven instructional decisions in literacy? To what extent are the measurable effects on student learning a result of the daily collaboration between literacy coach and classroom teacher? Statistical data were organized and compared for the purpose of answering the questions during three different intervals.

Three schools, representative of 170 kindergartners, participated in the measurements of phonemic awareness. The two control groups (Schools 1 and 2), represented roughly 95 kindergarten students and participated in three DIBELS benchmark assessments throughout one school year to measure ISF, LNF, PSF and NWF. The experimental group (School 3) consisted of approximately 75 kindergarten learners and also participated in the measurements of the three DIBELS benchmark assessments. The sets of scores, derived from the three elementary schools, representing both the control and experimental groups, were compared utilizing the causal comparative method.

# Achievement as a Result of Data-Driven Instructional Decisions in Literacy

The first research question addresses the query: To what extent do kindergartners achieve success as a result of data-driven instructional decisions in literacy? To answer this question, a one-way ANOVA was conducted to determine if differences existed between the schools studied. In order to compare the year-long achievement results of the learners, the initial data collection was compiled in the fall of the kindergarten year, prior to any influence from data-driven instructional decisions or collaboration with the literacy coach.

The first assessment conducted in phonemic awareness measured ISF to determine a child's ability to isolate individual phonemes, specifically the consonant sounds found at the beginning of words. Table 5 presents a comparison between and within the three schools examined for their awareness of ISF, the first of two skills assessed in the fall.

Table 5

School	Phonemic Awareness Measurement	Ν	Mean	SD
1	ISF	37	14.90	10.29
2	ISF	58	15.70	8.69
3	ISF	75	17.50	10.09

Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Fall)

The data illustrate the descriptive statistics for student achievement in the assessment of ISF prior to the influence of data-driven instruction or the collaboration of
a literacy coach. Both Schools 1 (N = 37 students) and 2 (N = 58 students) represent control groups; School 3 (N = 75 students) constitutes the experimental group. In School 1, a set of kindergartners within one of the two control groups, demonstrated the lowest average score, or mean (14.90) in ISF. Results for the experimental group, School 3, indicated the school with the highest mean (17.50). Thus, at the onset of the assessment measurements, the experimental group exhibited the highest overall skill level for ISF in the fall of the kindergarten year.

Additional results reveal the statistical significance between and within the groups measured. A one-way ANOVA was conducted in the fall to test the equivalency of ISF scores among the three groups - the two control groups and the one experimental group. Data are presented in Table 6.

Table 6

Summary of ANOVA Results on Initial Sound Fluency (Fall)

Score	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	201.32	2	100.66	1.07	.35
Within Groups	15682.13	167	93.91		
Total	15883.45	169			

The *F*-ratio from the ANOVA was not significant (p > .05). The calculated *p* value of .35 is more than the alpha of 0.05. This is consistent with the means presented in Table 5.

The phonemic awareness skill of LNF was also measured in the fall of the kindergarten year. All three groups of students were measured, using the DIBELS

benchmark assessments, to determine their rate and accuracy level in naming upper and lowercase alphabet letters. Table 7 depicts the data gathered.

Table 7

Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Fall)

School	Phonemic Awareness Measurement	Ν	Mean	SD
1	LNF	37	28.80	14.80
2	LNF	58	29.69	15.90
3	LNF	75	28.09	15.30

The data indicate the lowest mean (28.09) was represented by School 3, while the highest mean (29.69) was achieved by School 2. The table reflects an initial measurement of LNF in which the experimental group projects the lowest mean. The fall assessments were conducted, collected, and analyzed prior to the implementation of data-driven instruction and the collaboration of a literacy coach.

Table 8 demonstrates a summary of the ANOVA results regarding LNF between and within the groups assessed.

Table 8

Summary of ANOVA Results on Letter Naming Fluency (Fall)

Score	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	
Between Group	os 83.74	2	41.86	.18	.84	
Within Groups	39618.37	167	237.24			
Total	39702.11	169				

The table demonstrates the *F*-ratio was not significant (p > .05) with a *p* value of .84. These data support the mean results displayed in Table 7.

Following the first DIBELS benchmark assessment, professional development coaching/mentoring began between the literacy coach and the classroom teachers within the experimental group. Ongoing professional development sessions included information and assistance with the application of informal assessments and data to drive instructional decisions, develop phonemic awareness skills in kindergartners, and practice differentiated instructional strategies in the kindergarten classroom.

The classroom teachers received before, during, and after school professional development sessions, as well as daily classroom-based collaboration and modeling opportunities with the literacy coach. Through shared discussions, classroom-based lessons, and a variety of informal assessments, this collaboration reinforced the professional development topics.

The core literacy curriculum of the experimental group incorporated instruction supportive of phonemic awareness and alphabetic principle skills. Collaborative time integrated individual, small, and whole group instruction with students. The data-driven instructional decisions catered primarily to identified sets of learners scoring at or with some level of risk, determined as a result of the DIBELS benchmark assessments measuring ISF and LNF which had been administered in the fall.

ISF skills were reinforced with songs, chants, and sound activities supportive of the first sound heard in words. The lessons reinforced concepts such as initial sound discrimination and matching. Children distinguished between objects with varying initial sounds, recognized sound patterns, and matched the beginning sounds portrayed in

pictures with the associated objects. ISF skills were developed through individual and small group learning experiences. Ongoing assessments measured progress, and data from the assessments assisted in constructing instructional decisions and groupings.

LNF skills were developed via shared reading experiences, letter charts or card readings with a partner, and alphabet books, along with upper and lowercase letter matching games. The coach and teachers implemented instructional approaches compatible with the data collected to address individual or group needs. Needs-based groups were determined by evidence derived from ongoing assessments. LNF was developed in varying, flexible groups of students identified to benefit from differentiated instruction.

Prior to the second DIBELS assessment, students in the experimental group received whole and small group as well as individualized instruction in the area of phonemic awareness which incorporated ISF and LNF development. Students in the control group also received ISF and LNF instruction through literacy activities in a whole group, but not in a small group or individualized setting and without the assistance of a literacy coach.

Table 9 illustrates the descriptive statistics for student achievement in ISF skills collected during the winter assessments of the kindergarten year. With the influence of data-driven and collaborative instruction, students in the experimental group were assessed to determine their progress in literacy. Students in the control groups also received phonemic awareness instruction in tandem with the DIBELS assessments. The second assessment results regarding ISF can be found within Table 9.

## Table 9

Descriptive Statistics	for the Ind	ependent Com	iparison Group	os (Winter)
------------------------	-------------	--------------	----------------	-------------

School	Phonemic Awareness Measurement	N	Mean	SD
1	ISF	39	27.70	10.69
2	ISF	58	29.59	13.40
3	ISF	76	33.60	14.49

The lowest average (27.70) indicates School 1, a control group exhibiting the lowest skill level in ISF. School 3, the experimental group, reflects the highest average (33.60) with ISF. All groups demonstrated progress in the area of ISF, while the lowest and highest mean remained consistent with the initial fall assessment. Table 10 demonstrates the *F*-ratio among the three groups.

Table 10

Summary of ANOVA Results on Initial Sound Fluency (Winter)

Score	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	
Between Grou	ips 1051.37	2	525.68	2.94	.06	
Within Group	s 30354.34	170	178.56			
Total	31405.71	172				

The calculated p value of .06 is slightly more than the alpha of 0.05. The results of the ANOVA represent a slight difference between the three sets of kindergarten

students during the second of three assessments in ISF. The experimental group once again demonstrates a slight advantage over the control groups in the assessment process regarding the area of ISF.

The second assessment conducted in all three schools regarding LNF is illustrated in Table 11. The first assessment revealed the lowest mean among the experimental group in the skill set of LNF. Table 11 demonstrates an alternative finding.

Table 11

Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Winter)

School	Phonemic Awareness Measurement	Ν	Mean	SD	
1	LNF	39	47.29	12.10	
2	LNF	58	43.09	15.70	
3	LNF	76	45.69	13.50	

In the skill set of LNF, once again, both the lowest and highest means are represented by the control groups. It is important to note, however, that the mean scores are much higher at the mid-year point for all groups involved. The experimental group reflected a mean of 28.09 within the fall assessment and the winter measurement demonstrated a mean of 45.69, indicating achievement.

Summer y of the of the cours on Dener manning I meney ( in the	Summary o	of ANOVA	Results on	Letter Namir	ig Fluency	(Winter)
--	-----------	----------	------------	--------------	------------	----------

Score	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	446.76	2	223.38	1.14	.32
Within Groups	33282.59	170	195.78		
Total	33729.35	172			

Table 12 indicates that the *F*-ratio from the ANOVA was not significant. The calculated p value of .32 is more than the alpha of 0.05

(p > .05).

The winter assessment procedures included two additional measurements regarding kindergartners' literacy achievement; PSF and NWF were added to the previous evaluations of kindergartners' early literacy skills. Phoneme segmentation is a student's ability to segment three and four phoneme words into individual phonemes. The PSF measure has been found to be a good predictor for later reading achievement (Kaminski & Good, 1996). The PSF results of the three groups are denoted in Table 13.

## Table 13

Schoo	l Phonemic Awareness Measurement	Ν	Mean	SD	
1	PSF	39	35.30	9.29	
2	PSF	58	26.29	14.39	
3	PSF	76	54.20	10.90	

Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Winter)

In the skill set of PSF, the lowest recorded mean of 26.29 is represented by School 2, a control group. The highest mean of 54.20 is displayed by School 3, the experimental group. This assessment measurement demonstrates the first display of significant differences between the groups as indicated in Table 14.

Table 14

Summary of ANOVA Results on Phoneme Segmentation Fluency (Winter)

Score	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	
Between Group	s 27013.75	2	13506.87	95.61	.00	
Within Groups	24016.81	170	141.28			
Total	51030.56	172				

Among the winter assessment data, the *p* value is less than the *F*-ratio (p < .05). A statistical significance between the experimental and the control groups developed in the skill set of PSF.

The winter assessments provided a fourth and final measurement in phonemic awareness during the kindergarten year. As stated in Chapter Three, NWF is measured with the students' application of letter sounds blended together to read a nonsense word aloud that doesn't make sense, but has three phonemes. For example, a word that resembles, "nix" or "peb" is read aloud and measured for accuracy and rate. All three groups were assessed in NWF. The results are noted in Table 15.

Table 15

School	Phonemic Awareness Measurement	N	Mean	SD
1	NWF	39	35.19	12.40
2	NWF	58	27.80	17.89
3	NWF	76	33.70	21.49

Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Winter)

The lowest mean in NWF during the winter assessment was determined by School 2 (27.80). The highest mean (35.19) was also held within the control group by School 1. Once again, the experimental group did not score the highest or lowest mean for the assessment. Table 16 represents a supportive analysis.

Table 16

Summary of ANOVA Results on Nonsense Word Fluency (Winter)

Score	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	e F	Sig.	
Between Groups	1641.26	2	820.63	2.37	.10	
Within Groups	58774.67	170	345.73			
Total	60415.93	172				

A one-way ANOVA was conducted in the winter to test the equivalency of NWF among the three groups. The *F*-ratio from the ANOVA was not significant (p > .05). The calculated *p* value of .10 is more than the alpha of 0.05.

The variables of data-driven instruction and literacy coaching did not demonstrate overall statistical differences between the two groups. The effects on the experimental group were not significant. At the conclusion of the second of three assessments, it is important to highlight the progress achieved by each group.

School 1, among the control groups, demonstrated an improvement in student achievement in ISF. In the fall assessment, the mean determined was 14.90. The winter assessment results revealed a mean of 27.70 for School 1. School 2 also exhibited progress in the skill set of ISF between the fall and winter assessment. Means ranged from 15.70 to 29.59 respectively. The experimental group, School 3, achieved improvement in the assessment of ISF as well. In the fall, the mean revealed was 17.50. The ISF mean in the winter assessment for the experimental group almost doubled with a result of 33.60.

In the LNF skill set, the control group represented by School 1 progressed from a mean of 28.80 to 47.29 between the two assessment periods. Likewise, the second control group, School 2, advanced from a mean reflecting 29.69 in the fall, to 43.09 by the winter assessment. School 3, the experimental group, also exhibited student achievement in the awareness of LNF between the two assessment periods. In the fall, School 3 earned a mean of 28.09 and by spring had produced a mean of 45.69.

Following the second benchmark assessments in phonemic awareness, the coach reviewed and shared the results with the classroom teachers in the experimental group.

Subsequent to the first benchmark assessment, treatment through instruction was based on decisions made as a result of the data. Following the second assessment, instructional choices were determined with a higher intensity focused on recognizing individual needs. At-risk students received greater individualized attention in the classroom setting.

The teachers of the control group did not alter instruction in working with phonemic awareness and early literacy skills. At-risk learners continued to be removed from the classroom for remedial services from Title I reading specialists within a small group setting. The four classroom teachers within Schools 1 and 2 examined the data derived from the mid-year assessment, yet did not explicitly apply it for instructional purposes.

Conversely, the teachers of the experimental group identified learners at-risk and provided not only small group and individualized attention, but also differentiated instructional techniques which included multisensory learning experiences. In the skill set of LNF, children were afforded additional opportunities in working with letters through kinesthetic experiences. The visual and auditory experiences that had been afforded prior to the second assessments continued, however, the inclusion of tactile learning supports including use of shaving cream, sand trays, paint, and markers to form letters became a priority. It was assumed that the population of students making little gain needed differentiated instruction beyond the linguistic, musical, and visual experiences. Applying tactile learning strategies with the struggling learners assisted in further developing early literacy skills. The coach modeled multisensory approaches and provided professional development accordingly.

Assistance in PSF also occurred on a more individualized basis with differential opportunities. Kinesthetic learning included hopping and clapping movement in tandem with sounds. Students were educated through a variety of sensory techniques to identify the individual phonemes heard within words.

NWF instruction occurred through shared reading experiences with books supportive of whimsical and rhyming words. Children were encouraged to apply lettersound relationships throughout the day, enabling integrated learning experiences in all subject areas. Multisensory approaches encouraged kinesthetic learning through jumping games with letter and sound focus along with linguistic opportunities involving the segmentation and blending of words.

The development and delivery of ongoing performance tasks provided evidence of student learning. Data obtained as a result of the formative assessments were utilized to develop instructional plans and groupings. Professional support and learning opportunities, including intensive instruction in phonemic awareness, were offered by the literacy coach. The focus of professional learning expanded from data-driven instruction, student-based instructional decisions and differentiated instruction to specific literacy learning in the area of early reading skills.

The final assessment period for all three groups occurred in the spring of the kindergarten year when LNF, PSF, and NWF were all measured. ISF was not assessed as a result of the DIBELS availability and developmental progress among kindergartners.

An examination of Table 17 reveals the final student achievement analysis in the assessment of LNF.

# Table 17

School	Phonemic Awareness Measurement	Ν	Mean	SD
1	LNF	39	52.79	14.00
2	LNF	58	46.89	15.29
3	LNF	73	52.99	11.60

Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Spring)

Table 17 demonstrates the lowest mean (46.89) in LNF among School 2. The highest mean (52.99) was recorded within the experimental group. The results depict an improvement in LNF for each of the groups involved in the study, however, the experimental group demonstrated the highest gains. Table 18 further denotes the achievement within the experimental group.

Table 18

Summary of ANOVA Results on Letter Naming Fluency (Spring)

Score	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	
Between Groups	3 1390.48	2	695.24	3.81	.02	
Within Groups	30479.49	167	182.51			
Total	31869.96	169				

A one-way ANOVA was conducted in the spring to test the equivalency of LNF among the three groups. The F-ratio from the ANOVA displayed significance (p < .05). The calculated p value of .02 is less than the alpha of 0.05.

The skill set of PSF also denotes significant gains for the experimental group during the final assessment period. The experimental group results demonstrated a significant difference among all three groups of kindergartners as illustrated in Table 19. Table 19

School	Phonemic Awareness Measurement	N	Mean	SD
1	PSF	39	49.39	7.10
2	PSF	58	38.89	12.70
3	PSF	73	62.80	10.99

Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Spring)

School 3 achieved the highest mean among the three schools measured in PSF with 62.80. The two control groups fell below, with the closest mean depicted by School 1 at 49.39 and the lowest mean documented for School 2 with a measurement of 38.89. Table 20 further supports the data.

## Table 20

Summary of ANOVA Results on Phoneme Segmentation Fluency (Spring)

Score	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	18701.90	2	9350.95	78.78	.00
Within Groups	19821.28	167	118.69		
Total	38523.18	169			

The experimental group demonstrated favorable results following the ANOVA. The *F*-ratio (p < .05) was significant with a *p* value of .000 among the skill set of PSF.

Descriptive statistics illustrate the final assessment in NWF among the three schools. The experimental group once again demonstrated significant achievement gains. Table 21 identifies the results depicted for NWF.

Table 21

School	Phonemic Awareness Measurement	N	Mean	SD	
1	NWF	39	40.99	12.80	
2	NWF	58	29.60	17.09	
3	NWF	73	49.50	19.09	

Descriptive Statistics for the Independent Comparison Groups (Spring)

In the assessment of NWF, the highest mean (49.50) was depicted by School 3. The lowest mean (29.60) was represented by School 2. Therefore, School 3 outperformed the two control groups in the phonemic awareness skills measured in the spring of the kindergarten year. Table 22 provides additional data to support the results regarding the skill set of NWF.

Table 22

Summary of ANOVA Results on Nonsense Word Fluency (Spring)

Score	Sum of Squar	res df	Mean Squa	re F	Sig.
Between Groups	12802.37	2	6401.18	21.75	.00
Within Groups	49159.28	167	294.37		
Total	61961.65	169			

The third and final skill set measured among the three groups revealed the *F*-ratio from the ANOVA was significant (p > .05). The assessment of NWF displayed the calculated *p* value of .00 is less than the alpha of 0.05.

The statistical comparison established significant findings in the April benchmark assessment with regard to phonemic awareness improvement among the experimental group. The effect of collaborative, data-driven teaching experiences enabled the learners within the experimental group to perform higher than the control groups in LNF, PSF, and NWF. At mid-year, the statistics were not significant among the groups.

Student Learning as a Result of Daily Collaboration Connecting a Literacy Coach and

## **Classroom Teachers**

The second research question addresses: To what extent are the measurable effects on student learning a result of the daily collaboration of literacy coach and classroom teacher? To answer this question, an analysis of the experimental group was completed through additional DIBELS assessments. Further research data were compiled to determine residual effects and instructional sustainability by removing the collaborative, data-driven teaching environment that occurred throughout the year of study.

Within a period of six months following the kindergarten school year, the experimental group had experienced a summer with an absence of classroom-based learning and the benefits of data-driven instruction. Also, during that time the students not only incurred a natural period of growth and development, but may have also acquired many new literacy skills and strategies. In an effort to identify the levels of achievement maintained, nonsense words and phonemic segmentation fluency levels

were to be measured among only the first grade students who had participated in the experimental group during the kindergarten year. The control groups were not assessed utilizing DIBELS assessments during the first grade year due to alterations in both staff and district initiatives.

The DIBELS performance indicators are based upon a longitudinal predictive probability of achieving the next goal. The benchmarks are set with an indication of students achieving the next benchmark goal or a probability of need for instructional support in achieving the next goal. For example, students achieving at benchmark status at the end of the kindergarten year, based on the DIBELS predictors, have a greater than .80 probability of achieving the benchmark goal in first grade (Kaminski, 2007). However, consideration was given to the absence of the involvement of the literacy coach within the first grade classroom. The collaboration and professional development that occurred regarding decisions with data, instructional grouping, ongoing formative assessments and differentiated instruction were not maintained within the first grade year. As a result, it was anticipated that although the students had a strong foundation in early literacy skills, a decline might incur in overall student achievement. With the removal of data-driven instructional decisions and literacy coaching variables, the benchmark assessment progress in NWF and PSF may be significantly altered. The fall of first grade assessment results are reflected in Table 23.

## Table 23

Measurements	Kindergarten Assessments (April results)	First Grade Assessments (October results)
NWF	95% (at or above benchmark goal of 25 sounds each minute)	80% (at or above benchmark goal of 24 sounds each minute)
PSF	91% (at or above benchmark goal of 35 sounds each minute)	62% (at or above benchmark goal of 35 sounds each minute)

## First Grade DIBELS Benchmark Assessments

Based on the understanding that any student achieving at or above the benchmark indicates an 80% probability of achieving the next goal (Kaminski, 2007), the statistical comparisons between the spring of the kindergarten year and the six month period of growth were significant. Students at or above benchmark levels declined from 95% to 80% with NWF skills, demonstrating a difference of 15% among the experimental group's population. It is significant to note the benchmark performance indicator rested at 25 sounds correct per minute in the end of the year kindergarten assessment and is set similarly, in the initial first grade benchmark goal with 24 sounds correct per minute. Despite the fact that the assessment data system does not reflect an increase in the benchmark goal following the six months of growth, students did not even maintain their level of achievement.

In the skill set of PSF the difference represented an even higher statistic, with a 29% decline in student achievement. With a consistent benchmark of 35 sounds correct

per minute in both the spring of kindergarten and fall of first grade assessments, the effects were significant.

#### **Overall Quantitative Conclusions**

Evaluating the measurable effects on student achievement as a result of both datadriven instruction and collaborative work between a literacy coach and classroom teachers produced some interesting data. The initial one-way ANOVA identified that no significant differences existed between groups in the fall among the skill areas, including ISF and LNF. By the winter assessment, performances among the kindergartners had improved. However, the mid-year scores did not support the hypotheses for the experimental group. Data-driven instructional decisions and collaboration with a literacy coach did not necessarily demonstrate an impact on student achievement scores in literacy.

The statistics presented in Tables 5–22 reveal a comparison that can be attributable to the variables that exist between the two groups of learners. A mean comparison, however, demonstrates the conclusive achievement results. In the skill area of ISF, the control group consisting of kindergartners from School 1 progressed from a mean of 14.90 in the fall to 27.70 by the mid-year assessment. School 1 also achieved progress in LNF, revealing means developing from 28.80 (fall) to 47.29 (winter) to 52.79 (spring). Additionally, School 1 improved performances in PSF, reflecting a mean of 35.30 in the winter and 49.39 by the spring. Finally, School 1 exhibited gains in NWF with a mean of 35.19 measured in the winter assessment and 40.99 in the spring.

School 2, a control group school, made progress in all areas measured as well. ISF measurements displayed advancements in the means from 15.70 (fall assessment) to

29.59 (winter assessment). Assessments in LNF also demonstrated improvement for School 2. The mean progressed from a fall measurement of 29.69 to a winter mean displaying 43.09. By spring, the mean reported was 46.89. In the skill set of PSF, School 2 made additional increases in the mean average from 26.29 (winter) to 38.89 (spring). The final assessment for School 2 demonstrated slight steps forward in NWF from the winter to spring assessment periods when the mean altered from 27.80 to 29.60, respectively.

The educational experience within the control groups reflected whole group instruction. Pedagogy involving differentiated, small groups, or data-driven instruction was not accommodated throughout the school year. Moreover, a literacy coach was not made available to the faculty or student populations in both buildings due to a district decision. As a result, the overall student achievement in literacy did not attain the progress depicted by the experimental group.

The experimental group from School 3 conversely revealed improvements in phonemic awareness skills throughout the year. The distinction between groups, however, can be attributed to significant gains made as a result of data-driven instructional decisions and collaborative instruction. School 3 demonstrated a mean of 17.50 in the fall assessment regarding ISF. The group progressed to 33.60 by the winter assessment. In the assessment of LNF, the experimental group improved from a mean of 28.09 (fall assessment) to 45.69 (winter assessment). The final mean rested at 52.99 (spring). Assessments in PSF also demonstrated gains from 54.20 to 62.80 from the winter to spring data. Finally, School 3 exhibited a mean of 33.70 in the winter assessment that progressed to a mean of 49.50 by the spring in NWF.

The secondary results, revealed during the fall of the first grade year, also provide information regarding the achievement of kindergartners with regard to collaborative efforts. Once the variables of data-driven instruction and literacy coaching were removed, the students' success in the area of phonemic awareness did not demonstrate progress. Literacy progress declined in PSF and NWF among the experimental group.

#### Qualitative Analysis of the Interview

A structured interview was conducted with each of the four kindergarten teachers who participated in the experimental group (Appendix F). The interview provided qualitative data based on the teachers' responses with regard to the second research question: How do literacy coaches and kindergarten teachers use assessment data to inform instructional decisions?

# Literacy Coaches and Kindergarten Teachers Working with Assessment Data to Inform Instructional Decisions

The interview began with introductions and mention of basic interview guidelines. Participants were informed that they would be asked a series of questions relating to data-driven instruction in the area of phonemic awareness, literacy coaching, collaborative teaching and professional development. The interviewer remained silent while the participants responded to each question. If the participants hesitated or requested clarification, the question was repeated or a prompt was offered by the interviewer.

All four teachers interviewed were professional with their responses, demonstrated interest in participating in the interview process and had a clear understanding of each question. Each of the teachers agreed to be audio recorded and

provided contact information in the event that further clarification might be needed. Predetermined themes for the content of the interview questions are illustrated through the headings found below.

## Professional Experience and Education

The participants responded to the first two interview questions, "How many years have you taught kindergarten?" and "Can you describe the post-secondary education and training requirements you have experienced?" Among the teachers, their years of experience in the elementary classroom averaged thirteen and one half years. The range of teaching time for all four teachers fell between three and twenty-five total years of experience. Their combined experience teaching kindergarten averaged eight years. (Table 3-2)

All four of the kindergarten teachers had attained bachelor degrees. Two of the participants had also earned a number of professional learning credits through a local university. Each participant shared past attendance at a number of local and state-wide conferences highlighting developmentally appropriate practices, early literacy instruction, children's literature, and classroom learning centers. Additionally, the teachers reported having attended several yearly professional development sessions offered within their school district by local educators. The teachers' overall participation in conferences and professional development sessions averaged 15 experiences, to the best of their recollection.

#### Professional Growth

Question three related to professional learning and change; "Do you think the demands in your career will increase or decrease over the next five years? Why?"

Responses were consistent throughout the group with all four of the teachers agreeing that more professional learning experiences will be required. One participant expressed her belief that master degrees would become a requirement of new teachers. She stated:

I believe that over the next five years teachers will have to earn master's degrees and become experts of either primary or intermediate grades. I am aware of certifications shifting among universities to K-2 and 3-6 models. I feel that teachers will have to choose a focus and become master teachers of specific ages and developmental levels. (Teacher 1)

The participants all realized the importance of college preparation for new teachers and related it to their own experiences in the classroom. Two of the four felt sufficiently prepared in teaching young children to read from their college preparation. The other two teachers felt that their college preparation programs in undergraduate school did not prepare them entirely for the demands of teaching kindergartners. One of the two who felt ill-prepared in early literacy instruction related her feelings toward the question by stating:

I think that to meet the demands of the children I am teaching I need to further educate myself. I need to understand the emotional, social and developmental stages of my children. After experiencing the year of collaboration in kindergarten, I realize that I have a lot of learning to do. In order to meet the early literacy needs of my students, I need to fully appreciate emergent and early literacy behaviors and expectations. (Teacher 3)

Overall, the participants agreed that they believe demands in their career will increase during the next five years. Each expressed excitement about the professional

development opportunities becoming increasingly available in their own school district. Before, during, and after-school professional development sessions were offered at the time of the interview. Three of the teachers cited the availability of and access to the district literacy coach and curriculum director for professional development purposes. They commented favorably on the fact that increasing demands were matched with an increase in opportunities for professional growth.

Question four directly related to the discussion, "What changes have you seen over the past five years in this occupation?" The teachers collectively cited the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB, 2001) legislation. According to the group, in an era of high stakes assessments, Responses to Intervention (RTI), and inclusionary practices, teachers are growing increasingly responsible for progress and differentiated instruction. One teacher responded:

With NCLB I feel such a pressure to educate myself. I need to know the different assessment tools available and the procedures needed to conduct them. I need to understand the RTI process and become better in collecting the adequate paperwork for referrals. I need to learn about how to develop accommodations and modifications needed for many of my students. I need to enhance my gifted kids and support my struggling students while demonstrating AYP among all of the students in my room. With NCLB, the demands are increasing every day. I can't imagine what they will be in five years! (Teacher 3)

Another reaction noted similar feelings saying:

I am fairly new to kindergarten and while I have manuals and a general awareness of child development, I feel as though I have almost too much to learn. It seems to

me that with all of the federal and state changes, every teacher is going to struggle with feeling competent no matter how many years they have taught at a certain grade level. (Teacher 2)

Participants expressed their concerns over the changes that have been made on behalf of school, district, and statewide progress over the last five years. The teachers believed that many of the curriculum demands assessed in third grade have trickled down into the kindergarten year. One teacher remarked:

Our students just don't have a chance to play and grow in the classroom like they used to. We are constantly teaching curriculum. We don't have time to play or work on social skills like we did in the past. In the last five years, I feel as though we have brought the first grade curriculum to the kindergarten classroom and our children just aren't ready to learn what the state is requiring of them. I have kids ready for a nap at noon, not book handling skills. Developmentally appropriate practices in the classroom seemed to have been tossed out when NCLB came in.

(Teacher 4)

#### Collaboration with a Literacy Coach

Question five related to the impact of the literacy coach, "What was your initial impression about having the literacy coach involved in your instructional decisions? Were you a willing participant in the experience?" All four teachers discussed their willingness to become involved in the collaborative teaching year. They agreed that their initial responses were positive toward a literacy coach working in partnership with them on behalf of student achievement. One of the teachers articulated:

In kindergarten it is always great to get another set of eyes and ears on my students. Particularly in the fall, it is an asset to have another professional evaluating and coming to know my students. The children can be a handful when they begin kindergarten. I really looked forward to having another teacher in the room to assist me. (Teacher 1)

Another added:

I was confident that the literacy coach would have good ideas and could help me in creating a climate for learning early in the school year. I was looking forward to the co-teaching element. What I underestimated was her ability to assist me with instructional decisions for every child. The literacy coach was able to identify struggling students immediately and offered good advice. My initial impression involved the realization that I, as well as my students, would learn as a result of having her time in the classroom. (Teacher 3)

One teacher cited a specific example:

After learning that I had two students entering my kindergarten classroom able to read, one student with autism, and three students diagnosed with ADHD, I was very concerned about my ability to meet all of their needs. It was very reassuring to know that the literacy coach would help me not only assess, but also develop instructional decisions for my diverse group.

(Teacher 2)

## Data-Driven Instructional Decisions

Question six asked, "To what extent did you practice data-driven instruction prior to the coach's role in your classroom?" Two of the teachers stated the district adopted

reading program led their instructional decisions. The other two teachers responded that the standards-based district curriculum drove their instruction. While each teacher confirmed the use of a number of summative and formative assessments throughout the school year prior to the year of study, not one of the four utilized flexible groupings or differentiated instruction driven by data. One of the teachers explained:

In the past, if I assessed my students in shoe tying and one of them could not tie a shoe, I remediated with that individual child when I had time or had a sixth grader visit and practice the skill with my student. After a year of forming datadriven instructional decisions, I realize the need to identify individual or small groups of students and recognize their specific instructional needs. With data, I can acknowledge the need for one or more students, form a small group, and teach to the skill using multisensory learning.

(Teacher 3)

Another participant shared:

I really didn't pay that much attention to the district-wide assessment results in other school years. I knew what skills would be measured and made sure I reviewed the concepts prior to their testing. The students that scored poorly were admitted into Title I for remedial reading services. The results of the assessments weren't necessarily my concern in the classroom. I would say I practiced little, if any, data-driven instruction, especially in the area of phonemic awareness.

(Teacher 1)

After the results of this question were compiled, the common understanding was that although practiced to some degree, data-driven instructional decisions were rarely

determined for individuals or small groups within the kindergarten classroom. State expectations to cover specific curriculum objectives challenged the time which the educators could spend on specific skills in the classroom. The teachers expressed their reliance on the remedial reading services, afforded through Title I, to address the ongoing challenges among the varying at-risk population.

#### Professional Growth with a Literacy Coach

"What, if anything, did the literacy coach bring to your understanding?" was the seventh question posed to the classroom teachers. The conversation among the four teachers generated a list of skills brought to their understanding as a result of the literacy coach. They discussed the development of their general understandings toward the relevance of data-driven instruction, the need for student-driven instruction, the role of DIBELS assessments and procedures, the strategies in teaching phonemic awareness skills, the continuum of a reader, early literacy skills, the need for small group and differentiated instruction, and the components of balanced literacy. One teacher shared:

Before the literacy coach began working with me I believed that our reading program had all of the answers to my literacy questions. Now I realize that each child requires a different set of answers and I need to use a lot of resources and techniques to help me find ways to reach each student. (Teacher 1)

Another expressed:

Balancing literacy in the classroom requires me to get to know the needs of my students individually and collectively. I need to teach responsively in order to facilitate progress among my students. If I use data, different teaching techniques

and resources, and ask for help, I am able to reach out to my students with educated answers. (Teacher 4)

All of the teachers felt stronger in teaching early literacy skills as a result of the year spent collaborating with the literacy coach. While each teacher recognized her knowledge and experience in teaching kindergartners, they also acknowledged the additional understandings that a reading specialist with a focus in literacy had to offer. A participant explained:

I had no idea that phonemic awareness skills played such an important rolein early literacy. I had always taught the letters and their sounds at the same time and wondered why some children struggled with letter sounds. After the year together I felt supported in phonemic awareness and the continuum that needs my attention. Now that I understand the importance in developing phonemic awareness, I can give my kids a stronger foundation in reading. (Teacher 2)

## Teacher Involvement in Data-Driven Instructional Decisions

Participants responded to the eighth interview question, "To what extent were you involved in the data-driven instructional decisions for your students?" Mixed responses were elicited from the teachers. One teacher stated that the literacy coach determined all of her instructional groupings. She replied that finding time to review ongoing assessment data analytically was a challenge. Thus, she relied on the literacy coach for the decisions regarding instructional strategies and groupings, especially early in the year.

Another teacher explained that she altered her small group instructional decisions on a daily basis. With ongoing formative assessments, she felt confident rotating students among groups and individualizing educational decisions throughout the day and week.

The other two teachers agreed that they relied on the literacy coach to utilize the data in making instructional decisions in phonemic awareness. They were, however, actively involved in weekly conversations regarding the assessment and instructional decisions with the literacy coach. Teachers 3 and 4 felt as though they were able to offer ongoing observations and insights the assessment data didn't always document.

## Collaborative Efforts

Question nine related to the collaborative efforts between the classroom teacher and literacy coach. Specifically, "How would you describe the collaboration with the literacy coach?" Teachers made the correlation with professional development immediately. One teacher responded:

The literacy coach constantly connected theory and practice. She not only talked about what works in literacy, she demonstrated it. (Teacher 1)

Another replied:

The collaboration was so valuable. We discussed individual students which supported me in meeting with parents. She encouraged me and taught me research-based strategies that were effective. I felt empowered to try new things. (Teacher 2)

Another articulated:

I am a stronger teacher because of the experience. I learned a lot and value the collaborative community we established. The weekly meetings in which we all met as a team and the individual meetings created professional conversations that would never have occurred if we had not have had the year of collaboration. (Teacher 3)

The fourth teacher explained:

The sharing of specific strategies in phonemic awareness was beneficial. The multisensory learning approaches really improved their achievement scores. I really felt as though I learned a lot. (Teacher 4)

The discussion regarding the year-long collaboration centered on the value of the professional learning community that was established. Participating teachers found the professional conversations to be helpful. The teachers and coach met weekly to discuss data, students, skills, and strategies as a collective group. Their collaboration provided an opportunity for reflective study and critical thinking regarding individual students, assessments, and instructional decisions. Additionally, the teachers met individually with the coach for planning purposes. They were easily accessible to one another through email or visits and their constant interactions led to instruction based on student need. *Professional Development as a Result of a Literacy Coach* 

"In what capacity did the coach contribute to your professional development?" was the tenth question posed to the interviewees. Responses were parallel among the group as the teachers addressed the impact of the professional development that occurred. Particularly concerning phonemic awareness, the literacy coach had facilitated learning experiences with skills that had been lacking in their previous professional development sessions and resources. One teacher reflected:

I changed what I knew about phonemic awareness. I had always related it to letters and phonics. My additional research and experiences have changed the way I teach reading. I have made the connection from language to letters and can encourage my students in ways I never have before. The collaboration with the

literacy coach helped me to understand early literacy skills far better than the reading program. (Teacher 2)

Another teacher had a similar response:

I didn't realize how much I needed to learn. I have been teaching kindergarten for years but never looked as analytically at my children as I did this year. I learned their levels of phonemic awareness and worked them through the continuum. I have more students reading this year than ever. (Teacher 4)

Ongoing professional development offered by the literacy coach throughout the year included "team meetings" and "literacy links". At the weekly team meetings, ongoing data were presented and examined. Furthermore, individual students were discussed and a variety of instructional decisions determined. Literacy was linked to classroom as the literacy coach modeled strategies that addressed the targeted skills measured through ongoing assessments. Professional development sessions outside of the classroom occurred before, during, and after school to provide additional support in topics such as data-driven instruction, student-based instructional decisions, differentiated instruction, co-teaching, and phonemic awareness.

#### Data-Driven Instruction as a Result of a Literacy Coach

Question eleven examined, "How did the literacy coach impact your knowledge of data-driven instruction?" All four of the respondents viewed the experience with the literacy coach as a means for professional growth in the area of data-driven instruction. One teacher described the experiences as follows:

Anytime you attend a workshop and get new information it is a great experience. Yet, you can sit there and think that this is good stuff and like it, but then you leave and it gets left behind. You may think it was important but you don't have time to implement it. Workshops in data-driven instruction taught me a great deal but it was my time spent implementing it through the help of my coach that made it a true learning experience. (Teacher 4)

Participants agreed that the initial thought of data-driven instruction with kindergarten students did not sound appealing to them both professionally and personally. However, as a result of their work with the literacy coach and the observed student success, the teachers changed their initial reaction to the process. Data-driven instructional decisions became a valuable practice that demonstrated improvement among student achievements. A teacher describes the experience:

After each DIBELS assessment, I was able to look at the scores of each student and make instructional plans. Small or individual groups were easily identified in the data. The skill in need of improvement was there in black and white and the plan was written. For some kids, rate was an issue throughout the year. We worked on automaticity. For others, it was the ability to name letters or hear vowel sounds. The challenges were seen in their classroom performances but also visible in their ongoing data.

(Teacher 2)

Data-driven instructional decisions also became a systematic process. Each week, assessment data including DIBELS progress monitoring tools, teacher-made checklists, portfolio pieces, anecdotal records or informal observations were collected and analyzed by the literacy coach. At the weekly collaborative session, the data were reported and discussed. The weekly team meetings provided the teachers and literacy coach with

opportunities to discuss data and assessment information, form instructional groupings and decisions, as well as plan lessons accordingly.

#### Professional Growth with the Removal of Collaboration

"What are your impressions of your own professional performance as a result of the loss of the ongoing professional development?" was the fifteenth question asked of the participants. Based on the responses of the teachers, the loss of the collaborative community and professional learning experiences were considered detrimental. Each of the teachers stated their concerns with their lack of professional discourse each week. Without the organized and planned team meetings with the literacy coach, the kindergarten teachers felt somewhat disconnected professionally. They no longer knew the strengths and challenges of one another's students and found themselves isolated in determining instructional decisions. Recognizing the power of data to assist in their instructional decisions, the educators realized the need for professional conversations regarding decisions. Teacher 1 describes the lack of support by stating:

My time spent discussing my students validated my concerns. If I was seeing a student having difficulty in my room, I was able to talk with another professional and receive immediate feedback. I was able to look at issues of students and get ideas on what to try or do in my classroom to take them from point A to point B. The coach and other teachers knew my students and what they needed. Sometimes I just needed another point of view or perspective to get a handle on a concern. (Teacher 1)

Additionally, much of the research-based dialogue was constrained. The kindergarten teachers were no longer taking time to research, read, or learn new literacy strategies. One of the classroom teachers depicted the loss as follows:

During our team meetings together we shared beliefs, ideas, possibilities and our enthusiasm for teaching early literacy. Without our literacy coach facilitating the time and dialogue, we are disconnected. There is a disconnect from each other and our students. (Teacher 3)

Another participant added:

I don't feel like I am growing professionally this year. I need the ongoing reflective conversations to grow. I am going to enroll in a college class next semester to experience the learning I am missing. (Teacher 4)

#### **Overall Qualitative Conclusions**

Qualitative data were collected through an interview with the four classroom teachers participating in the experimental group (Appendices I-L). The interview data obtained from the transcripts were analyzed to identify major trends pertaining to how literacy coaches and kindergarten teachers use assessment data to inform instructional decisions. An interpretive analysis, manually coded, categorized the following reoccurring trends shared by the teachers:

- 1) Professional learning experiences
- 2) Collaboration
- 3) Assessment and data-based instructional decisions

With increasing NCLB mandates, the kindergarten teachers valued the professional learning opportunities made available throughout the school year that

directly impacted their teaching. The professional development experiences focused on topics directly related to early literacy and data-driven instruction which benefitted each teacher by strengthening their professional expertise. The teachers involved in the experimental group felt that they had improved their teaching as a result of the professional learning experiences afforded them during the year of study and support.

From the onset of the study, the collaborative efforts were welcomed and remained positive throughout the school year. While the teachers grew in their understandings of phonemic awareness and individual differences among their students, they also grew into a professional learning community. The kindergarten teachers recognized the relevance of the year-long conversations. The four teachers and literacy coach became reflective practitioners. Following the study, the teachers felt the loss of the collaborative community that had been established and the professional dialogue that had occurred. The lack of collaboration toward assessment, instruction, and curriculum decisions was felt to be detrimental.

Finally, assessments and data-driven instructional decisions were determined to be a trend for discussion among the classroom teachers. The teachers admittedly did not use data to drive instructional decisions prior to the year of study on a regular basis. At the conclusion of the kindergarten year the educators were confident in their knowledge of and practice with use of assessments to determine student-based instructional decisions.

#### Summary

In this chapter, quantitative and qualitative data were analyzed and presented in an effort to answer the research questions: (1) To what extent do kindergartners achieve
as a result of data-driven instructional decisions in literacy? (2) To what extent are the measurable effects on student learning a result of the daily collaboration of literacy coach and classroom teacher? (3) How do literacy coaches and kindergarten teachers use assessment data to inform instructional decisions?

The instruments used to collect the quantitative data for questions one and three included the three Kindergarten DIBELS Benchmark Assessments. The statistical techniques employed to analyze the data involved a one-way ANOVA and SPSS to determine comparisons. The quantitative research established that differences do exist among classrooms of children and teachers involved in a collaborative teaching experience. Student achievement data achieved statistically significant levels as a result of data-driven instructional decisions and a collaborative teaching environment.

Additional data were gathered through qualitative research derived from teacher interviews. The qualitative data presented answers to the second question of study. Interview data were transcribed and manually coded in order to identify any patterns and similarities throughout the responses. An interpretive analysis helped to discover deeper meanings within the interviews and three trends emerged from discussion surrounding the pre-determined themes. The thematic analysis assisted in organizing the presentation of the qualitative data and in demonstrating how achievement occurred as a result of the year of collaboration. Chapter Four presented the results of the data analyses. Chapter Five will present a summary, conclusions, and implications of the findings. The study will conclude with recommendations for future research.

#### CHAPTER FIVE

# CONCLUSIONS, IMPLICATIONS, RECOMMENDATIONS AND SUMMARY

This chapter will provide a summary of quantitative data and qualitative information related to early literacy achievement among kindergarten students. An overview of the study, conclusions, internal and external threats, implications of the findings, and recommendations for further research will be stated. The results of databased instructional decisions and literacy coaching for individual kindergarten learners' literacy success will be reviewed in Chapter Five.

### Overview of the Study

Reading instruction may well be the most politically charged topic in education (Tyner, 2004). The No Child Left Behind (NCLB, 2001) legislation presents concerns in relation to reaching young children with research-based assessment and instruction in the area of literacy. Although effective early intervention instruction has been recognized to prevent reading difficulties from occurring, there is still research to be accomplished regarding factors that influence student achievement in literacy. This study emphasizes the role of schools in utilizing data and ongoing classroom-based professional development to drive instruction that enables kindergartners to make progress in literacy.

This mixed-method study examined the effects of data-driven instruction and literacy coaching on kindergartners' literacy development. The researcher selected three elementary schools in which to conduct the research. Quantitative evidence of student achievement was demonstrated through phonemic awareness assessment data collected from 170 students. Comparisons and statistical progress of student achievement were

compiled utilizing Dynamic Indicators of Basic Early Literacy Skills (DIBELS) assessments and presented using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) to provide an analysis of the results. Additionally, qualitative research exemplified classroom teachers' perceptions regarding coaching and collaboration through an interview process. Specific outcomes and trends, as a result of the year-long experience, were defined.

#### Conclusions Based on Key Findings

This section summarizes the key findings and the conclusions drawn based on the research. The three areas of research include the following: 1) kindergartners' progress in literacy achievement as a result of data-driven instructional decisions in literacy; 2) measurable effects on student learning as a result of collaboration between literacy coach and classroom teacher; and 3) assessment methods used to inform instruction.

Literacy Achievement as a Result of Data-Driven Instructional Decisions in Literacy

To what extent do kindergartners achieve success as a result of data-driven instructional decisions in literacy? The quantitative data revealed that the kindergartners involved in this study were able to achieve significant progress in phonemic awareness as a result of data-driven instructional decisions. Chapter Four presented a number of tables demonstrating significant results supportive of the experimental group's achievement in phonemic awareness.

At the onset of the school year the kindergarten students did not demonstrate significant differences among groups in the phonemic awareness skills measured through the DIBELS assessments. Statistically, the control groups and experimental group shared comparable aggregate means (average scores) in letter naming fluency (LNF) and initial

sound fluency (ISF). The aggregate mean between the two control groups demonstrated 29.25 in LNF. The experimental group demonstrated an aggregate mean of 28.09 in the skill set. The range between the groups was equal to 1.16 in LNF. The control groups' aggregate mean with ISF was 15.30 and the experimental group averaged 17.50. A difference of 2.20 was noted between the means for ISF. Consequently, the range between the control groups and the experimental group was not statistically significant during the initial assessment period. It was assumed, however, that after the initial assessment, data-driven instruction would result in higher student achievement among the experimental group.

Following the initial assessments, among the experimental group, the literacy coach began a number of professional development sessions with the kindergarten classroom teachers catered to data-based instructional decisions in early literacy development. The literacy coach presented various assessment techniques, demonstrated methods regarding how to determine instructional decisions from assessment data, and modeled differentiated instruction with phonemic awareness skills in the kindergarten classrooms.

The teachers of the control groups did not have access to collaboration and professional learning supportive of data-driven processes, nor did professional conversations with the literacy coach occur among the control groups. A literacy coach, encouraging differentiated instruction based on data, was not made available to the kindergarten classroom teachers or students in the control groups as a result of a district decision linked to budgetary concerns. Considering the initial assessment results and the variable of data-driven instructional decisions in the experimental group, it was predicted

that the achievement scores of the experimental group would result in a higher mean in the skill sets of LNF, ISF, phoneme segmentation fluency (PSF) and nonsense word fluency (NWF) following the second assessment interval.

The second set of phonemic awareness assessment scores, including skill sets in LNF, ISF, PSF, and NWF, was collected in the winter of the kindergarten year among both the control and experimental groups. The aggregate means were calculated after data-driven instructional decisions were implemented in each of the classrooms in the experimental group. The range of LNF scores was .50 with the aggregate mean of the control groups equal to 45.19 and 45.69 for the experimental group. In the skill set of ISF, the aggregate mean demonstrated by the control group equaled 28.65 and the experimental group earned 33.60. A difference of 4.95 was noted. The skill sets of LNF and ISF did not demonstrate early literacy achievement gains among the experimental group. In contrast, the findings for the skill set of PSF demonstrated significant achievement gains between groups. The aggregate mean of the control groups was 30.80 and 54.20 among the experimental group, reflecting a difference of 23.40. Finally, in the skill set of NWF, the control groups averaged 31.50 and the experimental group's aggregate mean was 33.70. At this point in the study, student achievement in literacy as a result of data-driven instructional decisions was only achieved in phonemic segmentation. PSF increased among the experimental group, revealing a significant difference between groups in one of the four skill sets measured.

Subsequent to the data results from the second assessment interval, the classroom teachers and the literacy coach involved in the experimental group became reflective in their decisions regarding the improvement of student achievement in early literacy.

Alterations included a commitment to weekly team meetings and daily discussions, the implementation of additional assessments for learning, the use of data in determining small group and individualized instructional decisions, and the practice of differentiated instruction with multisensory learning strategies.

The range of the final spring scores for the three participating schools reflected significant statistical differences. Although this difference could be attributable to developmental progress and academic hours, the influence of data-driven practices and classroom-based professional development certainly contributed to the statistical gains. In the skill set of LNF, the range between groups reflected a 3.15 difference with the experimental group earning an aggregate mean of 52.99 and the control groups averaging 49.84. The skill set of PSF demonstrated a range of 18.66 with the aggregate mean among the experimental group at 62.80 and control groups with 44.14. The skill set of NWF reflected a range of 14.20 between groups; the experimental group was 49.50 and the control groups earned 35.30.

At the conclusion of the year-long DIBELS assessments in phonemic awareness, the highest mean scores in each measured skill set were derived from the experimental group. The variables implemented with the experimental group resulted in measurable success. The collaboration between the classroom teachers and literacy coach along with the application of data-driven instructional decisions reflected favorable end of the year results.

These findings support Marzano, Pickering, and Pollock's (2001) claim that teachers' use of data to determine instructional decisions can create a noteworthy influence on student learning. The teachers involved in the study responded to assessment

data and continually developed differentiated instructional plans designed to improve learning. Research by the Florida Center for Reading Research (FCRR, 2007) maintains the link between the use of data to inform instructional decisions and differentiated instruction. Practicing a number of assessments, reflecting on the individual needs of students, and determining the lesson structure that will be most effective in meeting needs for differentiated instruction are recommendations offered by the research of the FCRR. Tomlinson and McTighe (2006) explain that practicing differentiated instruction requires teachers to recognize students' needs and make modifications in how students are taught. The data findings in this research were intended to and succeeded in justifying datadriven instructional decisions in support of kindergartners' literacy achievement.

Measurable Effects on Student Learning as a Result of Collaboration with a Literacy

#### Coach

To what extent are the measurable effects on student learning a result of the daily collaboration between literacy coach and classroom teacher? According to the quantitative data results, teachers became increasingly prepared to support students in specific skills as a result of the collaboration with the literacy coach throughout the kindergarten year. The progression of achievement data from the beginning to the end of the year chronicled the results of the collaborative effort. The statistics previously described in this chapter demonstrate quantitative evidence regarding the improvement of student performance.

To provide further supportive research, a comparison of statistical percentages among the experimental group during the following school year was demonstrated within Chapter Four. The experimental group's progress, as measured in the spring of the

kindergarten year, was compared with their achievement in phonemic awareness skills during first grade, the following fall. According to the statistical comparisons, literacy coaches, working in collaboration with teachers, are placed in a situation designed to promote student achievement in early literacy skills. The measurable effects resulting from the year of collaboration were also demonstrated through a comparison of percentages presented in Table 23.

It was assumed that the experimental group could no longer maintain the high performance levels in the area of phonemic awareness without the support of the collaborative model. The students did not receive a formal education during the summer and experienced three months in first grade without the classroom-based collaboration. With the removal of the collaborative efforts between the classroom teachers and the literacy coach it was assumed that some growth would be documented in literacy achievement. It was theorized, however, that achievement would not reach the significant levels of progress noted at the conclusion of the kindergarten year.

In an effort to develop comparisons of progress in the experimental group, the participants were evaluated in the skill sets of PSF and NWF during the following year in first grade. During May of their kindergarten year, the students had scored at or above the predetermined benchmark level of 25 correct sounds each minute, with an average of 95% in NWF. This statistical evidence supported that only 5% of learners were below the benchmark expectation of 25 sounds correct each minute at the conclusion of the kindergarten school year. In November of the experimental group's first grade year, 80% of the population scored at or above benchmark for the skill set of NWF while 20% fell below the benchmark average (24 sounds correct each minute). Consequently, the

statistical decline of 15% between the kindergarten and first grade assessment intervals in the skill set of nonsense words was noteworthy.

Additionally, the PSF skills test resulted in increasingly dramatic effects, with 91% of the experimental group achieving at or above the benchmark of 35 sounds correct each minute in May of the kindergarten year. However, by November of the first grade year, the percentage of students at or above benchmark levels equaled only 62% with the identical benchmark goal. The statistical decline of 29% in students achieving at or above benchmark in phonemic segmentation was also significant.

Overall, the experimental group demonstrated a statistical decline in the literacy performance by the month of November in first grade. These findings may be attributable to an academic loss experienced over the summer months that researchers refer to as the "faucet theory" (Entwisle, 1992, p. 2). When the school faucet is turned on as schools are in session, children benefit in terms of academic achievement. However, when the school faucet is turned off during the summer reading proficiency can decline, particularly among economically disadvantaged children. As a result, the existence of the faucet theory could be a contributing factor among the experimental group's decline in literacy achievement.

The decline in the students' performance may also be attributed to the variables presented in this study. The loss of the collaborative efforts among four classroom teachers and a literacy coach by November of the first grade year, along with the lack of data-driven instructional decisions could have generated the measurable effect on students' literacy achievement. Consequently, it can be concluded that the removal of the variables including the involvement of the literacy coach and data-driven instructions

initiated a decline among student achievement scores in phonemic awareness.

Quite possibly, the lack of a formal summer educational program could have contributed to the decline among the scores. Additional consideration can be paid to the lack of professional development opportunities with the first grade teachers during the second year of study. Overall, the percentages demonstrated a decline in student achievement scores following a withdrawal of a formal education and the assistance in the collaborative, data-driven classroom experiences.

Children deserve the opportunity to receive quality reading instruction. Educators participating in professional development and accepting instructional assistance from literacy coaches are able to make progress toward advancing student achievement. Allington (2009) suggests that, "improving teachers' expertise about reading development improves the instruction they provide" (p. 102). Classroom teachers and literacy coaches, working together to use data in determining instructional decisions, are able to encourage students' ongoing classroom performances.

The achievement score decline associated with the experimental group between the month of May during the kindergarten year and November of the first grade year was noteworthy. The findings provided further evidence to support the hypotheses that collaboration with a literacy coach does have a positive measurable effect on student achievement.

#### Methods Used to Inform Instructional Decisions

How do literacy coaches and kindergarten teachers use assessment data to inform instructional decisions? To gain additional insight into teachers' perceptions regarding the year of collaboration, and to understand the details relative to the methods in which the literacy coach and kindergarten teachers used the assessment data, the qualitative measure of individual teacher interviews was employed. The sixteen interview responses, categorized into three themes, were monitored for common trends. The three themes supported the professional learning experiences, collaboration, and assessment coupled with data-based instructional decisions. The first theme included responses to questions one, two, three, seven, ten, thirteen, and fifteen, which addressed professional learning experiences. The second theme related to the collaborative learning opportunities and teaching environment, which corresponded with questions five, nine, fourteen, and sixteen. The third theme, regarding assessment and data-based instructional decisions, was supported by questions four, six, eight, eleven, and twelve.

Overall, teachers reiterated the importance and impact that a literacy coach had on their professional learning throughout the school year. Some suggested a district-wide adoption of literacy coaches working with classroom teachers. Others discussed the increasing value of the data-driven collaborative efforts in light of their perception of the needs of those students entering kindergarten. Professional learning supported the practice of classroom-based formative assessments to assist teachers in collecting tangible evidence of the levels of student performance.

#### Professional Learning Experiences

Common trends among interview responses supported professional learning experiences acquired through the year of working collaboratively with a literacy coach. This trend surfaced with the questions regarding the teachers' past experiences with ongoing professional development and recent encounters with the literacy coach involved in the study. One of the teachers compared her previous learning experiences to the

embedded professional development sessions with the literacy coach by stating:

I have attended many different classes and workshops in the past that gave me ideas and taught me things I didn't know. My experience working with a literacy coach for a year enabled me to actually understand the ideas and practice the things I didn't know. (Teacher 1)

According to Hughes et al. (2002), "high-quality professional development programs should be structured to include three components: support, reflection, and collaboration" (p. 25); all three components were included in this research model. The classroom teachers entered the year of collaboration with positive expectations, participated enthusiastically, and ended the year having learned a number of skills and strategies to strengthen their practice. During the interviews a teacher reflected upon the professional development she received in specific phonemic awareness skills. She noted learning in the skill areas of phoneme isolation, segmentation, substitution, blending and deletion. Another identified learning pertaining to the skills of listening and following directions, rhyming, and syllable segmentation and blending. A third teacher recalled the reinforcement of sentence segmentation and onset rime (the onset of a word is the consonant or consonants that precede the vowel, and the rime is everything after the vowel).

The interview results also detailed strategies that were offered throughout the year to address phonemic awareness skills in the kindergarten classroom. Teachers included information concerning a variety of differentiated learning techniques that utilized multisensory experiences. Instructional practices such as matching initial sounds with pictures or objects, segmenting syllables with pennies to represent the number of

syllables heard, and reciting rhymes with nursery rhymes and songs were among the strategies described. According to the teachers interviewed, they were assisted in offering students a number of experiences that were not previously implemented.

Professional development sessions included information regarding differentiated, data-driven, and student-driven instructional decision making. Training also focused on the balanced literacy framework and the instruction of phonemic awareness and early literacy skills. Research articles were reviewed periodically, professional discourse occurred daily, and modeling opportunities were provided regularly. Teachers grew reliant on the professional development sessions, advice, and a collaborative community developed throughout the year of study. Classroom-based learning experiences supported theory and offered opportunities for practice and feedback. The applications of learning praxis assisted teachers to extend their learning. The teachers involved in the study recognized their professional growth and valued the embedded learning experience. One kindergarten teacher noted:

This experience has honed my training as a kindergarten teacher. Prior to the time together I felt isolated. I made decisions based on what I had learned in the past and what I thought worked. I recognize the value in research-based teaching strategies now. I have seen the effects in my classroom. I understand the key role that collaborative feedback plays in making decisions, too. My decisions are supported by research and colleagues that have experience and knowledge. (Teacher 3)

## Collaboration

Another common trend identified through the interview questions supported the theme of collaboration. Lyons and Pinnell (2001) stated that coaches and teachers working together can reflect, analyze, and interpret students' work, build collective understandings of literacy learning, and encourage student growth. Students involved in the study demonstrated growth in phonemic awareness performances as a result of the collaborative efforts. The teachers and coach worked together, providing scaffolds of support to increase early literacy development. Utilizing differentiated instructional decisions in the context of small groups between the first and second assessment periods led to progress for the experimental group. Multisensory, individualized learning occurred more frequently between the second and third assessments. Teachers made research-based decisions on behalf of kindergartners that led to improvements in achievement data and classroom performances. One teacher explained the effects of the collaborative effort in stating:

My kids have made achievements in reading that have surpassed my expectations. Their literacy learning has been remarkable this year. I am amazed at the amount of independent reading my students are able to do as a result of the foundation we laid in measuring and analyzing their levels of phonemic awareness. (Teacher 4)

Communication became a valued practice in weekly team meetings and daily scheduled visits in the classroom. The literacy coach and classroom teachers shared in making contributions to one another's learning and professional growth through their active and responsive discussions. Fullerton and Quinn (2002) explain that professional development has been criticized for its lack of continuity and connection to the daily

work of teachers. The teachers involved in the study described the collaborative efforts with the literacy coach as an extension beyond what an isolated workshop would offer to mentored daily professional development praxis in the classroom. Recurring professional conversations and embedded demonstrations of instructional strategies catered to the specific needs of small groups and individual students. As the year of collaboration progressed, student achievement in phonemic awareness increased as well.

## Assessments and Data-Driven Instructional Decisions

Trends regarding ongoing assessments for learning and data-driven instructional decisions were identified throughout the interviews. The interviews revealed that at the onset of the study the teachers were skeptical of data-based instructional decisions in a kindergarten classroom. Although somewhat confident in conducting ongoing classroom-based assessments, the teachers were not as prepared for the language and practices supportive of data-driven instruction. The DIBELS assessment data initially presented somewhat of a learning challenge as well. One teacher described her feelings in saying:

For years I have been measuring student progress with informal checklists and have developed my own system to document students' strengths and weaknesses. The district-wide DIBELS assessments came across so clinical and statistical at first. (Teacher 4)

After the initial assessments were conducted, collected, analyzed, and interpreted, the discussions and detailed DIBELS reports assisted the teachers' learning and growth in the area of data analysis. The teachers were provided with support in learning the data management devices and recognizing the information needed in planning and forming instructional decisions. They were assisted in developing flexible groups of students for

instructional purposes. The teachers received sustained professional development that encouraged the use of data to determine differentiated instructional decisions and multisensory learning opportunities. The daily support offered by the literacy coach set a foundation for the teachers to then independently utilize data for instructional decisions. One teacher recalls:

I remember the day it all came together for me - the importance of the assessments. When I was able to look at a graph and use the information to form small groups and plan my lessons for the very next week, I got it. I realized what a valuable tool I have in data. (Teacher 1)

Marzano (2006) describes formative assessments as, "any activity that provides sound feedback on student learning" (p. 11). A clear pattern that emerged from the interview questions indicated that the teachers were utilizing and documenting assessment data every day. The kindergarten teachers documented observations on post-it notes and graphic organizers. They developed portfolios to showcase growth and created a number of checklists to document the skills taught and measured. Teachers recognized and responded to the information provided through the collection of meaningful, ongoing assessment data. Team meetings revealed the assessment findings and discussions supported the learning that had occurred throughout the week, as well as any learning yet to be accomplished. Anecdotal records and ongoing assessments served the instructional planning process well. Differentiated instructional plans were easily developed with data and research to support the decisions.

#### Internal and External Threats

Sample selection was the primary threat to the internal validity of the study. The student population and resulting sample was one of convenience. The researcher's professional association with the district provided accessibility to the students, teachers, and literacy coach. Results from a completely random sample might differ.

Additionally, the literacy coach and teachers involved in the study had a vested professional interest in the development of their learners' early literacy skills. Therefore, the classroom teachers were committed to the success of the literacy coaching experience, thus threatening the internal validity of the study. Negating the threat, however, was the professional commitment of the teachers in the control group. They also shared a vested interest in student achievement gains.

A final threat to internal validity rested in the experience and professional commitment the educators involved in the study shared. Previous years of teaching and educational experiences benefitted both the students and teachers involved in the study.

Sample size was the main threat to the external validity of the study. The small sample required the need for caution in generalizing the results. The findings from the study were limited to the involvement of 170 kindergartners in nine classrooms, among four teachers and one literacy coach, in one school district in northwestern Pennsylvania. A study with a larger sample base would allow the findings to be applied more generally.

#### Implications and Recommendations

This section discusses the results of the study and what the results mean for practicing literacy coaches and educators. Implications and recommendations are noted.

#### Implications of the Study

Based on the Review of the Literature and the results of this study, there are a few implications for further consideration. Proficient reading skills are not only critical for a successful school experience, but also to a literate life. Students with poorly developed basic reading skills during the primary grades are then placed at a significant disadvantage in subsequent grades. If educators are to accomplish the goal of cultivating lifelong readers, both teachers and administrators need to understand the benefits of using assessment and instruction to assist in developing literacy skills among young children.

Research has identified five critical components for effective reading instruction among young children; the National Reading Panel (NRP, 2000) identifies phonemic awareness, phonics, vocabulary, comprehension and fluency as essential areas in which children need to receive early literacy instruction. Among the identified areas, phonemic awareness or the awareness of segments in speech is one of the best predictors of success in learning to read. Central to the skill of phonemic awareness is the understanding that speech can be segmented into phonemes or individual sounds, syllables, and words. Through repeated exposure to language, songs, rhymes, literature, and alliteration that all promote word play, most children are able to acquire phonemic awareness (Morrow, Gambrell, & Pressley, 2003).

Some students, however, need additional assistance in understanding and identifying units of sound. Without phonemic awareness, the systematic relationships between print and speech are difficult to grasp. This challenge can lead to poor decoding skills, a necessary component in learning to read effectively. Teachers skilled in teaching reading and utilizing assessments for the purposes of data-driven instructional decisions

can serve the important purpose of diminishing reading failure. Studies have been conducted linking teachers' use of data to instructional effectiveness in the classroom (Strickland, 2005). The creators of the DIBELS assessments assert that its subtests are useful in predicting future reading difficulty and in facilitating early and accurate identification of students in need of intervention (Good, Simmons, & Kame'enui, 2001). Teachers educated to effectively use data from meaningful assessments are in the position to promote student learning.

Educators practicing purposeful assessments, such as DIBELS, can use data to establish differentiated instructional decisions based on the outcomes of the assessment for individuals or small groups of learners. Grouping of students with similar reading abilities helps teachers cater instruction to meet the diverse needs in the classroom (Morrow & Pressley, 2003). Collaboration between teachers and literacy coaches can be beneficial to adequately form and instruct groups of learners for the purpose of small group differentiated instruction.

Literacy coaches are in a position to present job-embedded approaches to professional learning. They are able to support teachers by providing ongoing training and support, facilitating data collection, and determining instruction and grouping decisions (Askew et al., 2002). The ongoing efforts of literacy coaches address the initiatives of NCLB in developing highly qualified classroom teachers able to improve students' literacy performance.

The responsibilities of a literacy coach vary among schools, districts, and states. This study provides evidence of a literacy coach working with teachers to facilitate change. Providing professional development opportunities, appropriate materials and

resources, and instructional strategies are among the many assets that a literacy coach can offer to teachers and students. An examination of this study can assist administrators in determining how to utilize literacy coaches effectively in the pursuit of facilitating professional learning and student achievement.

#### Recommendations for Future Study

Based on the results of this study, classroom teachers utilizing assessment data are able to determine instructional decisions to better serve the needs of students. In order to promote the research presented through this study, administrators need to recognize the relevance in the professional development and planning time necessary for personal and professional reflection which includes conversations among educators (Rooney, 2009). Professional development is vital in serving the needs of striving readers. Pinnell and Fountas (2009) stated, "The most vulnerable children need the best teaching and the key to providing it is ongoing professional development. Teachers need support to become more expert with every year of teaching" (p.14). Additional research regarding professional development designed to support ongoing assessments and data-driven instruction is recommended in an effort to advance literacy achievement among students.

Furthermore, there is much research to be accomplished regarding the effects of coaching upon student achievement. Despite the existence of research there is a need for empirical evidence regarding literacy coaching. Classroom-based professional development may appear productive, however additional research based on observation and experimentation could assist in determining specific factors that elevate effectiveness. The evidence that is present today acknowledges that coaches with proper training, including reading specialist certifications and years of experience teaching

reading in the classroom, have the potential to be highly influential professionals. Studies measuring the effects of coaching on student achievement in literacy could assist the growing numbers of striving readers. Qualitative research examining teacher growth, as a result of literacy coaching, may be beneficial.

Quantitative evidence may also be needed in support of literacy coaching. It has become increasingly important to continue to investigate effects on student achievement based on the collaboration of classroom teachers and literacy coaches. With the dissipation of the Reading First initiative propelled by NCLB, many teachers may find that support services, such as literacy coaching, are no longer available. Federal funding restraints affect teachers on district, school, and classroom levels. Many literacy coaches have been supported with Reading First or Title II budgets. There are a growing number of districts affected by the financial constraints of NCLB. Research in promotion or defense of professional development can only benefit teachers and students alike based on the findings of this study. Educators' ability to foster effective early reading skills is essential in providing educational and personal professional success.

Finally, this study was limited to one school district. It would be beneficial to replicate this study employing a longitudinal research model to investigate if data-driven instructional decisions and literacy coaching would be consistent with these findings. Replicating the study in a large school district or across several districts among different demographics could provide evidence regarding the consistency of the impact of data-driven instruction and literacy coaching on student achievement. An expanded population of students and teachers, along with additional grade level participation, might reveal alternative outcomes to this study.

#### Summary

The goal in conducting this research was to determine the measurable effects in literacy as a result of systematic and explicit data-driven instruction derived from ongoing assessments and collaborative teaching among kindergarten learners. Illustrating the effects among these variables will aid researchers with the purpose in data-driven instruction, the use of assessments, the relevance in literacy coaching and professional development and ultimately factors that affect reading achievement.

The foundation for the first research question explored the correlation between student achievement in literacy and data-driven instructional decisions. Over the course of a school year, literacy gains were expected among both the control and experimental groups of kindergartners. The research, however, succeeded in demonstrating higher achievement levels as a result of the benefits of data-driven instruction within the experimental group. Differentiated instruction catered to individual needs, as identified through the ongoing assessments, and resulted in higher academic progress in the area of early literacy when compared with the control group. Designing differentiated instruction as a result of information retrieved through frequent and varied data collection demonstrated greater academic gains throughout a school year.

The second research question was based on the premise that there may be a correlation between student achievement in literacy and the collaborative efforts between classroom teachers and literacy coaches. Coupled with the daily support from a literacy coach to assist with differentiated instruction, the data-driven effects and comparisons were noteworthy. The collaborative efforts also provided ongoing classroom-based professional development that impacted the teachers' performance and pedagogy. This

study demonstrated the impact of a literacy coach in accelerating not only student achievement, but also the professional growth that ensued among the group of teachers participating in the study.

The third research question examined the measurable effects on student learning as a result of daily collaboration between classroom teachers and a literacy coach. It was assumed during the second year of study, with the removal of the variables which contributed to the experimental groups' previous progress, a decline in student achievement differences may occur, validating the effects of data-driven instruction and literacy coaching as reliable factors in the acceleration of student achievement. Indeed, the research demonstrated that the removal of the specialized treatment consisting of data-driven, differentiated, and collaborative instruction decreased the phonemic awareness scores of the experimental group. The secondary results, revealed during the fall of the first grade year, succeeded in providing information regarding the achievement of kindergartners with regard to collaborative efforts. Once the variables of data-driven instruction and literacy coaching were removed, the students' success in the area of phonemic awareness did not the demonstrate literacy progress once achieved.

As Earl and Katz (2002) noted, the use of data for school improvement is no longer a choice; it is a must. Turning data into productive information is a multifaceted process, and the supporting research is still young. The research presented in this study addressed two vital components in this process including the use of data to drive classroom-based instructional decisions, and the use of professional development to help teachers efficiently become more informed, reflective practitioners.

As school systems move forward in making Adequate Yearly Progress, it is important to note the findings of this study. Data-driven instructional decisions, derived from a combination of summative and formative assessments, have the potential to bolster student achievement scores. A literacy coach working collaboratively with classroom teachers can assist in fostering data-driven instructional decisions as well as promoting residual professional learning. Literacy coaches and teachers are encouraged to recognize the improvements that can be made in student achievement scores as a result of professional learning experiences and collaborative efforts.

Additionally, administrators are persuaded to recognize the benefits of ongoing, embedded professional development in their school-wide improvement efforts. The study indicates that professional development provides teachers with enduring understandings that can assist in student achievement, particularly among kindergarten students. Knowledgeable teachers, supportive coaches, and informed administrators have the potential to develop not only individual but also school-wide improvements.

#### REFERENCES

- Adams, M. J., Foorman, B. R., Lundberg, I., & Beeler, T. (1998). *Phonemic awareness in young children*. Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes.
- Akhavan, N. (2008). *The title one teacher's guide to teaching reading*. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Allen, J. (2006). *Becoming a literacy leader*. Portland, ME: Stenhouse.
- Allington, R. (2009). What really matters in response to intervention: Researchbased designs. Boston: Pearson.
- Ankrum, J. W., & Bean, R. M. (2008). Differentiated reading instruction: What and how. *Reading Horizons*, 48(2), 133-146.
- Annandale, K., Bindon, R., Handley, K., Johnston, A., Lockett, L., & Lynch, P. (2004). Linking assessment, teaching and learning. Beverly, MA: STEPS Professional Development.
- Askew, B. J., Fulenwider, T., Kordick, R., Scheuermann, S., Vollenweider, A. N., et al. (2002). Constructing a model of professional development to support early literacy classrooms. In E. M. Rodgers & G. S. Pinnell (Eds.), *Learning from teaching in literacy education* (pp. 29-51). Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Barton, P. E. (2008). The right way to measure growth. *Educational Leadership*, 65(4), 70-73.
- Bernhardt, V. (2004). *Data analysis for continuous school improvement*. Larchmont, NY: Eye on Education.
- Blachman, B. A., Ball, E. W., Black, R., & Tangel, D. M. (2000). *Road to the code*. Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes.
- Black, P., & Wiliam, D. (1998). Assessment and classroom learning. Assessment in Education, 5 (1), 7-71.
- Blevins, W. (1997). *Phonemic activities for early reading success*. Jefferson City, MO: Scholastic.
- Burkins, J. M. (2007). *Coaching for balance: How to meet the challenges of literacy coaching*. Newark, DE: International Reading Association.
- Campbell-Hill, B. (2001). *Developmental continuums: A framework for literacy instruction and assessment k-8.* Norwood, MA: Christopher-Gordon.

- Carroll, K. (2007). *Conversations with coaches: Their roles in Pennsylvania reading first schools*. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.
- Center for the Improvement of Early Reading Achievement. (2001). *Put reading first.* (OERI No. R305R70004). Jessup, MD: National Institute for Literacy.
- Chappius, J. (2005). Helping students understand assessment. *Educational Leadership*, 63(3), 39-43.
- Chappius, S., & Chappius, J. (2008). The best value in formative assessment. *Educational Leadership*, 65(4), 14-18.
- Chappius, S., & Stiggins, R. (2002). Classroom assessment for learning. *Educational Leadership*, 60(1), 40-44.
- Chard, D. J., & Kame'enui, E. J. (2000). Struggling first-grade readers: The frequency and progress of their reading. *The Journal of Special Education*, *34*, 28-38.
- Commission on Instructionally Supportive Assessment. (2001). *Building tests to support instruction and accountability: A guide for policymakers.* Retrieved November 2, 2005, from <u>http://www.nea.org/accountability/</u> buildingtests.html
- Creighton, T. (2005). *Leading from below the surface: A non-traditional approach to school leadership.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Creswell, J. W. (1998). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions*. Thousand Oakes, CA: Sage.
- Dalton, S., & Moir, E. (1991). *Evaluating LEP teacher training and in-service programs*. Paper presented at the Second National Research Symposium on Limited English Proficient Student Issues, Washington, DC.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (1996). The quiet revolution: Rethinking teacher development. *Educational Leadership*, 53(6), 4-10.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). *Handbook of qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Depka, E. (2006). *The data guidebook for teachers and leaders: Tools for continuous school improvement*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

- Doubek, M. B., & Cooper, E. J. (2007). Closing the gap through professional development: Implications through reading research. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 42(3), 411-415.
- Dozier, C. (2006). Responsive literacy coaching. Portland, ME: Stenhouse.
- Dole, J. A. (2004). The changing role of the reading specialist in school reform. *The Reading Teacher*, 57(5), 462-471.
- Earl, L. (2003). Assessment as learning: Using classroom assessment to maximize student learning. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.
- Earl, L., & Katz, S. (2002). Leading schools in a data-rich world. In K. Leithwood & P. Hallinger (Eds.), Second international handbook of educational leadership and administration (pp. 1003–1022). Dordrecht, Netherlands: Kluwer Academic.
- Education Commission of the States. (2002). *Early learning and the early grades*. Retrieved October 9, 2007, from http://www.ecs.org/ecsmain.asp?page=/ html/issue.asp?issueid=37&subIssueID=203
- Entwisle, D. R., & Alexander, K. L. (1992). Summer setback: Race, poverty, school composition, and mathematics achievement in the first two years of school. *American Sociological Review*, *57*, 72-84.
- Feldman, J., & Tung, R. (2002, April). The role of external facilitators in whole school reform: Teachers' perceptions of how coaches influence school change. Paper presented at the meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New Orleans, LA.
- Felton, R. H., & Wood, F. B. (1992). A reading level match study of nonword reading skills in poor readers with varying IQ. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 25(5), 318-326.
- Ferrance, E. (2000). Action research. Providence, RI: LAB at Brown University.
- Fitzharris, L., Jones, M., & Crawford, A. (2008). Teacher knowledge matters in supporting young readers. *The Reading Teacher*, 61(5), 384-394.
- Florida Center for Reading Research. (2007). *Elementary reading coaches guide to a comprehensive assessment plan*. Retrieved November 12, 2007, from: <u>http://www.fcrr.org/assessment/pdf/coachesguide2005.pdf</u>
- Foley, D. (2007). *Building capacity among elementary teachers using data*. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.

- Forsten, C., Goodman, G., Grant, J., Hollas, B., & Whyte, D. (2006). *The more ways you TEACH, the more students you REACH: 86 strategies for differentiating instruction*. Peterborough, NH: Crystal Springs.
- Fountas, I. C., & Pinnell, G. S. (2006). *Teaching for comprehending and fluency*. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Fullan, M. (2001). Leading in a culture of change. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Fullerton, S. K., & Quinn, M. P. (2002). Teacher research as professional development. In E. M. Rodgers & G. S. Pinnell (Eds.), *Learning from teaching in literacy education* (pp. 119-134). Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Gandal, M., & McGiffert, L. The power of testing. *Educational Leadership*, 60(5), 39-42.
- Glaser, R. (1997, July). Assessment and education: Access and achievement. (CSE Report 435). Los Angeles: The Regents of the University of CA.
- Good, R. H., & Kaminski, R. A. (Eds.). (2002). *Dynamic indicators of basic early literacy skills (6<sup>th</sup> ed.)*. Eugene, OR: Institute for the Development of Educational Achievement. Available: <u>http://www.dibels.uoregon.edu/</u>
- Good, R. H., Simmons, D. C., & Kame'enui, E. J. (2001). The importance and decision-making utility of a continuum of fluency-based indicators of foundational reading skills for third-grade high stakes outcomes. *Scientific Studies of Reading*, *5*, 257-288.
- Griffith, P. L., Klesius, J. P., & Kromrey, J. D. (1992). The effect of phonemic awareness on the literacy development of first grade children in a traditional or a whole language classroom. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 6(2), 85-92.
- Guskey, T. R. (2003). How classroom assessments improve learning. *Educational Leadership*, 60(5), 6-11.
- Guskey, T. R. (2005). Mapping the road to proficiency. *Educational Leadership*, 63(3), 32-38.
- Hargreaves, A., & Fullan, M. (1998). *What's worth fighting for out there?* Williston, VT: Teachers College.
- Herman, J. L., & Baker, E. (2005). Making benchmark testing work. *Educational Leadership*, 63(3), 48-54.
- Hill, B. C. (2001). *Developmental continuums: A framework for literacy instruction and assessment k-8.* Norwood, MA: Christopher-Gordon.

- Hirsh, D., & Sparks, S. (1997). *A new vision for staff development*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Holcomb, E. (1999). *Getting excited about data*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Honawar, V. (2008). Working smarter by working together. *Education Week*, 27(31), 25-27.
- Houston, P. (2000). High-stakes testing overwhelmingly gets an "f". *American Association of School Administrators*. Retrieved July 19, 2000, from <u>http://www.aasa.org/edissues/content.cfm?ItemNumber=969</u>
- Hughes, M. T., Cash, M. M., Ahwee, S., & Klingner, J. (2002). A national overview of professional development programs in reading. In E. M. Rodgers & G. S. Pinnell (Eds.) *Learning from teaching in literacy education* (pp. 9–28). Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- International Reading Association. (2004). *The role and qualifications of the reading coach in the United States*. [Brochure]. Newark, DE: Board of Directors.
- International Reading Association. (2007). *Standards for reading professionals*. Retrieved July 2, 2009, from http://www.reading.org/styleguide/standards\_reading\_profs.html
- International Reading Association. (1998). *Phonemic awareness and the teaching of reading: A position statement from the board of directors of the IRA*. [Brochure]. Newark, DE: Board of Directors.
- Johnson, R. S. (2002). *Using data to close the achievement gap*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Johnson, S., & Donaldson, M. (2007). Overcoming the obstacles to leadership. *Educational Leadership*, 65(1), 8-13.
- Johnston, P. H., & Costello, P. (2005). Principles for literacy assessment. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 40(2), 256-267.
- Johnston, P. H., & Rogers, R. (2001). Early literacy assessment. In S. B. Neuman & D. K. Dickenson (Eds.), *Handbook of early literacy research* (pp. 377-389). New York: Guilford.
- Joyce, B. R., & Showers, B. (1980). Improving in-service training: The messages of research. *Educational Leadership*, *37*(5), 379-385.

- Joyce, B. R., & Showers, B. (1982). The coaching of teaching. *Educational Leadership*, 40(1), 4-8.
- Joyce, B. R., & Showers, B. (2002). *Student achievement through staff development*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Kaminski, R. (2007). Best practices in using Dynamic Indicators of Basic Early Literacy Skills (DIBELS®) for formative assessment and evaluation. Retrieved November 26, 2007 from DIBELS online: <u>https://dibels.uoregon.edu/</u>
- Kaminski, R., & Good, R. H. (1996). Toward a technology for assessing basic early literacy skills. School Psychology Review, 25(2), 215-227.
- Kemp, C. R. (2005). A comprehensive approach to adolescent literacy. *Principal Leadership*, 5(6), 22-27.
- Knight, J. (2004). Instructional coaches make progress through partnerships. *Journal of Staff Development*, 25(2), 32-37.
- Lashway, L. (2003). Data analysis for school improvement. *Research Roundup*, 19(2), 3-6.
- Leahy, S., Lyon, C., Thompson, M., & Wiliam, D. (2005). Classroom assessment minute by minute, day by day. *Educational Leadership*, 63(3), 18-24.
- Linn, R. L. (2005, April). Test-based educational accountability in the era of No Child Left Behind. (CSE Report 651). Los Angeles: The Regents of the University of CA.
- Linn, R. L., & Dunbar, S. B. (1991). Complex performance-based assessment: Expectations and validation criteria. *Educational Researcher*, 20(8), 15-21.
- Lyon, G. R., & Chhabra, V. (2004). The science of reading research. *Educational Leadership*, *61*(6), 12-17.
- Lyons, C. A., & Pinnell, G. S. (2001). *Systems for change in literacy education*. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Marzano, R. (2006). *Classroom assessment and grading that work*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Marzano, R., Pickering, D. J., & Pollock, J. E. (2001). *Classroom instruction that works*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

- McNamee, G. D., & Chen, J. (2005). Dissolving the line between assessment and teaching. *Educational Leadership*, 63(3), 72-76.
- McTighe, J., & Emberger, M. (2006). Teamwork on assessments create powerful professional development. *Journal of Staff Development*, 27(1), 38-44.
- McTighe, J., & O'Connor, K. (2005). Seven practices for effective learning. *Educational Leadership*, 63(3), 10-17.
- McTighe, J., & Thomas, R. S. (2003). Backward design for forward action. *Educational Leadership*, 60(5), 52-55.
- Moran, M. C. (2006). *Differentiated literacy coaching*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Morrow, M., Gambrell, L. B., & Pressley, M. (2003). *Best practices in literacy instruction*. New York: Guilford.
- National Assessment of Educational Progress. (2005). *State profiles*. Retrieved May 3, 2008 from <u>http://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard</u>
- National Association for the Education of Young Children. (1998). Learning to read and write: Developmentally appropriate practices for young children. *Young Children*, 53(4), 30-46.
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2003). *The nation's report card: Reading 2002.* Washington, DC: United States Department of Education Institute of Education Sciences.
- National Council on Student Development. (2001, October). *Revitalizing student development*. Summary report of the third annual conference of the National Council on Student Development, Tucson, AZ.
- National Education Association. (2005). *Accountability and testing*. Retrieved November 4, 2005, from http://www.nea.org/accountability/index.html
- National Institute of Child Health and Human Development. (2000, September). *Emergent and early literacy workshop: Current status and research directions.* Paper presented at the meeting of the U.S. Health and Human Services & U.S. Department of Education, Bethesda, MD.
- National Reading Excellence Initiative. (2000, December). *Teaching children to read: An evidence-based assessment of the scientific research literature on reading and its implications for reading instruction*. (NIH Pub. No. 00-4754). Washington, DC: National Reading Panel.

- Olson, L. (2002). Schools discovering riches in data. *Education Week*, 21(40). Retrieved November 2, 2005, from www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2002/06/12/40data.h21.html
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods (3rd ed.)*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Pennsylvania Department of Education and Department of Public Welfare. (2007). *Kindergarten: Pennsylvania learning standards for early childhood.* Harrisburg, PA: Pennsylvania Department of Education.
- Peterson, B., & Monty, N. (1999). Alternatives to standardized tests. *Rethinking Schools Online:* 13/3. Retrieved September 29, 2005, from http://www.rethinking schools.org/archive/13 03/assess.shtml
- Pickett, J. P., Pritchard, D. R., & Leonesio, C. (Eds.). *TheAmerican heritage college dictionary*. (4<sup>th</sup> ed.) Boston: Houghton Mifflin.
- Pinnell, G. S., & Fountas, I. (2007). *The continuum of literacy learning*. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Pinnell, G. S., & Fountas, I. (2009). *When readers struggle: Teaching that works*. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Pinnell, G. S., & Scharer, P. L. (2003). *Teaching for comprehension in reading, grades k-* 2. New York: Scholastic.
- Poglinco, S. M., & Bach, A. J. (2004). The heart of the matter: Coaching as a vehicle for professional development. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 85(5), 398.
- Popham, W. (2001). Teaching to the test? Educational Leadership, 58(6), 16-20.
- Popham, W. J. (2003). The seductive allure of data. *Educational Leadership*, 60(5), 48-51.
- Rainville, K. N., & Jones, S. (2008). Situated identities: Power and positioning in the work of a literacy coach. *The Reading Teacher*, *61*(6), 440-448.
- Reilly, M. A. (2007). Choice of action: Using data to make instructional decisions in kindergarten. *The Reading Teacher*, 60(8), 770-776.
- Riedel, B.W. (2007). The relationship between DIBELS, reading comprehension, and vocabulary in urban first-grade students. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 42(4), 546-567.

- Rock, H. M. (2002). Job-embedded professional development and reflective coaching. *The Instructional Leader*, 5(8), 65-73.
- Rodgers, E. M., & Pinnell, G. S. (Eds.). (2002). *Learning from teaching in literacy education*. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Rooney, J. (2009). This school is about kids. *Educational Leadership*, 66(8), 87-88.
- Routman, R. (2003). Reading essentials. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Sadler, D. R. (1989). Formative assessment and the design of instructional systems. *Instructional Science*, *18*, 119-144.
- Shepard, L. (2005). Linking formative assessment to scaffolding. *Educational Leadership*, *63*(3), 66-70.
- Showers, B., & Joyce, B. (1996). The evolution of peer coaching. *Educational Leadership*, 53(6), 12-19.
- Smylie, M. A. (1995). New perspectives on teacher leadership. *Elementary School Journal*, 96(1), 3-7.
- Snow, C., Burns, M. S., & Griffin, P. (1998). Preventing reading difficulties in young children. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Stagor, R. (2000). *Guiding school improvement with action research*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Stiggins, R. (2002). Assessment crisis: The absence of assessment for learning. Phi Delta Kappan, 83(10), 758-765
- Stiggins, R. (2003). Assessment, student confidence and school success. In A.C. Ornstein, L.S. Behar-Horenstein, & Pajak, E.F. (Eds.), *Contemporary Issues in Curriculum* (pp.197-207).
- Stiggins, R. (2004). New assessment beliefs for a new school mission. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 86(1), 22-27.
- Stiggins, R., Arter, J. A., Chappius, J., & Chappius, S. (2006). Classroom assessment for student learning. Portland, OR: Educational Testing Services.
- Strickland, K. (2005). What's after assessment? Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.

Tomlinson, C. (2003). Fulfilling the promise of differentiated classrooms: Strategies and tools for responsive teaching. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

Tomlinson, C. (2008). Learning to love assessment. Educational Leadership, 65(4), 8-13.

- Tomlinson, C., & McTighe, J. (2006). *Integrating differentiated instruction and understanding by design*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Torgesen, J. K. (2007). *Catch them before they fall: Early identification and intervention to prevent reading failure for young children*. Retrieved December 2, 2007, from <u>http://www.fcrr.org</u>
- Tyner, B. (2004). *Small-group reading instruction*. Newark, DE: International Reading Association.
- United States Department of Education. (1994). *Improving America's schools act of 1994* (No. H.R.6). Retrieved December 2, 2007, from http://www.ed.gov/legislation/ESEA/toc.html
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in society. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Walpole, S., & McKenna, M. C. (2004). *The literacy coach's handbook*. New York: Guilford.
- Yopp, R. H., & Yopp, H. K. (2000). Supporting phonemic awareness development in the classroom. *The Reading Teacher*, 54(2), 130-143.

# Appendix A

The Dynamic Indicators of Basic Early Literacy Skills (DIBELS) are a set of standardized, individually administered measures of early literacy development. They are designed to be short (one minute) fluency measures used to regularly monitor a development of early reading skills.

# Which skills do the DIBELS measures assess?

Measures of Phonological Awareness:

• <u>Initial Sounds Fluency (ISF)</u>: Assesses a child's skill to identify and produce the initial sound of a given word.

<u>Phonemic Segmentation Fluency (PSF)</u>: Assesses a child's skill to produce the individual sounds within a given word.

Measure of Alphabetic Principle:

Letter Naming Fluency (LNF): Assesses a child's ability to identify and name a given letter.

 <u>Nonsense Word Fluency (NWF)</u>: Assesses a child's knowledge of letter-sound correspondences as well their ability to blend letters together to form unfamiliar "nonsense" (e.g., fik, lig, etc.) words.

Measure of Fluency with Connected Text:

• <u>Oral Reading Fluency (ORF):</u> Assesses a child's skill of reading connected text in gradelevel material word.

(Good & Kaminski, 2002)

# Appendix B

# Description of the Initial Sound Fluency Measure

The DIBELS Initial Sound Fluency (ISF) Measure is a standardized, individually administered measure of phonological awareness that assesses a child's ability to recognize and produce the initial sound in an orally presented word (Kaminski & Good, 1996, 1998; Laimon, 1994). The ISF measure is a revision of the measure formerly called Onset Recognition Fluency (OnRF). The examiner presents four pictures to the child, names each picture, and then asks the child to identify (i.e., point to or say) the picture that begins with the sound produced orally by the examiner. For example, the examiner says, "This is sink, cat, gloves, and hat. Which picture begins with /s/?" and the student points to the correct picture. The child is also asked to orally produce the beginning sound for an orally presented word that matches one of the given pictures. The examiner calculates the amount of time taken to identify/produce the correct sound and converts the score into the number of initial sounds correct in a minute. The ISF measure takes about 3 minutes to administer and score and has over 20 alternate forms to monitor progress.
# Scoring Procedures for the ISF Measure

# **Sample Stimulus Pictures:**



# Materials Needed for Administration:

Benchmark 1

Examiner probe Stimulus pictures Clipboard Stopwatch Red pencil or pen

# Sample Examiner Probe:

Initial Sound Fluency

Short Form Directions		Initial Sound Fluency		
Make sure the long form of directions is readily available to clarify unexpected problems.		This is eggs, daughter, spider, leopard (point to pictures).		
Initial Sound Fluency		1. Which picture begins with /l/?	0	1
initial sound Fidency		2. Which picture begins with /d/?	0	1
This is mouse, flowers, p	illow, letters (point to each picture while	3. Which picture begins with /e/?	0	1
saying its name). Mouse Listen, /m/, mouse. Whic	(point to mouse) <b>begins with the sound /m/.</b> h one begins with the sounds /fl/?	4. What sound does "spider" begin with?	0	1
CORRECT RESPONSE:	INCORRECT RESPONSE:	This is hawk, bathtub, monster, sausage (point to pictures).		
Student points to flowers,	If student gives any other response,	1. Which picture begins with /h/?	0	1
you say:	you say:	2. Which picture begins with /b/?	0	1
Good, Flowers begins	Flowers (point to flowers) begins with	3. Which picture begins with /s/?	0	1
with the sounds (JU,	Let's try it again, Which one begins with the sounds (fll?	4. What sound does "monster" begin with?	0	1
		This is scissors, bell, cupboard, muscle (point to pictures).		
Pillow (point to pillow rillow What sound d	<ul> <li>begins with the sound  p . Listen,  p ,</li> <li>lear letters (point to letters) begins with 2</li> </ul>	1. Which picture begins with /k/?	0	1
ршож. т на зовна в	bes tetters (point to reacts) begin wan:	2. Which picture begins with /m/?	0	1
CORRECT RESPONSE:	INCORRECT RESPONSE:	3. Which picture begins with /s/?	0	1
Student says /1/, you say:	If student gives any other response, you say:	4. What sound does "bell" begin with?	0	1
Good, Letters begins with the sound /1/,	Letters (point to letters) begins with the sound IU, Listen, IU, letters. Let's try it	This is horn, tulip, robot, cap (point to pictures).		
	again. What sound does letters (point	1. Which picture begins with /k/?	0	1
	to tetters) begin wun?	2. Which picture begins with /h/?	0	1
Here are some more p	ictures. Listen carefully to the auestions.	3. Which picture begins with /r/?	0	1
		4. What sound does "tulip" begin with?	0	1
		Time: Seconds Total Correct:		
		60 * Total Correct Correct Initial Sounds pr	er M	linut

### Appendix C

# Description of the Segmentation Fluency Measure

The DIBELS Phoneme Segmentation Fluency (PSF) measure is a standardized, individually administered test of phonological awareness (Kaminski & Good, 1996). The PSF measure assesses a student's ability to segment three- and four-phoneme words into their individual phonemes fluently. The PSF measure has been found to be a good predictor of later reading achievement (Kaminski & Good, 1996). The PSF task is administered by the examiner orally presenting words of three to four phonemes. It requires the student to produce verbally the individual phonemes for each word. For example, the examiner says "sat," and the student says "/s/ /a/ /t/" to receive three possible points for the word. After the student responds, the examiner presents the next word, and the number of correct phonemes produced in one minute determines the final score. The PSF measure takes about 2 minutes to administer and has over 20 alternate forms for monitoring progress.

# **Sample PSF Probe:**

Benchmark 2 Phoneme Segmentation Fluency			
trick	/t/ $/r/$ $/i/$ $/k/$	cat	/k/ /a/ /t//7
that	/TH/ /a/ /t/	pick	/p/ /i/ /k//6
mine	/m/ /ie/ /n/	noise	/n/ /oi/ /z//6
coat	/k/ /oa/ /t/	spin	/s/ /p/ /i/ /n//7
meet	/m/ /ea/ /t/	ran	/r/ /a/ /n//6
wild	/w/ /ie/ /l/ /d/	dawn	/d/ /o/ /n//7
woke	/w/ /oa/ /k/	sign	/s/ /ie/ /n//6
fat	/f/ /a/ /t/	wait	/w/ /ai/ /t//6
side	/s/ /ie/ /d/	yell	/y/ /e/ /l//6
jet	/j/ /e/ /t/	of	/o/ /v//5
land	/l/ /a/ /n/ /d/	wheel	/w/ /ea/ /l//7
beach	/b/ /ea/ /ch/	globe	/g/ /l/ /oa/ /b//7
			TOTAL:

# Materials Needed for Administration:

Examiner copy of word list with phoneme scoring columns Clipboard Stopwatch Red pencil or pen Tape recorder (optional) **NOTE:** As the PSF measure is an auditory measure, the student has no stimulus materials.

# STANDARDIZED DIRECTIONS

### Setting the Scene:

1. Place the segmentation word list in front of you so that the student cannot see what you record.

### **Directions to Student:**

2. Say these specific directions to the student:

"I am going to say a word. After I say it, you tell me all the sounds in the word. So, if I say 'Sam', you would say /s//a//m/. Lets try one." (one second pause) "Tell me the sounds in 'mop'."

Correct Response:	Incorrect Response:
If student says, /m/ /o/ /p/, you say:	If student gives any other response, you say:
"Very good. The sounds in "mop" are /m/ /o/ /p/."	"The sounds in "mop" are /m/ /o/ /p/. Your turn. Tell me the sounds in "mop"."

"OK. Here is your first word."

# **Beginning Administration:**

3. Give the student the first word and start your stopwatch. If the student does not say a sound segment after **3 seconds**, give the student the second word and score the first word as zero segments produced.

### Score as You Go:

4. As the student says the sounds, mark the student response in the scoring booklet. Underline each **different, correct,** sound segment produced. Put a slash (/) through sounds produced incorrectly.

### **Presenting the Next Word:**

5. As soon as the student is finished saying the sounds, present the next word promptly and clearly.

### **Time per Sound:**

6. The maximum time for each sound segment is **3 seconds**. If the student does not provide the next sound segment within **3 seconds**, give the student the next word. If the student provides the initial sound only, **wait 3 seconds for elaboration** before presenting the next word.

# **Prompting Rule:**

7. If a student has done the examples correctly and does not respond correctly to the words, say, "Remember to tell me the sounds in the word." This prompt can be given once.

### **Ending Administration:**

8. At the end of **1 minute**, place a bracket (]) after the sound produced, stop presenting words and do not score further responses. Add the number of sound segments produced correctly. Record the total number of sound segments produced correctly according to scoring rules on the bottom of the scoring sheet.

# **SCORING PROCEDURES**

1. Discontinue Rule: If a student has not given any sound segments correctly in the first 5 words,

discontinue the task and put a score of zero (0).

2. Underline the sound segments in the word the student produces that are correctly

pronounced. Students receive 1 point for each different, correct, part of the word.

3. Put a slash (/) through segments pronounced incorrectly.

#### **Correct Segmentation:**

A correct sound segment is any **different, correct, part** of the word. For example, the sound /t/ is a correct segment of "trick", as are /tr/ and /tri/ (see rule 10). Examiner says "trick", student says "t...r..i...k"

Examiner says "cat", student says "k...a...t"

Word:	Student says:	Scoring Procedure:	Correct Segments:
trick	"trik"	<u>/// /r/ /i/ /k/</u>	4/4
cat	"kat"	<u>/k/ /a/ ///</u>	3/3

#### Schwa Sounds:

Schwa sounds (/u/) added to consonants are not counted as errors. Some phonemes cannot be pronounced correctly in isolation without a vowel, and some early learning of sounds includes the schwa.

Word:	Students says:	Scoring Procedure:	Correct segments:
trick	"turuiku"	<u>/// /r/ /l/ /k/</u>	4/4
cat	"kuatu"	<u>/k/ /a/ //</u>	3/3

### Additions

Additions are not counted as errors if they are <u>separated</u> from the other sounds in the word.

Word:	Student says:	Scoring Procedure:	<b>Correct Segments:</b>
trick	"triks"	<u>/V /r/ /V /k/</u>	4/4
cat	"skat"	<u>/k/ /a/ ///</u>	3/3

### **Articulation and Dialect**

The student is not penalized for imperfect pronunciation due to dialect, articulation, or second language interference. For example, if the student consistently says /th/ for /s/, i.e. /r/ /e/ /th/ /t/ for "rest", he or she should be given credit for correct segmentation. This is a professional judgment and should be based on the student's responses and any prior knowledge of his/her speech patterns.

#### **Sound Elongation**

The student may elongate the individual sounds and run them together and still receive credit as long as it is <u>clear</u> he or she is aware of each sound individually. For example, if

the student says "rrrrrreeeeeessssstttt", they would receive credit for 4 phonemes produced correctly, /r//e//s//t/. This is a professional judgment and should be based on the student's answer and prior knowledge of the student's learning. When in doubt, no credit is given.

WORD:	STUDENT SAYS:	SCORING PROCEDURE:	CORRECT SEGMENTS
rest	"rrrrreeeeesssstttt"	in let is it	4/4

### No Segmentation:

If the student repeats the entire word, no credit is given for any correct parts. Circle the word to indicate no segmented response was given.

WORD:	STUDENT SAYS:	SCORING PROCEDURE:	CORRECT SEGMENTS
trick	"trick"	IN IN IN IN	0/4
cat	"cat"	/k/ /a/ /l/	0/3

#### **Incomplete Segmentation:**

The student is given credit for each correct sound segment produced, even if they have not segmented to the phoneme level. The underline indicates the size of the sound segment.

WORD:	STUDENT SAYS:	SCORING PROCEDURE:	CORRECT SEGMENTS
trick	"trick"	<u>////r////k/</u>	2/4
cat	"cat"	1ki 1ai 11	2/3

### **Overlapping Segmentation:**

The student receives credit for each <u>different, correct, sound segment</u> of the word. Thus, /tri/ and /ick/ are both different, correct sound segments of "trick" and would receive 2 of 4 points possible.

WORD:	STUDENT SAYS:	SCORING PROCEDURE:	CORRECT SEGMENTS
trick	"triick"	iv ist iv iki	2/4
cat	"ccat"	<u>Iki lai ili</u>	1/3

### **Omissions:**

The student does not receive credit for sound segments that are not produced. If student provides the initial sound only, be sure to <u>wait 3 seconds</u> for elaboration.

WORD:	STUDENT SAYS:	SCORING PROCEDURE:	CORRECT SEGMENTS
trick	"tr(3 seconds)"	<u>////r/</u> /i//k/	1/4
cat	"ct"	/k/ /a/ <u>/V</u>	2/3

#### Segment Mispronunciation:

The student does not receive credit for sound segments that are mispronounced. Put a slash (/) through the incorrect sounds.

WORD:	STUDENT SAYS:	SCORING PROCEDURE:	CORRECT SEGMENTS
trick	"triks"	IN IN IN IN	3/4
cat	"bat"	Jet tat IV	2/3

(Good & Kaminski, 2002)

### Appendix D

# Description of the NWF Measure

The DIBELS Nonsense Word Fluency (NWF) measure is a standardized, individually administered test of the alphabetic principle - including letter-sound correspondence in which letters represent their most common sounds and of the ability to blend letters into words in which letters represent their most common sounds (Kaminski & Good, 1996). The student is presented an 8.5" x 11" sheet of paper with randomly ordered VC and CVC nonsense words (e.g., sig, ray, ov) and asked to produce verbally the individual letter sound of each letter or verbally produce, or read, the whole nonsense word. For example, if the stimulus word is "vaj" the student could say /v/ /a/ /j/ or say the word /vaj/ to obtain a total of three letter-sounds correct. The student is allowed 1 minute to produce as many letter-sounds as he/she can, and the final score is the number of letter-sounds produced correctly in one minute. Because the measure is fluency based, students should receive a higher score if they are phonologically recoding the word, as they will be more efficiently producing the letter sounds, and receive a lower score if they are providing letter sounds in isolation. The intent of this measure is that students are able to read unfamiliar words as whole words, not just name letter sounds as fast as they can. The NWF measure takes about 2 minutes to administer and has over 20 alternate forms for monitoring progress.

# Administration and Scoring Procedures for the NWF Measure Sample NWF Probes:

Probe	1 - Exami	ner Copy				п		1 64.	dant Ca		
boj	sim	uk	bod	naf	/	<u>P</u>	robe	1 - Stu	dent Co	<u>ppy</u>	
mik	lut	bil	fer	zel	/	b	юj	sim	uk	bod	naf
dap	nek	kog	pim	ret	/	r	nik	lut	bil	fer	zel
jom	fom	neb	vum	gim	/	ċ	lap	nek	kog	pim	ret
et	zik	dij	fek	pol	/	j	om	fom	neb	vum	gim
kej	rit	jul	bec	waz	/	e	et	zik	dij	fek	pol
	Tot	al correct	letter sour	nds (CL	S):	k	cej	rit	jul	bec	waz
Total we	ords reco	ded comp	letely and	correct	ly (WRC):	L					
Error	Pattern:										

**Materials Needed for Administration:** Examiner copy of probe; Student copy of probe; Practice Items; Clipboard; Stopwatch; Red pencil or pen

# **STANDARDIZED DIRECTIONS**

# **Setting the Scene:**

Practice Items	1. Place practice items in front of student (e.g., the "sim" and "lut" page).
sim	2. Place examiner probe on clipboard so that student cannot see what you record.
lut	

# **Directions to Student:**

Say these specific directions to the student:

"Look at this word." (point to the first word on the practice probe) "It's a make-believe word. Watch me read the word: /s//i//m/ "sim". (point to each letter and say sound and then run your finger fast beneath the whole word as you read the word). "I can say the sounds of the letters, /s//i//m/ (point to each letter), or I can read the whole word "sim." (run your finger fast beneath the whole word).

"Your turn to read a make-believe word. Read this word the best you can (point to the word "lut"). Make sure you say any sounds you know."

<b>Correct Response:</b> If the child responds with "lut" or with all of the sounds, say:	<b>Incorrect Response:</b> If the child does not respond within 3 seconds, or responds incorrectly, say:
"That's right. The sounds are /l//u/ t/ or "lut."."	"Remember, you can say the sounds or you can say the whole word. Watch me: the sounds are $\Lambda / / u / t /$ (point to each letter) or "lut" (run your finger fast through the whole word. "Let's try again. Read this word the best you can (point to the word "lut.")

**\*\***NOTE: The directions can be shortened by beginning with Number 4 for repeated measurement when the student clearly understands the directions and procedure.

# **Beginning Administration:** Place the student copy of the probe in front of the child.

"Here are some more make-believe words (point to the student probe). Start here (point to the first word) and go across the page (point across the page). When I say "begin", read the words the best you can. Point to each letter and tell me the sound or read the

whole word. Read the words the best you can. Put your finger on the first word. Ready, begin."

Probe	l - Examin	ner Copy	•	-		
Boj mik Map	sim lut nek	uk Vil kog	⊾॒॒ॳ् <u>fer</u> øim	naf xel ret	<u>10</u> / 14 <u>13</u> / 15 <u>10</u> / 15 (15	
et	zik	dij	fek	pol	/15	
kej	rit	jul	bec	waz	/ 15	
Total wo	Total correct letter sounds (CLS): <u>33</u> Total words recoded completely and correctly (WRC): <u>5</u>					
Error l	Error Pattern:					
frequently confuses b, d, and p.						
need	d more in	structio	n on thos	e lettei	r sounds	

### Beginning Timing: Start your stopwatch when student says the first sound or word.

### Score as You Go:

Follow along on the examiner copy of the probe and underline each letter sound the student produces correctly, either in isolation or read as a whole word. Put a slash (/) through incorrectly read letter sounds (see Scoring Rules).

# **Ending Administration:**

At the end of **1 minute**, place a bracket (]) after the last letter sound provided by the student and say, "*Stop*."

Count the number of letter-sounds provided correctly for the total score.

### SCORING PROCEDURES

**Discontinue Rule:** If a student does not get any sounds correct in the first 5 words, discontinue the task and record a score of zero (0).

**Correct letter sounds:** Underline the <u>individual letters</u> for letter sounds produced correctly in isolation and score 1 point for each letter sound produced correctly. For example, if the stimulus word is "tob" and the students says /t/ /o/ /b/, the individual letters would be underlined with a score of 3.

Word	Student Says	Scoring Procedure	Correct Letter Sounds
tob	"tob"	tob	3 / 3
dos	"dos"	d o s	3 / 3

**Correct words:** Use a single line under multiple letters for correct letter sounds blended together, and give credit for each letter sound correspondence produced correctly.

Word	Student Says	Scoring Procedure	Correct Letter Sounds
tob	"tob"	t o b	3 / 3
dos	"dos"	<u>d o s</u>	3 / 3

For example, if the stimulus word is "tob" and the students says "tob", one underline would be used with a score of 3.

**Partially Correct Responses:** If a word is partially correct, underline the corresponding letters for letter sounds produced correctly. Put a slash (/) through the letter if the corresponding letter sound is incorrect. For example, if the word is "tob" and the student says "toab" (with a long o), the letters "t" and "b" would be underlined, and the letter "o" would be slashed with a score of 2.

Word	Student says	Scoring Procedure	Correct Letter Sounds
tob	"toab" (long o)	<u>t 🖉 b</u>	2/3
dos	"dot" (3 seconds)	<u>d o</u> <b>y</b>	2/3

**Sound letter pronunciation:** Sounds pronounced twice while sounding out the word are given credit only once. For example, if the stimulus word is "tob" and the student says /t/ /o/ /ob/, the letter "o" and the letters "ob" are underlined. The student receives 1 point for the letter sound /o/ even though the correct sound was pronounced twice (a total of 3 for the entire word).

Word	Student Says	Prompt	Scoring Procedure	Correct Letter Sounds
tob	"t" (3 seconds)	"/o/ (point to b) What sound?"	<u>t</u> 💋 b	1/3
dos et	"do" (3 seconds)	"/s/ (point to e) What sound?"	<u>do</u> ≰ et	2/5

**3 second rule - word by word:** If the student is reading words and hesitates for 3 seconds on a word, score the word incorrect, provide the correct word, point to the next word, and say, "*What word?*" This prompt may be repeated. For example, if the stimulus words are "tob dos et" and the student says, "tob" (3 seconds), prompt by saying, "**dos** (point to et) *What word?*"

**Sound order - sound by sound:** Letter <u>sounds</u> produced in isolation but out of order are scored as correct. For example, if stimulus word is "tob" and the student points to and says,  $\frac{b}{o}$ ,  $\frac{b}{o}$ ,  $\frac{t}{t}$ , all letters would be underlined, with a score of 3. The purpose of this rule is to give students credit as they are beginning to learn individual letter sound correspondences.

Word	Student says	Scoring Procedure	Correct Letter Sounds
tob	"bot" (point correctly)	tob	3/3
dos	"ods" (point correctly)	d o s	3/3

**Sound order - word by word:** Blended letter sounds must be correct and in the correct place (beginning, middle, end) to receive credit. For example, if stimulus word is "tob" and the student says, "bot", only the "o" would be correct and in the correct place, for a score of 1.

Word	Student Says	Scoring Procedure	Correct Letter Sounds
tob	"toob"	tob	3/3
dos	"dosdos"	<u>d o s</u>	3/3 • <b>3 second rule - sound by sound:</b> If the student is providing individual letter sounds and hesitates for 3 seconds on a letter sound, score the letter sound incorrect, provide the correct letter sound, point to the next letter, and say, "What sound?" This prompt may be repeated. For example, if the stimulus word is "tob" and the student says, /t/ (3 seconds), prompt by saying, "/o/ (point to b) What sound?"

Word	Student says	Scoring Procedure	Correct Letter Sounds
tob	"bot"	<u>70</u> }	1/3
ik	"ki"	XX	0 / 2

**Insertions:** Insertions are not scored as incorrect. For example, if the stimulus word is "sim" and the student says "stim", the letters "s" "i", and "m" would be underlined and full credit given for the word with no penalty for the insertion of /t/.

Word	Student says	Scoring Procedure	Correct Letter Sounds
tob	"stob"	<u>t o b</u>	3/3
dos	"dots"	dos	3/3

Articulation and Dialect: The student is not penalized for imperfect pronunciation due to dialect, articulation, or second language interference. This is a professional judgement and should be based on the student's responses and any prior knowledge of speech patterns. For example, a student may regularly substitute /th/ for /s/. If the word is "sim" and the student says "thim", the letter "s" would be underlined and credit for a correct letter-sound correspondence would be given.

Word	Student says	Scoring Procedure	Correct Letter Sounds	
sim	"thim" (articulation error)	<u>sim</u>	3/3	
rit	"wit" (articulation error)	<u>rit</u>	3/3	

**Self-corrections:** If a student makes an error and corrects him/herself within 3 seconds, write "SC" above the letter and count it as correct.

**Skipping Rows:** If a student skips an entire row, draw a line through the row and do not count the row in scoring.

(Good & Kaminski, 2002)

# Appendix E

# Description of the LNF Measure

DIBELS Letter Naming Fluency (LNF) is a standardized, individually administered test that provides a measure of risk. LNF is based on research by Marston & Magnusson (1988). Students are presented with a page of upper- and lower-case letters arranged in a random order and are asked to name as many letters as they can. Students are told if they do not know a letter they will be told the letter. The student is allowed 1 minute to produce as many letter names as he/she can, and the score is the number of letters named correctly in 1 minute. Students are considered at risk for difficulty achieving early literacy benchmark goals if they perform in the lowest 20% of students in their district. The 20th percentile is calculated using local district norms. Students are considered at some risk if they perform between the 20th and 40th percentile using local norms. Students are considered at low risk if they perform above the 40th percentile using local norms.

# Administration and Scoring Procedures for the LNF Measure

# Sample LNF Probe:

Probe 1									
c	с	N	u	Q	М	u	h	s	i
n	b	e	Ν	F	f	0	a	К	к
g	р	k	р	а	н	С	e	G	D
b	w	F	i	h	о	x	j	Ι	к
x	t	Y	q	L	d	f	Т	g	v
T	V	Q	0	w	Р	J	t	В	х
Z	v	U	Р	R	Ι	v	С	Ι	w
R	J	m	0	z	D	G	у	U	Y
Z	у	А	m	х	z	Н	s	М	Е
q	n	j	s	W	r	d	s	в	Ι
r	А	Е	L	с	с	N	u	Q	Μ
TOTAL;/110									

Materials Needed for Administration:

Student copy of LNF probe Examiner copy of LNF probe Clipboard Stopwatch Red pencil or pen

# **LNF** Probes

Each probe is a random sort of 2 lower case

and 2 uppercase alphabets.

Lines help students keep their place.

Serial naming and fluency aspects of the task

are important.

# STANDARDIZED DIRECTIONS

### **Setting the Scene:**

1. Place the student copy of randomized alphabets in front of the student.

2. Place the examiner copy of randomized alphabets in front of you, but shielded so that the student cannot see what you record.

# **Directions to Student:**

3. Say these specific directions to the student:

"Here are some letters" (point). "Tell me the names of as many letters as you can. When I say 'begin', start here" (point to first letter in upper left hand corner), "and go across the page" (point). "Point to each letter and tell me the name of that letter. Try to name each letter. If you come to a letter you don't know, I'll tell it to you. Put your finger on the first letter. Ready?"

# **Beginning Administration:**

4. Say "Begin" and start your stopwatch.

# Score as You Go:

5. Follow along on the examiner probe. Put a slash (/) through letters named incorrectly

# **Keep the Administration Going:**

6. If a student stops or struggles with a letter for **3 seconds**, <u>tell</u> the student the letter and mark it as incorrect.

# **Prompting for Correct Response:**

7. If the student provides the letter sound rather than the letter name, say, "*Remember to tell me the letter name, not the sound it makes.*" This prompt may be provided once during the administration. If the student continues providing letter sounds, mark each letter as incorrect and indicate what the student did at the bottom of the page.

# **Ending Administration:**

8. At the end of **1 minute**, place a bracket (]) after the last letter named and say "*Stop*."

#### SCORING PROCEDURES

seconds on a letter, score the letter as incorrect,

provide the correct letter, point to the next letter, and

say, "What letter?" This prompt may be repeated.

For example, if the letters are "t L s" and the student

says "t" (3 seconds pass), prompt by saying, "L",

(point to s) "What letter?"

**3 Second Rule:** If the student hesitates for 3 Probe 1 c c N u Q 🎾 u h S n b e N F 0 a Κ f и с G pk e D р a wF i h 0 х b Y q L d f т v Q 0 в х w Z v U P R v С I w R JmO D G U Y z v Z v AmX z н s М Е n s w r d s в I q O M Α Ε L с Ν u с TOTAL: /110

Self Corrections: If a student makes an error and corrects him or herself within 3 seconds, write "SC" above the letter and do not count it as an error.

Incorrect Letter: A letter is incorrect if the student substitutes a different letter for the stimulus letter (e.g., "b" for "d").

**Omissions:** A letter is incorrect if the student omits the letter.

Similar Shaped Font: For some fonts, including Times, the upper case letter "i", and the lower case letter "L" are difficult or impossible to distinguish. A response of either "i" or "L" is scored as correct in that instance.

Articulation and Dialect: The student is not penalized for imperfect pronunciation due to dialect, articulation, or second language interference. For example, if the student consistently says /th/ for /s/ and pronounces "thee" for "see" when naming the letter "C", he/she should be given credit for correct letter naming. This is a professional judgment and should be based on the student's responses and any prior knowledge of his/her speech patterns.

Skipping Rows: If a student skips an entire row, draw a line through the row and do not count the row when scoring.

(Good & Kaminski, 2002)

# Appendix F

# **Interview Questions**

1. How many years have you taught kindergarten?

2. Can you describe the post-secondary education and training requirements you have experienced?

3. Do you think the demands in your career will increase or decrease over the next five years? Why?

4. What changes have you seen over the past 5 years in this occupation?

5. What was your initial impression in having the literacy coach involved in your instructional decisions? Were you a willing participant in the experience?

6. To what extent did you practice data-driven instruction prior to the coach's role in your classroom?

7. What, if anything, did the literacy coach bring to your understanding?

8. To what extent were you involved in the data-driven instructional decisions for your students?

9. How would you describe the collaboration with the literacy coach?

10. In what capacity did the coach contribute to your professional development?

11. How did the literacy coach impact your knowledge of data-driven instruction?

12. Following the year of collaboration with the literacy coach, did you continue to practice data-driven instruction?

13. Following the year with coaching, did you continue to use the instructional strategies modeled the previous years? What were they, if any?

14. What are your impressions of the children's performance as a result of the loss of the ongoing professional development?

15. What are your impressions of your own professional performance as a result of the loss of the ongoing professional development?

16. Do you wish to have the opportunity to collaborate with a literacy coach again? If so, why?

#### Appendix G

#### The Effects of Data-Driven Instruction and Literacy Coaching on Kindergartners' Literacy Development

Dear Kindergarten Teacher,

You are invited to participate in a study that examines student achievement as a result of collaborative teaching efforts and data-driven instruction. This research will examine the benefits in using assessments to identify individual needs and cater instruction accordingly. The following information is provided so that you may make an informed decision about whether or not to participate. You are eligible to participate in this study because you are a teacher who receives daily support from the district literacy coach. There are no known risks for you or your students associated with participating in this research. You participation is strictly voluntary. You are free to withdraw from the study at any time by simply contacting me via e-mail, telephone, or postal mail. Participation or non-participation in this study will not adversely affect you in anyway.

Initial participation in this study will require your agreement to work collaboratively with the literacy coach. You may be asked to participate in a 30-60 minute interview, which would be held at your convenience. No one, except myself, and Dr. Lansberry, will have access to the data. All assessment scores will be secured in a locked file cabinet for at least three years in compliance with federal regulations. When analyzing and presenting the assessment data derived from your students, I will identify them with a pseudonym in order to protect their anonymity. In addition, any publication or presentation of the findings from this research will exclude information that would identify you.

If you are willing to participate in this study, please sign the statement on the next page and return it to me. Please take the extra, unsigned copy with you. Your return of this letter implies consent. An executive summary of the findings from this study will be made available to you upon request.

Thank you for your time and consideration.

#### **Principal Investigator:**

Karen Tyler, D.Ed. candidate, Indiana University of Pennsylvania Professional Studies in Education 1163 Amy Avenue Erie, PA 16504 814-825-1379 klangford@hcsd.iu5.org

#### **Faculty Sponsor:**

Dr. Frank Corbett Indiana University of Pennsylvania Professional Studies in Education 122 Davis Hall 724-357-2417 fcorbett@iup.edu

This project has been approved by the Indiana University of Pennsylvania Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects (phone: 724-357-7730)

### Appendix H

#### Permission Letter



#### HARBOR CREEK SCHOOL DISTRICT

6375 Buffalo Road, Harborcreek, Pennsylvania 16421-1632 www.hcsd.iu5.org Administrative Office 814 897-2100 fax: 814 <u>897-2142</u>

Indiana University of Pennsylvania Professional Studies in Education Department Indiana, Pennsylvania

To Whom It May Concern,

Please accept this letter on behalf of Karen Tyler for her dissertation study in support of academic advancement with Indiana University of Pennsylvania. Ms. Tyler has been granted permission to utilize collective student data gathered through the DIBELS assessments within the Harbor Creek School District. It is my understanding that the research reflects two consecutive school years, 2005-2007 and will be subject to a quantitative study measuring the effects of data-driven instruction on the literacy development of our kindergarten and first grade students.

If you have any questions regarding this matter, please email or call me with the numbers listed below.

Sincerely,

Ph-62 Richard Lansberry, Ph.D.

Curriculum Director

one:	Fax:	Phone:	Fax:

-- -- -

Phone: Fax: High School 814 897-2130 814 897-2136 Jr. High School 814 897-2100 814 897-2121

Clark 814 899-0873 814 897-8723 Klein 814 899-4424 814 898-0225 Rolling Ridge 814 899-0816 814 898-1916

# Appendix I

### Interview with Teacher 1

### 1. How many years have you taught kindergarten?

I just finished my second year.

# **2.** Can you describe the post-secondary education and training requirements you have experienced?

I have a Bachelor degree in Elementary Education. I have attended once conference since being in kindergarten. It was a good one. It was BER's "What's New in Children's Literature?" and we looked at many different genres of new children books geared toward primary students.

# **3.** Do you think the demands in your career will increase or decrease over the next five years? Why?

I believe that over the next five years teachers will have to earn master degrees and become experts of either primary or intermediate grades. I am aware of certifications shifting among universities to K-2 and 3-6 models. I feel that teachers will have to choose a focus and become master teachers of specific ages and developmental levels. They are already requiring Praxis exams in the upper grades. You really need to be an expert in a field to do well on the Praxis tests. So, to me that's a lot to expect – a big increase in demands for our career as teachers. It is just a matter of time before the primary grades are affected by change. I think the certifications will help teachers feel better prepared for classrooms. I think I was ready for the classroom after college but still have a lot of learning to do.

The professional development sessions being offered and required of our district have increased. Our literacy coach and curriculum director are constantly offering sessions to help us to get our required hours. I do think that the new requirements for professional development will continue to change and increase. Luckily, in the classroom I don't feel actual career changes so much. And we don't have the learning curve of the PSSA tests in reading, math, science and soon, social studies in kindergarten.

# 4. What changes have you seen over the past five years in this occupation?

I think the biggest changes for teachers have been the testing, ESL students, inclusion, and NCLB. I know the kindergarten teachers across the district can't believe the curriculum they are teaching today, as compared to ten years ago. We are preparing kids for test taking skills and writing prompts in order for our district to earn more money. The increase in testing is quite a change. The accountability for federal funding is a change. Teachers feel a lot of pressure to have good scores. Principals and districts feel it too.

# 5. What was your initial impression in having the literacy coach involved in your instructional decisions? Were you a willing participant in the experience?

In kindergarten it is always great to get another set of eyes and ears on my students. Particularly in the fall, it is an asset to have another professional evaluating and coming to know my students. The children can be a handful when they begin kindergarten. I really looked forward to having another teacher in the room to assist me. I was very excited to have the help. With so many different needs, you really need another teacher in the classroom. It would be very nice to have the help every year. I think coaching should be put into place for every kindergarten classroom across the district, especially now.

# 6. To what extent did you practice data-driven instruction prior to the coach's role in your classroom?

I really didn't pay that much attention to the district-wide assessment results in other school years. I knew what skills would be measured and made sure I reviewed the concepts prior to their testing. The students that scored poorly were admitted into Title I for remedial reading services. The results of the assessments weren't necessarily my concern in the classroom. My day-to-day teaching didn't change as a result of test scores.

I would say I practiced little, if any, data-driven instruction, especially in the area of phonemic awareness. The core reading program has different assessments in phonics and alphabetic principle and the report card checklists gave me some assessment ideas, like beginning sounds. The report card checklist lists specific skills and I would assess them for mastery. I generally taught whole group instruction and the Title I teacher would serve individual needs of identified students.

# 7. What, if anything, did the literacy coach bring to your understanding?

Before the literacy coach began working with me, I believed that our reading program had all of the answers to my literacy questions. Now I realize that each child requires a different set of answers and I need to use a lot of resources and techniques to help me find ways to reach each student. The various assessment tools such as DIBELS also helped me to understand kindergarten expectations. The literacy coach helped me to learn how to use assessments and data. I work with assessments and data every day now. She taught me early literacy skills and the sequence in which they should be introduced. I learned how important modeled, shared, interactive and guided reading experiences were in the classroom.

I think that there should be literacy and math coaches available to all teachers across the district. I have attended many different classes and workshops in the past that gave me ideas and taught me things I didn't know. My experience working with a literacy coach for a year enabled me to actually understand the ideas and practice the things I didn't know. I learned about sentence segmentation, phoneme segmentation and isolation skills in addition to so many other ideas in phonemic awareness. I wouldn't have gained this much information without the year working together.

# 8. To what extent were you involved in the data-driven instructional decisions for your students?

In the beginning of the year, I really relied on the coach to make all of my learning groups. She could look at the data, my notes and just go from there. I didn't have the time or the ability to maintain the flexible groups. Finding time to analyze was a challenge for me. Now that I realize how important it is, I find the time.

I remember the day it all came together for me - the importance of the assessments. When I was able to look at a graph and use the information to form small groups and plan my lessons for the very next week, I got it. I realized what a valuable tool I have in data.

### 9. How would you describe the collaboration with the literacy coach?

The literacy coach constantly connected theory and practice. I would describe the collaboration with the word "connected". She not only talked about what works in literacy, she demonstrated it. The collaboration included helpful conversations and developed a professional community among all five of us. We had easy access to daily interactions with the literacy coach and with one another. Through our weekly meetings and daily classroom connections we were able to plan, talk, and share ideas and helpful thoughts. It really benefitted me to have the teachers with experience in kindergarten thinking about my students and listening to me vent.

# 10. In what capacity did the coach contribute to your professional development?

The coach gave me more training in early literacy that I hadn't had before. Especially in phonemic awareness, my coach prepared me for teaching the skills and strategies my kids needed. I had more professional training than ever this year. Professional development occurred every day. The coach working through classroom lessons, professional readings, conversations and formal trainings - all became a part of my learning.

The team meetings were important, too. The coach facilitated meetings each week for data and examining student growth. We had a student-based focus. It wasn't just about the curriculum or early literacy skills. We spent time thinking and talking about kids.

# 11. How did the literacy coach impact your knowledge of data-driven instruction?

The literacy coach was a means for professional growth in the area of data-driven instruction. Without my time with her, I wouldn't have looked at DIBELS or Metropolitan Achievement scores looking for much meaning.

At the beginning of the year, I looked at the big standardized tests defensively. I was comfortable with my ongoing classroom assessments but as my knowledge grew, I changed my feelings toward the application of the results of the tests. DIBELS data told me some things about the skills and performance results of my students. My coach taught me to look at data and results in ways that are meaningful.

# **12.** Following the year of collaboration with the literacy coach, did you continue to practice data-driven instruction?

I use ongoing assessments for learning and teaching decisions every day now. I use a lot of different assessments that give me information for groupings, lesson planning – short and long term. I use the DIBELS data too. It gives me information about my students' levels of phonemic awareness and really guides my planning.

# **13.** Following the year with coaching, did you continue to use the instructional strategies modeled the previous years? What were they, if any?

The skills I have listed on a bookmark that the literacy coach gave us and I use them in my planning each week. I check to make sure I have an objective that matches a skill that is repeated throughout the week. Some weeks I am planning for two or three phonemic

awareness skills within my groups. The strategies for teaching the skills I pull from the internet, the binder the coach made for us, or the Florida Center for Reading Research binders we put together last year. I have been buying some published books for ideas too.

# 14. What are your impressions of the children's performance as a result of the loss of the ongoing professional development?

I think that without the professional development and collaboration I am trying to keep my head above water. I really came to become aware of the need for professional growth and discussion. I miss the conversations and learning that we shared. I believe that every grade level would benefit from a literacy coach and wish that we could have the experience every year. Teachers need mentors acting as coaches to feed us. I think that without the ongoing support we are too independent in making choices for our kids. We need to get feedback to have a well-rounded answer to questions or concerns. I think that my kids fared better with the year of collaboration. I know their test scores went up. I know their confidence was higher. There were more pats on the back, the more eyes and ears watching and listening. I think I felt more confident to make decisions too.

# **15.** What are your impressions of your own professional performance as a result of the loss of the ongoing professional development?

My time spent discussing my students validated my concerns. If I was seeing a student having difficulty in my room I was able to talk with another professional and receive immediate feedback. I was able to look at issues of students and get ideas on what to try or do in my classroom to take them from point A to point B. The coach and the other teachers knew my students and what they needed. Sometimes I just needed another point of view or perspective to get a handle on a concern. I feel isolated and too independent in my decision-making. I need the experience or expertise to guide me as a teacher. I think all professionals need that reassurance, especially teachers. I need fed both professionally and personally in this job. I am hungry this year. I miss the learning.

# 16. Do you wish to have the opportunity to collaborate with a literacy coach again? If so, why?

Yes, I would like to see that happen. I want to reach all of the levels of my students and still have more to learn. Classroom management and balanced literacy still challenge me. The professional learning community is needed on behalf of myself, colleagues and students.

### Appendix J

### Interview with Teacher 2

### 1. How many years have you taught kindergarten?

I have taught two years in kindergarten.

# **2.** Can you describe the post-secondary education and training requirements you have experienced?

I have a bachelor degree. As far as education beyond that, I have only been to one workshop since I have been a kindergarten teacher. It was about learning centers and the presenter was reputable. Throughout my teaching career I have been to roughly four conferences. I have learned a lot about child development through the professional development sessions I have participated in. I've been to different district in-service hours but I wouldn't say those were training experiences. They always seemed more informational or program oriented.

# **3.** Do you think the demands in your career will increase or decrease over the next five years? Why?

I think the field of education will require more from teacher candidates. I think the idea of highly qualified teachers will interest many to receive extra certifications or concentrations. Teacher candidates will need specialized training in ESL and technology. Assessments should be, if it isn't, a huge part of their learning in higher ed. I didn't feel at all prepared in assessment and instruction. I didn't have an area of expertise either. I think that having an early childhood focus would have benefitted me in my kindergarten teaching.

The need for professional development hours will increase over the next five years. It already has been written in to our contracts. Our school district is really offering a lot throughout the year and summer to acknowledge the hours needed. In the last two years, they have really worked to get us to come in for professional development over the summer. The literacy coach and curriculum director have opened up a number of sessions. We have had access to the literacy coach for our own personal professional development but her sessions can work for others too.

### 4. What changes have you seen over the past 5 years in this occupation?

I am fairly new to kindergarten and while I have manuals and a general awareness of child development, I feel as though I have almost too much to learn. It seems to me that with all of the federal and state changes, every teacher is going to struggle with feeling competent no matter how many years they have taught at a certain grade level. NCLB has affected every grade. Even though our kids in kindergarten aren't required to take the state assessments, we feel the curriculum pressures. We are teaching our students to write to a math prompt, look at angles and measurements. I think that many of these types of expectations were put on students and teachers in the last year.

# 5. What was your initial impression in having the literacy coach involved in your instructional decisions? Were you a willing participant in the experience?

After learning that I had two students entering my kindergarten classroom able to read, one student with autism, and three students diagnosed with ADHD, I was very concerned about my ability to meet all of their needs. It was very reassuring to know that the literacy coach would help me not only assess but also develop instructional decisions for my diverse group. I was willing to participate. September and October are such challenging months in kindergarten. I was especially happy to have the help from the get-go. Kindergarten is unique in that you often don't have paperwork on a child. There isn't data or reports and children may have a number of issues that need attention. You don't know their needs until they are in your classroom. The collaboration with the literacy coach and other teachers really helped me deal with the special needs of my students.

# 6. To what extent did you practice data-driven instruction prior to the coach's role in your classroom?

I have used the report card, core reading program and DIBELS for my assessments. I make notes on checklists and keep track of points earned on certain papers. I even keep running records in the winter and spring. I have always kept portfolios and used ongoing assessments in the classroom. The summative and formative assessments have been guided by district expectations. Data always seemed like a reporting procedure.

The data from the assessments, well, I never really dwelled on them. If a child earned points or performed a certain skill, I documented it and moved on from there. We have a lot of curriculum to cover. If a child had trouble making achievements Title I was a service that addressed curriculum lags. The reading specialist and her aide spent time with the kids challenged. I didn't use data for grouping or individualized instruction much, if at all.

### 7. What, if anything, did the literacy coach bring to your understanding?

I had no idea that phonemic awareness skills played such an important role in early literacy. I had always taught the letters and their sounds at the same time and wondered why some children struggled with letter sounds. After the year together collaborating I felt supported in phonemic awareness and the continuum that needs my attention. Now that I understand the importance in developing phonemic awareness, I can give my kids a stronger foundation in reading. Our professional development sessions helped me understand and be able to teach skills like phoneme isolation, segmentation, substitution, blending and deletion.

The importance of small group differentiated instruction is another thing that the coach led me to understand. Early literacy skills are the foundation for reading and comprehending. Looking at assessment data and grouping students based on need can improve test scores. The improvements can lead to better reading skills. Another thing that the literacy coach brought to my understanding was the benefits of ongoing professional development. Throughout the year, I read articles and watched videotapes. I learned some best practices in reading instruction based on research. I was able to watch experienced teachers model lessons. My commitment to professional development has strengthened. I learned a lot.

# 8. To what extent were you involved in the data-driven instructional decisions for your students?

I would say I was very active in the weekly conversations about my students and groupings. I ultimately wanted to make the final decisions. I did rely on the coach for grouping choices because of the assessment data and instructional planning necessary for the literacy block. The coach handled the data efficiently and had the time to do it. She was able to set up assessments, collect data, and determine groups, especially in the fall and winter. In the spring, I really took off on the decisions made. I was able to attend our meetings with pre-determined lists and assessment data to share. I worked with assessments every day to capture performances and observations. I used data every day to help me with planning.

### 9. How would you describe the collaboration with the literacy coach?

The collaboration was so valuable. We discussed individual students which supported me in meeting with parents. She encouraged me and taught me research-based strategies that were effective. I felt empowered to try new things. Valuable conversations about kids and instruction were a constant. We had frequent interactions throughout the day and week and exchanged ideas. Our collaborative efforts paid off in the students' end of the year performance assessments.

### **10.** In what capacity did the coach contribute to your professional development?

I think I answered this in another question so you can cross-reference the other question pertaining to professional development if I skip any ideas. I became a stronger teacher in early literacy skills. I learned how powerful direct instruction can be when a child needs it. I also changed what I knew about phonemic awareness. I had always related it to letters and phonics. My additional research and experiences have changed the way I teach reading. I have made the connection from language to letters and can encourage my students in ways I never had before. The collaboration with the literacy coach helped me to understand early literacy skills far better than the reading program. I know about multisensory learning and how it can make a difference to a child. I used shaving cream and clay with my tactile learners. I used lily pads for hopping to segment sounds and hula hoops for jumping into sounds to blend phonemes. These strategies addressed my kinesthetic learners. My visual learners were given pictures and objects to match beginning sounds. My auditory learners played Earobics on the computer to work on their phonemic awareness skills. With our collaboration I really saw the benefits of multisensory learning with practical and fun learning strategies.

The professional development sessions offered really improved my practice. I am using data, teaching early literacy skills, using assessments, and reading a lot about this age level.

### 11. How did the literacy coach impact your knowledge of data-driven instruction?

After each DIBELS assessment, I was able to look at the scores of each student and make instructional plans. Small or individual groups were easy to pick out of the data. The skill in need of improvement was there in black and white and the plan was written. For some kids, fluency was an issue throughout the year. We worked on automaticity. Games with stopwatches naming letters, centers with timed challenges in matching beginning sounds and nonsense word readings were included in the plans. For other students, it was the

ability to accurately name letters or hear vowel sounds that was hard. They had isolated or direct instruction in letter naming, a few at a time. They practiced auditory discrimination with games on the computer or the stretching of sounds. The challenges were seen in their classroom performances but also visible in their ongoing DIBELS data.

Our time collaborating worked on addressing needs like the ones I described. We brainstormed strategies to acknowledge the skills they lacked. I used data to make these decisions. I had research and experiences along with the time collaborating to support my decisions. Data-driven instruction became my common practice. We took time in every team meeting to talk about and think about data. Our collaboration helped me practice data-driven instruction after collecting and analyzing results. The classroom lit links – the co-teaching helped me make sense of the team meeting discussions and learning. In our professional development sessions and team meetings we reviewed theory and really learned about data-driven instruction. The lit links put the theory to practice. I really changed my initial intimidation of the process. Differentiated instruction based on students' individual or small group needs was easy to plan for when using data.

# **12.** Following the year of collaboration with the literacy coach, did you continue to practice data-driven instruction?

I am still using a number of assessments every week. I don't look at the data and organize the testing information as often as I did in the past, but that's not to say that I don't use the data. When a child is following behind I know it. When someone isn't making the progress they should, I see it. I am using data and assessments for my instruction. I revisit concepts a lot for small groups. I am planning interventions for some students and their work with older students. It's tougher to run small groups as often as I would like without the help of a coach but data is definitely being used all the time in my decision-making.

# 13. Following the year of coaching, did you continue to use the instructional strategies modeled the previous year? What were they, if any?

Yes! We have actually been using the binder that we put together with our coach last year. I have also bought quite a few other idea books and log into fcrr.org a few times a month to give me lesson plans. I plan for specific skills using something I remember works or use one of the resources.

I can work on specific skills with multisensory learning experiences. Off the top of my head, I like to have the kids practice syllabication or sentence segmentation by pushing pennies. To practice rhyming we use songs or chants. The kids are using picture wheels for onset rime activities. We are using play dough and clay to identify beginning sounds. There are so many strategies to choose from. The phoneme segmentation, blending, and substitution exercises include a lot of language.

# 14. What are your impressions of the children's performance as a result of the loss of the ongoing professional development?

I am confident about this year. I think that I have been and will be able to continue to use what I learned to help my students. I am using assessments and data. I am working with my students in small groups and teaching early literacy skills in creative ways. I think that my students test results with DIBELS and Metropolitan tests will prove to be high again this year but wish that I had the guidance in getting there that I did last year. I really miss the time together.

I am definitely disappointed that I don't have the hands-on help I need for my students and wish that we could wind the clock back up again. I have my hands full and small groups are hard to manage with just one teacher working on skills.

# **15.** What are your impressions of your own professional performance as a result of the loss of the ongoing professional development?

The collaboration we shared was so important. I can be reflective about my assessments and instructional decisions but without the conversation with the other teachers and literacy coach, I don't feel that my choices and ideas are as well-rounded. I miss the collaboration.

This school year we are being offered a lot of professional development opportunities. I am anxious to begin the work with the other kindergarten teachers in learning new ideas.

I am using research-based teaching strategies. I am reading literacy-related professional books and am thinking about taking some classes. I would like to have another year of professional development that teaches me just what I would like and need to know.

# 16. Do you wish to have the opportunity to collaborate with a literacy coach again? If so, why?

Yes. Collaborative teaching is the best resource we can offer teachers and kids.

# Appendix K

### Interview with Teacher 3

# 1. How many years have you taught kindergarten?

Ten years.

# **2.** Can you describe the post-secondary education and training requirements you have experienced?

I have a bachelor degree in elementary education and a minor in science. Over the last few years I have earned PLS credits from Gannon University with college courses geared toward early childhood, reading, and developmentally appropriate practices. Throughout my career, my professional developments have ranged from guided reading to science curriculum writing. I'll bet I have attended over twelve. I believe in professional development. I have also participated in Earth Force training and sign language classes.

# **3.** Do you think the demands in your career will increase or decrease over the next five years? Why?

I think that to meet the demands of children I am teaching I need to further educate myself. I need to understand the emotional, social, and developmental stages of my children. After experiencing the year of collaboration in kindergarten, I realize that I have a lot of learning to do. In order to meet the early literacy needs of my students, I need to fully appreciate emergent and early literacy behaviors and expectations.

I think that undergraduate college programs play a large role in preparing teachers. The demands in my career have increased since I left college. In the next five years teachers better be graduating with a great deal of knowledge regarding assessment, instruction, reading and math. I did not feel prepared when I graduated and went into the classroom over ten years ago. With all of the pressures of NCLB, I can't imagine graduates will feel prepared, no matter what college they attended.

Professional development demands will keep increasing in the next five years. Highly qualified teachers and nationally certified teachers will need their credits, hours, and time spent learning. The expectations are there. We need training and time for learning. Our district is requiring more professional development hours since the passing of this contract. I think our next contract in four years will require even more time spent learning. Luckily, the district is also providing more time for professional development hours before and after school, during the summer, and in class. We have access to a curriculum director and to our literacy coach to help with ongoing professional development.

# 4. What changes have you seen over the past 5 years in this occupation?

With NCLB I feel such a pressure to educate myself. I need to know the different assessment tools available and the procedures needed to conduct them. I need to understand the RTI process and become better in collecting the adequate paperwork for referrals. I need to learn about how to develop accommodations and modifications needed for many of my students. I need to enhance my gifted kids and support my struggling students while demonstrating AYP among all of the students in my room.

With NCLB, the demands are increasing every day. I can't imagine what they will be in five years! There has been such a trickle-down effect into kindergarten. We are teaching first grade curriculum. Five years ago, our kids were in school half of a day and took naps. Now, we don't even have time to rest. We are too busy teaching content and not social skills. That is the biggest change; the shift to content and curriculum teaching – from social and developmental play.

# 5. What was your initial impression in having the literacy coach involved in your instructional decisions? Were you a willing participant in the experience?

I was willing to have the time together. I was confident that the literacy coach would have good ideas and could help me in creating a climate for learning early in the school year. I was looking forward to the co-teaching element. What I underestimated was her ability to assist me with instructional decisions for every child. The literacy coach was able to identify struggling students immediately and offered good advice. My initial impression involved the realization that I, as well as my students, would learn as a result of having her time in the classroom.

# 6. To what extent did you practice data-driven instruction prior to the coach's role in your classroom?

In the past, if I assessed my students in shoe tying and one of them could not tie a shoe, I remediated with that individual child when I had time or had a sixth grader visit and practice the skill with my student. After a year of forming data-driven instructional decisions, I realize the need to identify individual or small groups of students and recognize their specific instructional needs. With data, I can acknowledge the need for one or more students, form a small group, and teach to the skill using multisensory learning.

With reading, I practiced a standards-based curriculum using the Early Childhood Learning Standards. I used resources like our reading series and resources to help guide me. My assessments though, came from my own checklists or worksheets that addressed specific skills. I used both summative and formative assessments and I would take the data and transfer it to conversations with parents or report cards. I would plan differentiated instruction giving kids an extra chance at learning with peers or during practice centers but never had the focus that I gained with the coach.

Title I has always used my DIBELS, Metropolitan Achievement Tests, Kindergarten Readiness Test and classroom assessment data to form small groups of at-risk students. Now I can also use my data and develop plans accordingly.

# 7. What, if anything, did the literacy coach bring to your understanding?

The literacy coach really deepened my understandings about early literacy and assessment. She gave me additional research, resources and experiences with specific literacy skills. I focused on the continuum of phonemic awareness this year, for the first time. I will mess this up but we worked on listening and following directions, rhyming, onset rime, syllable segmentation and blending, phoneme isolation and deletion, phoneme substitution too. We worked with compound words and stretching sounds in ways we had never done before. There was a lot of learning done with assessments too.

We were challenged in coming up with weekly assessment measurements that captured the true abilities of our students. We really thought about the challenge in the summative assessments for our students. If we gave them ample opportunities, through a number of ways, to perform, sooner or later they did.

The multisensory practices were key. If a child couldn't spell a word, they could certainly demonstrate that they knew the sounds in the word by clapping the syllables or phonemes. The more they practiced through kinesthetic or verbal approaches, the more they could apply it to their written work. We had visual cues and auditory games that really reinforced all of their learning through so many venues.

# 8. To what extent were you involved in the data-driven instructional decisions for your students?

At the onset of the year, I had the coach collect and analyze all of my data. She put together groupings that were pretty flexible, week to week, surprisingly. I also relied on the coach for instructional decisions with phonemic awareness. I had a lot to learn and recognize and wanted to see how she developed specific skills and the strategies she used.

As the year went on, I was more comfortable making my own decisions with grouping and instruction, assessment too. Our weekly team meetings really helped support my growth and seeing the learning modeled with the literacy coach. Assessments became easier to develop and so the data became easier to collect and analyze. By the end of the year, I shared observations in addition to all of my paperwork and felt much more confident about using data.

# 9. How would you describe the collaboration with the literacy coach?

I am a stronger teacher because of the experience. I learned a lot and value the collaborative community we established. The weekly meetings in which we all met as a team and the individual meetings created professional conversations that would never have occurred if we had not have had the year of collaboration. We gave important feedback from one another and to each other. The year of collaboration was very worthwhile.

# 10. In what capacity did the coach contribute to your professional development?

This experience has honed my training as a kindergarten teacher. Prior to the time together I felt isolated. I made decisions based on what I had learned in the past and what I thought worked. I recognize the value in research-based teaching strategies now. I have seen the effects in my classroom. I understand the key role that collaborative feedback plays in making decisions, too. My decisions are supported by research and colleagues that have experience and knowledge. The team meetings each week and lit links in the classroom each day were priceless learning experiences. The professional development sessions really picked up where my college career left off in making me a stronger teacher. I learned about phonemic awareness skills which is not a subject that you can find professional development on in this state very easily. Sure there are some venues but they are usually trying to sell you something. The professional development we received was ours. It met our specific needs.

# **11. How did the literacy coach impact your knowledge of data-driven instruction?** Data-driven instruction has been such a buzz word for the last few years. Before our time working collaboratively I had the impression that DDI was for grades 4,5,6. It sounded more intermediate.

The literacy coach really held my hand in helping me to understand and gain professional growth in the area of data-driven instruction. I changed my thinking after our first professional development session and the team meetings. We discussed data every day and made it seem like something very student-driven. In fact, that was the title of one of the professional development sessions, "Student-Driven Instructional Decisions".

# 12. Following the year of collaboration with the literacy coach, did you continue to practice data-driven instruction?

After the year of collaboration I joined my school's data team. I practice data-driven decision making every day and have shared a lot of what I have learned with others. I have joked and said that I am offering "DDI for Dummies".

I have created and am still creating a list of skills for every kindergarten teacher with some recommended assessments to measure students' performances. I am very interested in this topic. It has become a district-wide initiative for these data teams to spread the ideas within each school and I am really working hard to share all that I have learned.

# 13. Following the year of coaching, did you continue to use the instructional strategies modeled the previous year? What were they, if any?

This fall I am practicing phonemic awareness and phonics strategies every day. I have a little recipe box with index cards that I pull from to help me plan for my groups. I put together the note cards throughout last year and over the summer with ideas that I saw the coach model or ones that I found worked for me. I also have the phonemic awareness binder that our coach left behind to remind me of strategies that worked and can go online to hunt for other ideas. Some of my favorite strategies acknowledge the multisensory learning techniques. Penny pushes to show syllables, shaving cream printing to show initial sounds heard, clapping sounds, stomping words, and shaking pompons to the number of sounds heard in a word. Using wiki sticks to form letters, creating Dr. Seuss books to represent nonsense words, and mixing up compound words are some of my favorites. We hop, draw, step, and slide sounds and words all the time.

# 14. What are your impressions of the children's performance as a result of the loss of the ongoing professional development?

We knew it was too good to be true. How can a district afford to give instruction to a specific group of teachers and students year after year? It's disappointing that we lost our coach. Shouldn't districts be trying to build capacity? Isn't that what our year of learning was about? Our job is to keep up the test scores by doing what we did last year ... best practices. The only factor they don't consider is that we need an extra set of hands and eyes to do what we did. To really make learning happen for all kids we need smaller groups. That means we need more teachers.

I would like to think that I will be able to keep up my kids test scores and performance levels this year with all of the professional development I have had but I'm nervous. I am

confident in myself and what I know but it is going to be tough to compete with last year. I am missing the collaborative effort and the constant learning that we shared. We became our own little classroom of teachers.

# **15.** What are your impressions of your own professional performance as a result of the loss of the ongoing professional development?

At our team meetings together we shared beliefs, ideas, possibilities and our enthusiasm for teaching early literacy. Without our literacy coach facilitating the time and dialogue, we are disconnected. There is a disconnect from each other and our students. I am worried about missing out on new ideas and current research. It is tough to take time to sort through research readings and journal articles to find something applicable to my classroom. The coach did that regularly because she had the time to find us what we needed. I am falling behind in my collaborative efforts to continue working with my kindergarten colleagues and probably missing some research and ideas that would help me in my classroom.

# 16. Do you wish to have the opportunity to collaborate with a literacy coach again? If so, why?

Yes, I think that the time spent with the literacy coach provided an assurance to student achievement. I think the professional development, collaboration and data-driven instruction really benefitted us as professionals and gave the kids what they needed.

# Appendix L

### Interview with Teacher 4

# 1. How many years have you taught kindergarten?

Twenty years.

# **2.** Can you describe the post-secondary education and training requirements you have experienced?

I have a bachelor degree and almost the equivalence of a master degree. My postsecondary education has been through both Gannon University and Edinboro University courses. I have many courses related to early childhood and developmentally appropriate practices. I have enjoyed courses that emphasize play and social development. I have averaged two professional developmental experiences each year in my career. That makes over twenty post-secondary learning moments - at least.

# **3.** Do you think the demands in your career will increase or decrease over the next five years? Why?

Oh, there are always increased expectations for teachers. I think we will be teaching yearround one day with 1/3 of our time in professional development. From committees to curriculum writing the demands have grown especially since NCLB. The more districts feel the heat from the government, the more heat we feel in the classroom; teachers and students alike. Colleges are even having to increase their demands on students.

# 4. What changes have you seen over the past 5 years in this occupation?

Our students just don't have a chance to play and grow in the classroom like they used to. We are constantly teaching curriculum. They don't have time to play or work on social skills like in the past. In the last five years, I feel as though we have brought the first grade curriculum to the kindergarten classroom and our children just aren't ready to learn what the state is requiring of them. I have kids ready for a nap at noon, not book handling skills. Developmentally appropriate practices in the classroom seemed to have been tossed out when NCLB came in. The trickle-down effect from the PSSAs in third grade is staggering. Our kids are learning content skills, not life skills.

# **5.** What was your initial impression in having the literacy coach involved in your instructional decisions? Were you a willing participant in the experience?

I had a positive outlook on the whole experience. Any opportunity to have another perspective on my classroom, students, teaching I welcome. I have had math specialists in and the speech teacher. Title I teachers and aides are also welcome. I was anxious to begin the year with the coach.

# 6. To what extent did you practice data-driven instruction prior to the coach's role in your classroom?

My kids have made achievements in reading that have surpassed my expectations. Their literacy learning has been remarkable this year. I am amazed at the amount of independent reading my students are able to do as a result of the foundation we laid in measuring and analyzing their levels of phonemic awareness.

The Early Learning Standards acknowledge phonemic awareness and pretty much just list the skills or ideas. This year of training in looking at phonemic awareness assessments and data really did much more than the list of standards did for me. I didn't use data in my instructional decisions. I just acknowledged the curriculum requirements or the standards noted. I was able to move from whole group instruction to small group and individual lessons. I had not done that in the past – worked with data that way.

### 7. What, if anything, did the literacy coach bring to your understanding?

Balancing literacy in the classroom requires me to get to know the needs of my students individually and collectively. I need to teach responsively in order to facilitate progress among my students. If I use data, different teaching techniques and resources, and ask for help, I am able to reach out to my students with educated answers. I can practice student-driven choices and adjust groupings as a result of the data I have collected. These are things that I had not done before the coach intervened.

For years I have been measuring student progress with informal checklists and have developed my own system to document students' strengths and weaknesses. The district-wide DIBELS assessments came across so clinical and statistical at first. The coach really helped me to see the relevance in data and wise or well-designed assessments.

My early reading skills have really been refined. I have a more contemporary look at literacy. Let's face it, I like the Letter People. I believe in the good they can do for kids and have seen them work their magic for years. It's hard to let go of something that you know works. But, the coach has opened my eyes to balanced literacy and the importance of guided, shared, interactive and modeled reading time. I have always practiced those ideas but didn't call them or put the value on them that I do now. Independent reading really grew on me by the end of the year. I used to take an entire year to introduce the Letter People. After the year with the coach I was working on all the components of balanced literacy and had the Letter People all displayed and introduced by Christmas. We did so much work in phonemic awareness and phonics that it was natural. The letters needed to be out. The balanced literacy needed the letters to be introduced to support the kids writing and reading. I guess I the coach really supported my literacy learning, instruction and assessment practices through year-long professional development.

# **8.** To what extent were you involved in the data-driven instructional decisions for your students?

I embraced the data-driven decision making from the beginning. I changed my small groups each week, giving authenticity not just lip service to the idea of flexible groups. I wanted to give kids the chance to work with a variety of students and make friends. I really used the opportunity to work with small groups as a social group too. I found myself sometimes pairing up students in the same group with differing ability levels too. I wanted to have kids act as mentors and step up their role as leaders in the classroom. I used a lot of sources of information in doing so. (I made) notes on social and emotional tendencies as well as abilities. (My students became) not just leaders but friends that help others. I mixed up the groups as often as I could. I used data and I was helped by the coach in doing so.

### 9. How would you describe the collaboration with the literacy coach?

The collaboration was so valuable. I have mentored over ten teachers throughout the year. I think that this experience made me feel mentored for once, by the coach and by my colleagues. We were really able to help one another out this past year. I learned from them, they learned from me. It was such a give and take. The coach really challenged us to think about students analytically, about our classroom routines and decisions.

The sharing of specific strategies in phonemic awareness was beneficial; the balanced literacy support and assessment tools. The multisensory learning approaches really improved their achievement scores. I really felt as though I learned a lot. We shared important conversations and learning with each weekly meeting and every day visits. Email was used at home when we planned or needed to vent. The communication we shared really kept it all together.

### **10.** In what capacity did the coach contribute to your professional development?

The coach helped me learn about balanced literacy, phonemic awareness and data-driven instruction. I didn't realize how much I needed to learn. I have been teaching kindergarten for years but never looked as analytically at my children as I did this year. I learned their levels of phonemic awareness and worked them through the continuum. I have more students reading this year than ever.

I am a firm believer in professional development but this year was different. I really deepened my practice. The professional learning before, during and after school was so powerful. The hands-on learning with content that was appropriate to our needs. To our kids need. That was deep. I read articles I would have never found or picked up. I used assessment tools that I never would have thought to be practical. I am inspired to continue to learn after this time together. I am inspired to be a stronger mentor to my colleagues. I need the time to do it though.

### 11. How did the literacy coach impact your knowledge of data-driven instruction?

Anytime you attend a workshop and get new information it is a great experience. Yet, you can sit there and think that this is good stuff and like it, but then you leave and it gets left behind. You may think it was important but you don't have time to implement it. Workshops in data-driven instruction taught me a great deal but it was my time spent implementing it through the help of my coach that made it a true learning experience. The time together this past year was means for professional growth in the area of data-driven instruction. It was professional growth in early literacy and classroom planning.

# 12. Following the year of collaboration with the literacy coach, did you continue to practice data-driven instruction?

Yes. I expect it of myself and others now. We laugh at one another in the teachers' room and say, "data is my friend". Sure it takes time to plan and make assessment tools, collect data, analyze it and use it. Everything in education seems to have the time factor. Once you realize the value in something, though, you make a commitment to find the time. I use data every day for grouping, lesson planning, and schedule changes.

# 13. Following the year of coaching, did you continue to use the instructional strategies modeled the previous year? What were they, if any?

Do you want me to list them? Okay, well, I'll start with the fun ones. We hop sounds in words along lily pads with our frog puppet, we pass around a rhyming rat, we sing little chants like "What's cooking in the kitchen? It starts with */b/*." We draw pictures to show onset rime, we slide pennies and bingo chips to show syllabication and play rhyming bingo. All of these games represent the phonemic awareness skills we practiced last year with the coach. She would model ideas, we would jot them down and I still use them today. We also have the binder she left behind to remind us of strategies that worked. Pretty much any multisensory learning approach we can use, works for kids. The groups need to be sorted to make it worthwhile, so it isn't repetitive work on a skill already acquired.

# 14. What are your impressions of the children's performance as a result of the loss of the ongoing professional development?

What the district should be doing is recognizing that our kindergartners need the added attention every year. The kids test scores are going to be lower this year. They will be. The small groups are tough to manage without a coach. The professional conversations about students and what they need are gone. Our kids aren't getting the individualized attention they had with two teachers working hard to boost their performance. I know that I am key in keeping their scores high but it would be nice to have the extra help.

I am discouraged by the loss of the collaborative experience. Our coach shared our commitment to the work that needs done in kindergarten. It takes a village, so to speak.

# **15.** What are your impressions of your own professional performance as a result of the loss of the ongoing professional development?

I don't feel like I am growing professionally this year. I need the ongoing reflective conversations to grow. I am going to enroll in a college class next semester to experience the learning I am missing.

I am missing the times we spent talking and acknowledging our own strengths and weaknesses within the conversation. If I lacked expert ideas or background, the coach would compensate. If I needed an idea, another teacher could lend a hand. The learning was reciprocal. I miss it.

# 16. Do you wish to have the opportunity to collaborate with a literacy coach again? If so, why?

Yes. We need the time to meet with the kindergarten teaching team. We need a reading specialist in working with our kids needs. We need time and professional development to grow and become stronger. I really treasured the collaboration and learning. Yes, I wish it all back!